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Financial Summary

gy gt

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF &2 EWER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31,

BE+=A=t-HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—Z-0F ZE-N\F ZE—+tF ZT—RF —T—AaF
RMB’ 000
ARETT
Revenue WA 356,828 760,103 729,624 509,732 200,003
Gross profit EH 222,633 599,450 461,098 270,450 109,212
(Loss)/profit from operations mE (B8, wH (467,692) 150,988 172,448 (42,541)  (187,914)
(Loss)/profit before BRETISELAD
income tax (&#8),/ &F (473,754) 523,555  (873,098)  (966,744)  (299,577)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (E1]),/ &7 (494,451) 526,227  (911,138)  (934,539)  (286,420)
Total comprehensive income FAEEBRABE
for the year (453,972)  (126,385)  (919,199)  (927,373)  (282,247)
Adjusted net (loss)/profit FELHARE (BB)/
for the year a A (FEBI PR 81 75
(Non-IFRS Measure)® WMEERETE)O (494,451) 201,232 155,116 44362  (172,212)
Note: B &
(1) See “Management Discussion and Analysis — (Loss)/profit for the year and (1)  FZ2AAFERE [EEENH LD — FE

non-IFRS measure: adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year” in this annual

report.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Financial Summary

g3t

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF &G BRRE
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31,

R+t=B=+—~H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—EZ-0F ZE-N\F ZZ2—+tF ZT—RF 8%
RMB’ 000
ARETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREEE 391,714 134,616 78,627 100,832 44,319
Current assets MEEE 2,662,441 3,526,320 1,118,732 3,787,940 968,794
Total assets EELRE 3,054,155 3,660,936 1,197,359 3,888,772 1,013,113
Equity and liabilities ERRkAE
Equity attributable to the equity RRAREzRR
shareholders of the Company FE(h iR 2,914,631 3,451,521 (4,395,620) (640,081)  (182,671)
Total equity B 2,918,203 3,455,648 (4,395,620) (640,081)  (182,671)
Non-current liabilities FREEE 12,371 61 5,253,072 4,206,417 934,242
Current liabilities mEBE 123,581 205,227 339,907 322,436 261,542
Total liabilities BiEEH 135,952 205,288 5,592,979 4,528,853 1,195,784
Total equity and liabilities EmhaERRE 3,054,155 3,660,936 1,197,359 3,888,772 1,013,113

FERE 2019 | EEHIEE 3



Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

Dear

Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of BabyTree
Group (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report

of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

&g

0]

AANERXEEHER([X2RA)EFS

(EEg])  ASUBRRMAZBRARAR
HEHBAR (A& BE_F—NLF+

A+ ALFEZFERS -
TEREHE

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+—HLEFE

Year on year
change (%)

2019 2018 e
—E-hE —EN\E 28)(%)

(in millions)

(ABEEE)
Average total MAUs ™ FHRERAPBHO 139.3 1441 (3.3)
- mobile apps — REERARER 24.5 22.7 7.9
- PC and WAP —PCi# K WAP i 114.8 121.4 (5.4)
Average retention rate @ FHBEXRe 64 62 21

Notes: MisE -

(1) “MAU” is the acronym for “monthly active user,” calculated by counting the (1) [AEREE WS RBTEABERFE AR
number of active users during the calendar month in question. The number ERAPHNEENRASE c BB ERETH
of MAUs of our mobile apps is tracked and calculated by Umeng (& &), 5§ RAFPYERABE (R AZTARKESE
a third-party data tracking service provided by Beijing Ruixunlingtong NAIRENE=FHEEURE) B &t
Technology Co., Ltd (At REEAEBEHEBRAF]). The number of our *;"_ HIFIHPCHAMWAPE B EBAEHEH
PC and WAP MAUs is tracked and calculated by us internally, using the RPALEREFEAABZE DRz 80—
number of unique cookies (a commonly used tracking code) recorded by B A 4 A8 B B8 2R sC R MY B8 B cookies (—REE A
the Internet browsers that access such website at least once during the BEHARE) NS EEM RETE -
calendar month.

) “Retention rate” refers to the percentage of active users on Babytree (2) [BEXR X —ESTANSEHES E’],EE%FH
Parenting in a specific month that remained active users in the next month. PRT—AMMAZREEPHNBESL - [ 15
“Average retention rate” refers to the arithmetic average of the retention BEXR |{E—EhE2@EAMNERER E’gﬁﬁql
rates for the months in the year. {E -

(3) Represents the difference between the average retention rate in 2019 and  (3) KRR-ZE—NFFHEEFXRE_-_T— \FFH
the average retention rate in 2018. BRIz 7 E(F o

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019



Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

EFEMBHE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

Year on year
change (%)

2019 2018 [[IEL
—E-hE —E-N\F 25 (%)
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Revenue N 356,828 760,103 (53.1)
— Advertising —BE 320,040 596,215 (46.3)
— E-commerce — &5 22,214 135,301 (83.6)
_ Direct sales — B8 13,967 69,820 (80.0)
- Marketplace —F& 8,247 65,481 (87.4)
- Content monetization — ANFBAE 14,574 28,587 (49.0)
Gross profit EF 222,633 599,450 (62.9)
Gross margin EF= 62.4% 78.9% (16.5)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B18)&5F (494,451) 526,277 N/A
Adjusted net (loss)/profit FELHAREE (BE),/wfo
for the year (FEBIBR BTSSR E XERIFT =)
(non-IFRS measure) (494,451) 201,232 N/A

Note:

Q)

We define “adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year” as (loss)/profit for the
year adjusted by removing the effect of both fair value change of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and listing expenses, net of tax,
which is non-recurring in nature.

(1)

HMSFELRAES (BR) &M EER
WHRAAARBEFAELEHFTAZHERTD
ERAEENAAEEEY RIFLEMHEN L
MRX (HMEBEHRER) OFEREAERNFE (B
B,/ mA e

FERE 2019 | EEHEER
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

With our efforts over the past 12 years, we have established our
leading position as one of the largest and most active Maternity
and Child (‘“M&C”)-focused online community platforms in China
by MAU in 2019. We undertook a number of initiatives to fuel the
continual growth of our business amid a slowdown in the Chinese
economy and heightened geopolitical uncertainty in 2019. Under
the leadership of our visionary and seasoned management team,
we will further expand our business and conquer challenges of any
nature with confidence and dedication in 2020. Set out below are
the highlights of our business in 2019 and our outlook for the year
ahead.

User Traffic Leader

As a result of the slight slowdown of the birth rate in China,
demand for M&C related contents mildly decreased and our
average total MAUs inevitably experienced a slight decrease
from 144.1 million in 2018 to 139.3 million in 2019.
of the increasing popularity and development of the mobile

In view

Internet industry, as well as the user data we accumulated
on mobile apps, we continued to put emphasis on our major
mobile apps by optimizing their functions and enhancing user
experience and stickiness with a view to strategically driving
user traffic to our mobile apps. As a result, our average
total MAUs on PC decreased from 55.5 million in 2018 to
51.1 million in 2019, and our average total MAUs on WAP
decreased from 65.9 million in 2018 to 63.7 million in 2019.
Our PC and WAP platforms serve as important sources of
user traffic for our mobile apps. We strive to further strengthen
the content construction for our PC and WAP platforms, and
promote user awareness and brand influence. Accordingly,
our average total MAUs on mobile apps increased by 7.9%
from 22.7 million in 2018 to 24.5 million in 2019. Average
MAUs for Babytree Parenting app reached 18.9 million in
2019,
2018.

representing a growth of 2.7% from 18.4 million in

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

i

User Traffic Leader (Continued)

Product optimization and innovation

In 2019, we implemented a series of optimization and
upgradation over Babytree Parenting, to address users’ needs
for problems solving, social sharing of emotions and user
interaction. The comprehensive optimization and upgradation
cover several aspects, including but not limited to content
posting and distribution, user interaction and feedbacks.
We will continuously empower our content providers with
a healthy platform and ecosystem, enabling them to share
contents in various forms including articles and graphics,
short-videos and live streaming.

With a view to enriching our product portfolio and offering
better services to our users, we have created various
innovative products, such as Littletree Robot. It is designed to
provide family users with multiple functions including Al voice
Q&A service which offers quick and accurate answers to M&C
related questions, playing music, providing early-education
courses, recording and other family scenarios services.

We believe such initiatives will provide our users with more
diversified contents and products, which allow us to further
extend user-lifecycle and cover more children aged zero to six
and young families in China.

EBEERRE (&)

RERBERE (&)

EmEt RalH

—E-NEF BMNUBEEHREET
RONBRTFA - AmE AP ERRE
2 BRAEFAZMAFEH T ENS
Ko 2EMELCRFTRARESETE -
BREETRRATEMGRER - AFE
PhRE - BRABEESANTRIEER
HRENFERERRS  EHERIN
BEREAREARR  BREXENER -
RRENRRER -

REERMNEREAL SAPRMHE
HEVRTS - BPIRESBAIFER
MR A - ZAEBAEERKE
RPRHZEDE - BRAIBZEREER
1 RIS AR AR YERE 3 () B} 224
R HBRE%E  REFHHERE -
BEMEAMKES R R -

BREEZEFRERA/RMNAFREM
EMETANARTRER - {EMmEHM
REHE—FERAPAmBEY  UEBE
FL2ZEERAENFERE -

FEHE 2019 | HEHKE
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

1. User Traffic Leader (Continued)

From “Mobile app-focused user traffic” to “Holistic

approach to user traffic”

Moreover, we took a holistic approach in further boosting
our user traffic. In addition to maintaining a steady growth
in user traffic on our mobile apps, we also actively explored
other promising platforms in order to promote our brand and

products efficiently.

Regarding our “Outbound Traffic” (YN 7% £ 4E6E), we worked
with Alipay to develop a parenting channel to offer customized
products to users and established a vital strategic cooperation
for offering solutions in the M&C industry. Furthermore, we
continued to refine our WeChat ecosystem by launching more
mini-programs and WeChat chatting groups. We also actively
expanded our reach into other platforms to further enhance
our MAU performance. Our average MAUs for mini-programs

reached 10.7 million in 2019.

Furthermore, we stimulated user traffic through short-videos
and live streaming. We cooperated with certain mainstream
platforms including Douyin and Xiaohongshu (/N4IE) to
offer quality content and services to our users and further
promote our brand. As of the date of this statement, we have
4.1 million’, 1.9 million and 1.5 million followers on Douyin,
Weibo and Wechat, respectively. Moreover, our Douyin official
accounts recorded over 25.6 million views since January

2020.

1 Include followers of our official accounts and followers of the KOLs we

cooperated with.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

User Traffic Leader (Continued)

User life cycle extension

Aiming to further extend user lifecycle and enrich our early-
childhood education contents collection, we launched the
“Future Growth of Forest Project” (RRFFRMAFEHE]) in
early March 2020. The project will offer an early childhood
education and training system through interactive mini-games
in the form of videos or audios. We will design a systematic
and scientific early childhood education curriculum for children
aged zero to three, covering several core aspects during
early childhood development, such as language development,
sports skills, emotions control as well as moral and behavior
cultivation.

Furthermore, we collaborated with third-party education
institutions and launched online courses on our WeChat
official account “Qingya Good Courses” (B 4f#r) in early
March 2020. Looking ahead, we will continue to establish and
refine our online education system.

We believe it is beneficial to the Group’s future development
to seek strategic cooperation with other mainstream online
platforms to further enhance our user traffic and reach a broad
spectrum of users. Looking ahead in 2020, we will continue to
actively and strategically looking for other promising platforms
or brands whose products, contents and services can
supplement our own for potential cooperation. We believe the
strategic cooperation will further broaden our user reach and
enhance our monetization capability.

RBEOBERRE (&)
AFREANE (K
AP £ RERT &
R — SRS £ 3 Y A

WYRERHBEARR - ﬁzﬂ’ﬁ#_a_y
FZRAVEL T RERMK RS -
ZaT B BB AR F SR N E gk
RERRHN ZRHHENEIIEER -
BPIBARTE=ZRNRERS —ERH
MRB2ESFHHRFHRHRERE - &
EPRBERBEPHNEEZLEE - F
WMESER  EPREE - BEESINUEK
MATIEE °

BAN - BAEE=FTHRERBEAE L
R-_E_TE=-AVERMANMEL
R BHFFR| EHEERERE - K
K BRMSEEZIS TER LHER
Z o

ﬁiﬁifﬁ{? CBREHEMERR TR

A E—PRARMVBRRER
%ﬁﬁg/zﬁ’\]ﬁﬁ)f'ﬂ$§%lﬁ’ﬂik7ﬁéﬁ
Bm - RE_Z_ZTF RMSHEER
BN EES M SR EM - AE RIRE A
HEMBEFELHANEMEENOT
ARmMBETAE - RIBE  BES
ERE - TRBRABRMOALPEELRS
HPIWEREN -
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Most Trusted Brand in the M&C Industry

With our 12 years’ journey of venture, we have established
a leading position in the M&C industry in China and the
Asia Pacific region. According to the 2019 China Internet
M&C Industry Research Report issued by an independent
research institution, Big-Data Research (i), in March
2019, among all major M&C online platforms, Babytree
Parenting was the most popular platform in terms of number
of registered users and achieved the highest score in user
satisfaction among post-90s mothers.

In 2019, we have made various constructive and forward-
looking initiatives for the benefits of social welfare and
promoting the diversity of the M&C industry. For example,
in November 2019, as an industry leader, we issued M&C
industry white papers jointly with other reputable brands,
which enhanced our credibility in the M&C industry. We
successfully held “Golden Tree Awards”, which was
participated by mainstream brands in the M&C industry, M&C
content providers, celebrities and non-profit organizations.
We awarded industry peers, corporations, public figures and
individuals who have made outstanding contributions to the
M&C industry to express our sincere gratitude to them.

Deliver a positive and warm brand image through
organizing community activities

In 2019, we organized various themed community activities to
encourage user stickiness and participation. We successfully
launched “Mother’s Power” (E}#i#)J=) which echoed with
Mother’s Day in May 2019. With the combined effect of the
“group chat” function, “Mother’s Power” attracted more than
10,000 chats and 147,000 participants to discuss the topic
from multi-dimensions. In addition, we have been exploring
opportunities to organize more offline activities to create
synergies from both online and offline resources. For example,
in March 2019, we co-held a paired reading contest with
certain early education authorities in Shanghai. We invited
users, KOLs and experts to participate in the contest with an
aim to encourage paired reading.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Most Trusted Brand in the M&C Industry (Continued)

Strong and immediate support to the society in tough
times

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, we have been
making great efforts in coordinating resources, spreading
coronavirus prevention messages and providing protective
gears to people in need. We also actively cooperated with
Fosun to organize projects and donated over RMB8.0 million
worth of commodities in need to support Hubei and other
regions together with our advertising clients including Yashili,
Kraft Heinz, Kangaroo mommy, D-CAL, Purcotton and
Ausnutria.

Looking ahead, we believe user traffic and brand influence
are the fundamental factors in achieving success in the M&C
industry. As a recognized industry leader with high user
traffic and brand value, we will continuously make unremitting
contributions to our society and enhance our brand influence
in the long run through organizing various online and offline
activities.

(¥XOERESE (&)
2. BETYSESCENDE (&)

R AT GRMERE N RE
X5
BE_Z_TFYNERTAUTRESEE
AR BM—EEZNBAER - F5&
BRESEHEELRBERTEATRH
Pyt - RMMEREEE S EER
HE  THBEMOESEP (BERL
M REFK - REGG - @5 - 213
RRRRE) HABRHEEEBBARE
BOBELWEFEMEZFMNILK
HAebi[@ o

REARR  HARERPREMRE R
EHNBETERERYNELARER -
EREESRPRENREEEN AR
TRESE  HMKABERSER L
RGETES  TEHREMANLEHELT
WMER  tREREEHEREMN®
MEEN -
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

3. Content Upgradation
We made significant content improvements and upgradation
in 2019. With a view to establishing a comprehensive
ecosystem for content generation and leveraging both internal
and external resources, we have implemented the following

strategies:

KOLs? and KOCs® stimulate user traffic and enhance

monetization capabilities

Cultivating internal KOLs and KOCs. On December 18, 2019,
we launched the “Spring Breeze” project, which supports
and incentivizes the content providers by providing monetary
rewards based on stimulated user traffic. Such approach
effectively enhanced user traffic and improved the quality of
contents. Leveraging our reputation in the M&C industry and
benefiting from our high user traffic, we see ourselves in an
advantageous position in cultivating KOLs and KOCs in a

cost-effective way.

With the launch of the Spring Breeze project, the number
of content providers exceeded 159,000, including 21,100
promising KOCs and KOLs, and the production volume of
high-quality contents reached approximately 422,000 as of
February 29, 2020. As of February 29, 2020, we incentivized a
considerable number of KOCs for their high-quality contents,

the total number of exposures of which reached a billion.

2 Acronym for “key opinion leaders,” the users of an Internet product who
are accepted or trusted by other users of the Internet product and can

significantly influence their decisions.

8 Acronym for “key opinion customers”, customers who have strong
influence to other customers. Compared to KOL, KOC has closer
relationships with ordinary customers and plays an essential role in the

customer lifecycle.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Content Upgradation (Continued)

KOLs? and KOCs® stimulate user traffic and enhance
monetization capabilities (Continued)

High-quality contents improves the retention rate of content
consumers and boosts content-based user interaction.
We believe such co-winning project will encourage content
providers to continuously offer high-quality works. It also
enables us to precisely and effectively cultivate more content
providers to become potential KOCs and further evolve into
KOLs in the M&C field, which will enhance our monetization
capabilities in the long run.

Introducing and featuring external KOLs. Through massive
data algorithm and professional agencies, we identified and
cooperated with suitable M&C related KOLs who are capable
of providing high-quality contents. The external KOLs offered
high-quality M&C related content through methods such as
short videos and live streaming.

For instance, we cooperated with a popular top-tier KOL, “My
Handsome Dad” (F&#8AM), who has more than 2.5 million
followers on Douyin to convey M&C related knowledge on
the platform. With our joint efforts in content creation and
promotion, a short-video posted by My Handsome Dad on
Douyin in February 2020 has gone viral, and successfully
achieved over 10 million views and attracted more than
100,000 new followers within seven days. In 2020, we will
continue to screen and invite external KOLs for cooperation to
create synergy and more monetization opportunities.

As a multi-channel network, we have empowered quality
contents with high user traffic in a closed-loop. We aim to
perfect our monetization channels and further enhance our
monetization capabilities through cultivating KOLs and KOCs
who possess expertise in the M&C field.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

4.

Monetization and Revenue Diversification

Advertising

In 2019, despite our relentless efforts in actively exploring
new advertising clients and new cooperation, revenue from
advertising business decreased by 46.3% compared to 2018.
The decrease was primarily because of the continued decline
of macro-economic environment in China and the geopolitical
uncertainty. Advertising placement with major clients
decreased as budgets of our major advertising clients further
tightened and the competition of the advertising business
became increasingly intense.

In response to the decline in the overall macro-economic
environment in China and the geopolitical uncertainty, we
implemented the following strategies for our advertising
business:

Expanding client base. In addition to maintaining a
stable relationship with our existing clients, we actively
explored new advertising clients with a focus on the
domestic markets. During 2019, we have established close
cooperative relationships with various domestic infant formula
manufacturers. We started cooperation with over 120 new
advertising brands and the total newly-added placements
from domestic advertising clients exceeded RMB60 million.
Advertising revenue from clients in the M&C related industries
accounted for approximately 31% of our advertising revenue
in 2019. In an effort to expand our client base, we actively
explored new clients in the M&C related industries, such as
healthcare, cosmetics, education and automobile to cover all
family scenarios. Looking forward, we aspire to be a more
influential brand in the M&C related industries by offering
solutions to all family scenarios and expanding our client base.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Monetization and Revenue Diversification (Continued)
Advertising (Continued)

Diversifying advertising methods. We actively introduced new
advertising methods, including IP construction, short videos
and live streaming, to cater to the popular industry trend.
For instance, our self-owned IP, “Research Program”, which
provides advertising services in the form of title sponsorship
and placement marketing. The Research Program aims to
deliver parenting knowledge to targeted users and further
enhance user stickiness through providing articles endorsed
by experts which commented on various M&C brands and
products. We have established deep cooperation with 14
reputable brands in the M&C industry in 2019, including
brands such as Abbott, Aptamil and Nestlé, providing content
covering wide-ranging healthcare knowledge for infants.

High-quality online channels backed by KOL & KOC. We are
devoted to fully utilizing and consolidating high-quality online
channels to promote brand awareness and reputation. For
instance, we launched “Treasure Hunting” (2EK=E) program
with Tmall, and jointly held various live streaming sessions
by reputable KOLs on Tmall to share parenting knowledge.
The program has successfully identified and promoted
various M&C brands, such as Maeil, a renowned Korean
dairy products manufacturer. Furthermore, we invite KOLs
to share and recommend quality products on our new retail
platform, as well as to interact with our users. We believe
such initiatives could accelerate the decision-making process

of consumers and achieve closed-loop marketing.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

4.

Monetization and Revenue Diversification (Continued)
E-commerce

In 2019, we further strengthened our cooperation with Alibaba
to enhance and optimize the user experience of our integrated
system.

In the first half 2019, version 2.0 of the integrated e-commerce
system was launched. Leveraging the massive data collected
through Babytree and Tmall platforms, the system is able
to intelligently recommend products to users based on their
ages and purchase habits. However, the performance of our
e-commerce business did not meet our expectation. Both
conversion rate and volume of views of our e-commerce
platform decreased due to the change of purchasing
processes, and we expect that more efforts and time are
required for user education.

During the second half of 2019, we continued to optimize our
products and marketing strategies. We offered incentives to
users such as cashback rewards and carried out manifold
marketing activities. For example, we established personalized
marketing IPs jointly with Tmall, such as “Novice Mom” and
“Mom Fashion”, to meet the needs of mothers during and
after pregnancy. We believe the initiatives could drive the
demand for M&C related products.

Further diversification of our product-oriented marketing
channels. We also plan to further deepen our cooperation
with Alibaba by jointly developing new products and launching
version 3.0 of the integrated system where the “shopping
guide mode” will be introduced to facilitate online shopping by
users.

Continuously refine and upgrade our external marketing
platforms. We will design and tailor marketing strategies
based on the features of the platforms, including Tmall,
WeChat, Douyin and Toutiao to enhance monetization
efficiency. For example, we will introduce more VIP products
and cashbacks on our e-commerce platform and present
more exclusive overseas products. We will also invite KOCs to
promote products through holding live streaming sessions on
our external marketing platforms.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Monetization and Revenue Diversification (Continued)
E-commerce (Continued)

Perfect our existing supply chain management. We have
embarked on our strategic cooperation with Tokyo MX (&
RHE#EIRE), a leading television channel in Tokyo, Japan.
We aim to leverage our respective expertise and competitive
advantages to introduce quality made-in-Japan products on
various e-commerce platforms.

In addition, leveraging our high user traffic and technological
capabilities, we will continue our in-depth analysis of massive
user data to identify potential niche markets and provide
customers with individualized products and services. We are
also devoted to consolidating quality external and internal
resources to further optimize our “Customer to Manufacturer”
business model.

Content monetization

We have been putting continuing efforts in further enriching
our content portfolio and broadening the scope of content
offered in 2019. We also deployed the strategy of cooperating
with reputable online platforms for our content monetization
business. On one hand, we faced increasingly intense
competition in our content monetization business in 2019 as
there were more market entrants whose business models are
similar to us. On the other hand, user demand for new-born
babies related courses mildly decreased. In response to such
impacts, we focused on enriching our course collection and
actively cultivating customer purchasing habits in the second
half of 2019.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Monetization and Revenue Diversification (Continued)
Content monetization (Continued)

To sharpen our competitive edge, we introduced over 200
new M&C related courses, including featured courses and
self-developed courses, at a price ranging from RMB9.9 to
RMB199 each. Our course collection offers an integrative
curriculum which serves the long-term needs of parents.
Areas covered range from pregnancy preparation, early
stage of pregnancy, baby feeding and sleeping, baby food
nutrition to online early education. Currently, all courses are
labeled to facilitate subsequent intelligent recommendations
corresponding to babies’ ages. We expect to regain and
further enlarge our market share through introducing more
high-quality and market-oriented courses for users.

In 2020, we plan to focus on offering audio books to deliver
parenting knowledge, enabling young parents with hectic
schedules to fully utilize fragmented time. In early February
2020, we launched 100 audio books priced at RMB4.99 each.
Such audio books primarily focus on the needs of young
families who are experiencing a later stage of pregnancy and
having babies aged one to two. We plan to introduce 300
more audio books focusing on parenting and female related
knowledge to satisfy the diverse needs of our users and
further extend our user base.

Furthermore, our content monetization business has
transformed from merely offering self-generated contents to
providing an integrated platform for a wealth of contents.
Such transformation could further enrich our content portfolio
and address the needs of users of pursuing knowledge in a
diverse set of areas. We embarked on our cooperation with
Dragonfly FM (35#LFM), Tmall Genie (X #5%) and Ximalaya
(EEHALHE) and have introduced the first batch of contents.
Meanwhile, we will deliver our content products through
WeChat ecosystem and explore opportunities to further
expand our channels of content monetization.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019

EBEERRE (&)

BFEKAZ T (F)

MBS E ()

RILBRBEMOBE N - RMELBER
200E R LEBMFTRE - RIEFER
BANERRE  BEENFTARKIIT
ZEARMA1997T - LI RIE R PR MH
RAEMHNRE  IRREREROERAF
Ko REMNBENZFEH B2V
B BREEHEAR - ZRREEEE
BERBHE - E81 - IAERBEHER
Flbnfs UBEBHETHEETFIRAL
ERMEREHE  RMF2BRBRAEAPRE
HEZEEE  UMEEERNRE
BHESIE—PRATISMNEE -

\
Q

A

ToZTF - B EREREHREA
BREERME  EREEICHF
REHFEDNAER KRB - R =
TE_A - RFEHL100F A2
= GEMREER/AR®K4.99T - ZF
ERETEFINMELEERZRAR
EIMmBERNFERENTR - &
o5 8 B HB00MEENE 2 Lt
HENBNERE  UnEAPNET
femRRE-—FEREMOBPE

B

2
[1 % o ||
I

b

BESN - AT AR B X I E R M
BRARENSRHEETATNEGESF
c ZERNE-—FLERMNARA
& Ym e R PR R B S B
MR o TIFAIA RIS SEFM ~ RIHHE
BREBUEAE UHELERLAR -
R - B BBMELERRRERA
BEm  AFFE—FBRBAFIAEN
BREMKSE -

o



Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

5. Optimization of Personnel Structure

We believe employees are the heart and guts of a company
and our personnel are valuable assets to the Group. In order
to implement our development strategies more effectively, we
optimized the personnel structure by introducing more high-
quality talents and assembling more specialized business
teams in 2019. We upgraded and regrouped internal talents
to assemble two new strategic business teams specializing
in business strategy and KOL management. We believe such
teams will fully empower our three main monetization models
with their solid industry experience in user traffic stimulation

and content upgradation.

6. Robust Financial Resources

We believe that as a leader in the M&C industry with robust
financial resources generated from our business operations
and empowered by our strategic partners, we are able to
leverage our industry leadership, reputable brand name, user
platforms and capital to achieve synergistic effects in the

industry.

Through continuous efforts in industry consolidation and
implementing our globalization strategy, we aim to establish
a M&C ecosystem and offer better products, contents and

services to users.

Looking ahead, as the industry leader, we will continue to
consolidate industry resources and pay close attention to
new industry trend so as to fully utilize our own as well as our
shareholders’ advantages to cultivate and roll out innovative

M&C new brands and enhance our brand value.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHES

CONCLUSION

We witnessed both opportunities and challenges in 2019 and
continued to maintain a leading position in terms of user traffic
and brand influence. We encountered difficulties and challenges in
monetization in the face of macro and micro environmental factors.
Opportunities lie in the middle of difficulty. With our determination
as well as solid foundation, we will continue to engineer for success
and strive for great accomplishments.

Throughout our 12-year journey of venture, we have been a leading
brand in the M&C industry. The trust gained from our users over the
years allows us to maintain stable and high user traffic and further
enhance our revenue-generating capability. The high user traffic
allows us to monetize through advertising, e-commerce and content
monetization. We will strive to upgrade our monetization capabilities
of these three major businesses, and continuously launch new
products to implement extend our user life cycle. Meanwhile, we will
continue to build brand trust from M&C users and young families
in China, enhance our brand value and solidify our industry leading
position.

In 2020, leveraging on our high user traffic, we will continue to
optimize our existing products, innovate new products and extend
our user lifecycle in order to provide scientific and considerate one-
stop services and create a parenting ecosystem for young families.

We maintain strong connection and stable relationship with our
significant shareholders as well as business partners, including
Fosun, Alibaba and TAL. We developed in-depth cooperative
relationships in a diverse set of areas such as e-commerce,
advertising and healthcare. We strive to further deepen our
cooperation in a wider scope of areas including business operations
and strategic investments. Furthermore, we will further strengthen
our relationships with Tokyo MX as well as other investees to
achieve win-win deals.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHES

CONCLUSION (Continued)

We have significant and robust financial resources. We have over
RMB2 billion of cash and other liquid financial resources as of
December 31, 2019 comprising (i) cash and cash equivalents
including cash on hand, cash at bank and deposits with banks and
(i) short-term wealth management products purchased by us. Our
stable financial conditions enable us to make strategic decisions
with great flexibility and strong leveraging power.

“To empower young families to enjoy the beautiful journey of life”
has been our mission since the commencement of our business
and remains unchanged throughout the years. Guided by our
mission, with relentless pursuits for products innovation, revenue
improvements, talent and organization upgrades and global
expansion, we aim to create value to our users and our investors.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of everyone at BabyTree Group, | would like to express
our sincere gratitude to all of our users. | would also like to thank
all our employees and management team for demonstrating
BabyTree’'s core values in every day’s work, and executing the
Group’s strategy with professionalism, integrity and dedication.
| am also thankful for the continued support and trust from
our Shareholders and stakeholders. We will strive to provide
consolidated high-quality services and products to better serve
various needs of young families.

WANG Huainan
Chairman

Hong Kong
March 30, 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B ERTwmE DT

Year ended December 31,

BEZt-A=+—RHLEE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Revenue PN 356,828 760,103
Cost of revenue EEAB%N (134,195) (160,653)
Gross profit EF 222,633 599,450
Other revenue E g A 20,898 20,484
Other net loss H B 1858 (20,471) (4,741)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAX (297,846) (179,905)
General and administration expenses —RERITE X (281,465) (159,066)
Research and development expenses R (111,441) (125,234)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (FR),BR (467,692) 150,988
Net finance income & W SRR 32,230 10,369
Fair value change of financial liabilities at AR EEEBZES:TAEH
fair value through profit or loss BExleRaEinEEE - 365,610
Fair value changes on investments measured AR EE =B E8)T AEH
at fair value through profit or loss B EN AR EEEE (25,880) =
Share of loss of associates FE(G B X R ES 18 (12,412) (3,412)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATERLAT (B]) RR (473,754) 523,555
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisfi (AX%),/#H&& (20,697) 2,672
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (F8) %8R (494,451) 526,227
Attributable to: BER :
Equity shareholders of the Company RN A RERARER (493,896) 526,300
Non-controlling interests FEVE S R (555) (73)
Non-IFRS Measure FEEBR B TS R HEAIGT &
Adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year FELHAEF (BB),mF0 (494,451) 201,232

Notes:

(1) We define “adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year” as (loss)/profit for the (1)
year adjusted by removing the effect of both fair value change of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and listing expenses, net of tax,

which is non-recurring in nature.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B ERTwmE D

REVENUE

Our total revenue decreased by 53.1% to RMB356.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, compared to RMB760.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a decrease in
revenue from advertising, e-commerce and content monetization as
a result of (i) reduced budgets from major advertising clients due to
the decline in the macro-economic environment in China and the
geopolitical uncertainty, (i) the more technically complicated than
expected e-commerce system development, and (iii) the increasingly
intense competition for our content monetization business as there
were more market entrants whose business models are similar to
us. The following table sets forth our revenue by segment for the
years indicated:

WA

HRBZE=ZZ—-NF+ZA=+T—HILEFE
MBI AARE760.1HE T HAREE
ZE-NF+ZA=+—HLEFEMRKA
BML53.1%E ARKE356.8B8T ' TEH
RESWA - Bl A R &S E R AR
D MR FEW AR AR B R() R B R
RETEBRMEBATHEEAZEHETER
ERFHREE - (I ERERLMAENRME
HIEESREE  R(i)BRERPEKE
NEAMTSEAEESERRMAOBHGTE
¥BHEABHNNEF - TREIINAR
FERDHEDHIWA -

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=t—HLFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —FN\F

% of total % of total
Amount revenue Amount revenue
EEEL PN [EREL N
o] WEZ L k| B

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥T T ARETFTT
Advertising B&E 320,040 89.7% 596,215 78.4%
E-commerce Bl 22,214 6.2% 135,301 17.8%
- Direct sales — B 13,967 3.9% 69,820 9.2%
— Marketplace =325 8,247 2.3% 65,481 8.6%
Content monetization VA= 14,574 4.1% 28,587 3.8%
Total HEt 356,828 100% 760,103 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB mR AT

REVENUE (Continued)

Advertising

Revenue from advertising business decreased by 46.3% to
RMB320.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared to RMB596.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2018, primarily due to a decrease in our advertising placement
with major clients compared to 2018 as such major clients further
tightened their budgets in the face of the decline in the macro-
economic environment in China and the geopolitical uncertainty.

E-commerce

Revenue from e-commerce business decreased by 83.6% to
RMB22.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared
to RMB135.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Our
e-commerce business did not meet our expectation primarily
because our e-commerce system development processed at a
slower pace than expected as such system development was more
technically complicated than expected. Our integrated system is
currently under further refinement and perfection and we expect
more efforts and time are required for user education.

Content Monetization

Revenue from content monetization business decreased by 49.0%
2019,
compared to RMB28.6 million for the year ended December

to RMB14.6 million for the year ended December 31,

31, 2018 primarily because we were facing increasingly intense
competition as there were more market entrants whose business
models are similar to us. Meanwhile, demand for M&C related
contents decreased as a result of the slight slowdown of birth
rate in China. Furthermore, we were in the process of strategically
transforming of our content monetization business from a content
and channel provider into an integrated content platform offering
high-quality M&C and female related knowledge contents.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019

WA ()

E&
BEEBRABRBE_ZT—\F+=A
—+—HALEFEMNARBS06.2BETHD
46. 3% EHE_FT—NF+-_A=+—H
FFEEMARBEI200.08ET NTEHR
BMEEFERFPHNESERBR-_ZE—\FH
Q'ﬁﬁ%%%E%EﬁE$HFﬁﬁ@m
BT BRMEBATHRERZNTE T iE—
PKWEREH -

Eg5|
EREXEFRAEREBE=_E—N\F+=A
=T+ —HEFEMNAR¥BI5.3BETHRD
83.6%EHE_T—NF+_A=+—AHIL
FEMARB2 058 - RPN EEER
REEH DNEZAREFTRLFAEHRM
EHEESREN SREFIEZAFATEE
BRTEH - RMMNGEERFBEAIETEE—2
EERBE  MBEMABHARBEHEFRA
EZE N MR -

HBAE

MBNBEBWAEREZE_ZT-—N\F+=
A=+T—BLEFENARK28.6 B8 TH
DA OB EHE-_T—NE+_A=+—H
EFEMARKI4 68T HEEHNE
BMEBEAELINTISEAELS - M
B AN B E B E R S F BRI o [

B mRPEOERKRENE  HERAH
AERFBIWMD o teHd - RPEHANBNSE

EHETHEEE  RARREERAES
AR EE S BRI ARATE
ARBTFE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

B ERTwmE D

COST OF REVENUE

Our cost of revenue decreased by 16.5% to RMB134.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to RMB160.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a decrease
in cost of inventories as we scaled down our e-commerce direct
sales during the transitional period of the shift in our e-commerce
strategy.

Our cost of revenue for advertising business increased by 13.7%
from RMB91.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 to
RMB103.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily
because we introduced certain new high-cost advertising methods,
such as short videos, in an effort to attract more advertising clients
in the face of the decline in the macro-economic environment in
China.

o 3N

EERAEBBE_Z—N\F+_A=+—
HIEFENARK160.7TESE TR 16.5%
EHE_ZT-NAF+_A=T—HLEFER
ARM1B42BE T DEEHRHMES
BEEARSEARERERHEHRE M
BEFEXARRED

BEEBNEERABEBEEZE T —N\F+=
A=T—RLEFENARKII.2BETIL N
13.7% 28 =T —NhF+=-_A=+—HL
FEMARK103.7E8T DNEEZAREK
MHELREESEETHINEKRAES I -
EERFBEZBLERTE T BENERLT R
EERERP

The following table sets forth our cost of revenue by segment for T & & %I R FT /R B 3% 2 202 2 #) & 2 AR
the periods indicated: PN
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
% of total % of total
cost of cost of
Amount revenue Amount revenue
e HREE
THE HEAWEIL e KANBESL
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Advertising B&E 103,665 77.2% 91,150 56.7%
E-commerce ] 28,190 21.0% 67,069 41.7%
Content monetization BB 2,340 1.8% 2,434 1.5%
Total st 134,195 100% 160,653 100%
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit decreased by 62.9%
to RMB222.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared to RMB599.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2018. Our gross profit margin decreased from 78.9% for the year
ended December 31, 2018 to 62.4% for the year ended December
31, 2019. The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross
profit margin by segment for the years indicated:

EMNRENZR

BREMREA BN ENEREE=_Z—
NETZA=1T—HBLEFENARK599.5
BETRAL62.9%EBE_T—NEFE+H
“+—HILEFEMARB2206EETT - &
PNEMNERBEE_T—N\E+_A=+—
HIEFEM78. 9% BRI EEHE_Z—NF+
—A=1+—HIEFEMNG2.4% o TERHIR
FIREEZDEE D EFREFZE

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-A=1+T—HLFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF

Gross Gross
Gross profit Gross profit
profit margin profit margin
EF EH = EF EFx

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARET T ARBETIT
Advertising Es 216,375 67.6% 505,065 84.7%
E-commerce 5] (5,976) (26.9%) 68,232 50.4%
Content monetization B 12,234 83.9% 26,153 91.5%
Total @t 222,633 62.4% 599,450 78.9%

OTHER REVENUE Hig A

Qur other revenue increased by 2.0% to RMB20.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, compared to RMB20.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to (i) an increase
in government grants, partially offset by (i) a decrease in short-
term investments income as we reduced our investments in wealth
management products.
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OTHER NET LOSS

Our other net loss primarily consists (i) net loss on disposal of
property, plant and equipment and (ii) net foreign exchange loss.
Qur other net loss increased by 336.2% to RMB20.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, compared to RMB4.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to an increase
in net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment as we
disposed of certain servers, computers and other equipment in

2019.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

QOur selling and marketing expenses increased by 65.5% to
RMB297.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared to RMB179.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2018, as we incurred more expenses in brand promotions
and traffic direction in order to increase our market share more
efficiently. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of
revenue increased to 83.5% for the year ended December 31, 2019
from 23.7% for the year ended December 31, 2018.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Our general and administration expenses increased by 76.9%
to RMB281.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared to RMB159.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2018, primarily due to (i) an increase in the headcount of our new
business department for business diversification, (i) an increase
in provisions for credit loss as a result of delayed payments from
certain clients, (iii) an increase in consulting fees for our strategic
acquisition projects and (iv) an increase in staff costs as we further
optimized our personnel structure to improve business. General and
administration expenses as a percentage of revenue increased to
78.9% for the year ended December 31, 2019 from 20.9% for the
year ended December 31, 2018.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses decreased by 11.0%
to RMB111.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared to RMB125.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2018, primarily due to the reduced staff costs in relation to research
and development as we optimized our technical team in 2019.
Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenue
increased to 31.2% for the year ended December 31, 2019 from
16.5% for the year ended December 31, 2018.

(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded profit from operations
of RMB151.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 while
we incurred loss from operations of RMB467.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

NET FINANCE INCOME

Our finance income primarily comprises interest income from
deposits. Our net finance income increased to RMB32.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to RMB10.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2018. Such increase was primarily
due to an increase in the interest income from bank deposits.

FAIR VALUE CHANGE OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

We did not record any fair value change of financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2019,
while we recorded a fair value gain of RMB365.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018. Such fair value gain of financial
instruments with preferred rights is a non-cash and extraordinary
item that would not recur in financial years after the listing of our
shares on the Stock Exchange, as all the preferred rights attaching
to the financial instruments were terminated upon the listing of our
shares on the Stock Exchange.
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FAIR VALUE CHANGES ON INVESTMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

We did not record any fair value change on investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss for the year ended December 31,
2018, while we recorded a fair value loss on investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss of RMB25.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

SHARE OF LOSS OF ASSOCIATES

Qur share of loss of associates increased to RMB12.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to RMB3.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2018.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

We recorded income tax credit of RMB2.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018, and recorded income tax expense of
RMB20.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily
due to the reversal of deferred tax asset in respect of temporary
differences. We estimate there will not be sufficient taxable income
in the foreseeable future to utilize the carry-forward tax losses and
deductible temporary differences.

(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded profit attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of RMB526.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, while we recorded loss attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of RMB493.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019.
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(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND NON-IFRS
MEASURE: ADJUSTED NET (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR
THE YEAR

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year ended December
31, 2019 was RMB494.5 million, compared to our profit for the
year ended December 31, 2018 of RMB526.2 million.

To supplement our consolidated financial statements which are
presented in accordance with IFRS, we also use a non-IFRS
measure, adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year, as an additional
financial measure, which is not required by, or presented in
accordance with IFRS. We believe that such non-IFRS measure
facilitates comparisons of operating performance from period to
period and company to company by eliminating potential impacts
of items that our management considers to be not indicative of our
operating performance. We believe that such measure provides
useful information to investors and others in understanding and
evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same
manner as they help our management. However, our presentation
of the adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year may not be comparable
to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use
of such non-IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider it in isolation, or as substitute for analysis
of, our results of operations or financial position as reported under
IFRS.

We define “adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year” as (loss)/profit
for the year adjusted by removing the effect of both fair value
change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
listing expenses, net of tax, which is non-recurring in nature. Our
adjusted net profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 would
be RMB201.2 million. Our adjusted net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2019 would still be RMB494.5 million as we did
not record any fair value change of financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss or listing expenses in 2019.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019

FE(BR) BARFERGK
BREEATE  FELARF (F
/)R

HREMRE  HEREE_T—N\F+=
A=+ —HLEFEMEFNARKS26.28E8
T RMREBEEZZE—hhF+=ZA=+—H
IEFERNBIBEAARKAMSEETT °

REAXTERPAREERMBRSENZ2II0E
B HRE - BHATRAFEERM RS
A 5T 30 IF BFR B 7% i &5 2E R 2SR IF IR
BT HERELENEINNEEEHEF (B
8)/ BIMERBEIMBTE - HMRA -
B IR BIFR B 5 ¥R & 2 R R 258 18 UK BR 3R A
MEEERSTHEERKEREEFENIER
MEEXE  APRLBRTRHSELRTRA
ANREES - BIRA ZFHERARE
EREMALRHETERANER  HOEF
REEPHRMNERERRN T IR R KLFF
BERMANAHEERSE - A - HAYEFEE
RREBF (B1E), 8 e 257 8 BB E A A
AZ2YMBLUERNGETREAA L - &
REREBRMBEREEANFEFERINT
EEARRYE MTITEREBERE  HUES
REERVEREENZHBNLEXEXY
BIRADIT BN -

BME I FELHRFE (BB w5 E&
ERMBAARBENEEEZHT AL HIESR
MemBBENAAEBEEYRIIELCEHEED
TR (MBRRIE) OELEECHENTF
B (EE),/ &M BE_ZT—N\F+_A
St BLEFENFELARIHNAAR
¥2012BEB L - HE-ZT—NF+=A=
T-BILEFENKARIEENDAARE
494588 T  ARAREMR=-Z—NER&
BURAAEBEFELEH T AEHESNE
BEEAABELZESN EMHAL -



Management Discussion and Analysis
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(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND NON-IFRS
MEASURE: ADJUSTED NET (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR
THE YEAR (Continued)

The following table reconciles our adjusted net (loss)/profit for
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 to the most
directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with IFRS:

FE(BB)BARFEBERGTK
HMEXDFE  FELHART (F
B) A #®)

TERBBE_ZE-NFR=ZFE-NFTA
ST—RIEFENLRARF (B1R), 6 E
REBEBRYHERELAUFERZINZER
AELBRNM B EETHE

For the year
ended December 31,

BE+T-A=1+T—HLEFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’ 000
ARETTT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8)ER (494,451) 526,227
Add: i
Fair value change of financial liabilities NAREBEEBZESTAZH
at fair value through profit or loss BEaWeRaBEAnEEE - (365,610)
Listing expenses, net of tax EHRE (HBRHRIE) - 40,615
Adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year ~ FEZRHETF (FHEB) &5R (494,451) 201,232

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our total assets decreased from RMBS3,660.9 million as of
December 31, 2018 to RMB3,054.2 million as of December 31,
2019. Our total liabilities decreased from RMB205.3 million as
of December 31, 2018 to RMB136.0 million as of December 31,
2019. Liabilities-to-assets ratio slightly decreased from 5.6% as of
December 31, 2018 to 4.5% as of December 31, 2019.

The current ratio (being the ratio of total current assets to the total
current liabilities) was 21.54 as of December 31, 2019, compared
to 17.18 as of December 31, 2018.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING

Our cash and cash equivalents including cash on hand, cash at
bank and deposits with banks, decreased from RMB2,229.9 million
as of December 31, 2018 to RMB1,422.9 million as of December
31, 2019, primarily due to a decrease in cash generated from our
business operations.

As at December 31, 2019, we did not have any outstanding

borrowings. Accordingly, no gearing ratio is presented.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditures, consisting of payments for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, are incurred mainly for office
decorations, and electronic and office equipments. Our capital
expenditures were RMB10.5 million as of December 31, 2019,
compared to RMB20.7 million as of December 31, 2018.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group entities’ functional currency. The functional
currency of the Company is USD and the functional currency of
subsidiaries operated in the PRC is Renminbi. The Group manages
its foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the
Group’s net foreign exchange and tries to minimize these exposures
through natural hedges, wherever possible, and may enter into
forward foreign exchange contracts, when necessary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019

RBES  UBERREEAEBL
%

BMOReRRCEEVREEFES - R
TReEEBTER  ABE_Z-NF+
—A=+t—HHNAR¥2,22095E LR
EHE_ZT-NF+ZA=T—HNARK
1,422 0B 8L NEZHRRMNERE
BEAMRESHOITE -

BE_T-NAF+-_A=1+—0 HMAE
ERREEEE - At - YE2JNEERE
& -

EAXX

BMNEATEBDEEEME  BERRE
MRE TEZARPAZTEMUARE T R
NEE -  BREBEEZE—N\F+_A=+—
HOWEASTHEARB207TEE L HE-ZT
—NWF+-ZA=Z+—BEMANEARAZIHABA
R¥10585&TT °

SMEE | B ' 2R

HMABRNEAEXSHCERNEERABIA
AEEERNDEERAINERE &
ELINERR - ARBEIMMEEE/ET
MEFEELHNBARNINEEERAR
%o ARBRBTEHMEMARBEINEFER
BIEHIMERK - EREBR TEBERY
HEEREZFRR  YEMDERILEH
SNER K o

HREE

BE_T-NFR-_FT-NFT-_A=t+—
B ZAPLYEERNESAKAEE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

B ERTwmE D

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
July 15, 2019, during the year ended December 31, 2019, we did
not conduct any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

We will continue to explore potential strategic investment
opportunities, with a view to consolidating resources in the industry
and supplementing our existing business.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group has no other
specific plan for major investment or acquisition for major capital
assets or other businesses.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2019, we had not pledged any of our assets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Except as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements,
the Group does not have any material subsequent event after
December 31, 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2019 (for the year ended December
31, 2018: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, June 11, 2020.
A notice convening the AGM will be published and dispatched to
the shareholders of the Company in the manner required by the
Listing Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM, the Company’s register of members will be
closed from Friday, June 5, 2020 to Thursday, June 11, 2020, both
dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of share will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company shall ensure that all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, June 4, 2020.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February
9, 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability, and the
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
November 27, 2018.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2019, we had 720 full-time employees,
substantially all of whom were based in China, primarily in Beijing
and Shanghai, with the rest based in Wuhan, Guangzhou,
Hangzhou, Xiamen and Ningbo.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate
qualified personnel. The remuneration package for our employees
generally includes salary and bonuses. We determine employee
remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and years
of experience. Employees also receive welfare benefits, including
medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury insurance and
other miscellaneous items. We make contributions to mandatory
social security funds for our employees to provide for retirement,
medical, work-related injury, maternity and unemployment benefits.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERESREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out as follows:

OUR DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Huainan (E18F), aged 54, was appointed as a
Director on February 9, 2018 and was re-designated as an
executive Director and chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
on June 11, 2018. He was also appointed as the chairman of
our Nomination Committee and a member of our Remuneration
Committee on November 27, 2018. He has been the chief
executive officer of our Group (the “Chief Executive Officer”)
since January 2007. Mr. Wang currently serves as director in a
number of companies in which our Company has equity interests,
including certain subsidiaries of our Company. Mr. Wang founded
our Group in January 2007 and has been the key driver of our
business strategies and achievements to date. Mr. Wang is
primarily responsible for strategic development, overall operation
and management and major decision-making.

Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wang had many years
of experience in the fields of marketing and administrative
management. From 1996 to 2001, he served as a brand manager
at The Procter & Gamble Company (a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: PG), where he was primarily
responsible for brand building, promotion and marketing. From
2001 to 2005, he served as a senior marketing director at Yahoo!
Inc. (a company formerly listed on NASDAQ, ticker symbol: YHOO)
and as the chief executive officer at 1pai.com.cn (—#A#3), a joined
venture established by Yahoo! Inc. and SINA Corp. From 2005 to

2006, he served as the chief marketing officer, Asia at Google LLC.

Mr. Wang was awarded as “Top Ten Marketing Figures in 2015”
by Nanfang Metropolis Daily (F7#8m*R) in December 2015,
“Entrepreneur of the Year” by iheima.com (25 49) in December
2016 and “Industry Brand Leader (T2 M2 <EE A¥)” by Asiabrand
(EEMSIEIEE) in December 2017.

Mr. Wang graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s
degree in English in July 1988. He also obtained a master’s
degree in sociology from Columbia University in October 1989 and
a master’'s degree in business administration from Georgetown
University in July 1996.
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EERESREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. XU Chong (##), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on June 11, 2018. He was also appointed as a member
of the Remuneration Committee on November 27, 2018. He joined
the Group as the chief financial officer in October 2014. Mr. Xu
currently serves as director in a number of companies in which our
Company has equity interests, including certain subsidiaries of our
Company. Mr. Xu is primarily responsible for strategic development,
financial operations management and capital operations.

Mr. Xu has more than 17 years of experience in corporate finance
and financial management. He served as a manager at BOC
International Holdings Limited from July 2001 to August 2003, the
chief financial officer at SinoMedia Holding Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0623) from June 2004
to February 2006 and a vice president of Asia region at Cazenove
Capital Management Limited from March 2006 to July 2007, where
he was primarily responsible for corporate finance. He re-joined
SinoMedia Holding Limited in July 2007 and served as the chief
financial officer until May 2010. Mr. Xu served as the chief financial
officer and vice president at Huakang Insurance Brokerage
Company Limited (ZEERERIEBRAR) from March 2011 to
July 2011. He worked as a financial advisor and then the chief
financial officer at Shanghai Zhaogangwang Information Technology
Corporation Limited (/8K E SRR ODBRAT]) from June
2012 to June 2014.

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws from Nanjing University
in July 1998 and a master’s degree in laws from Renmin University
of China in July 2001.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERESREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Qiyu (BREXTF), aged 47, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on June 11, 2018, primarily responsible for
participating in formulating the Company’s corporate and business
strategies. He has been a director of Zhongming since January
2017.

Mr. Chen joined Fosun in 1994 and currently serves as an executive
director of Fosun International and was re-designated as the Co-
CEO on February 21, 2020. He is also an executive director and
chairman of Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.
(bBEREZ (£E) RMHAERAFR) (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600196, and the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2196), a non-executive director and vice
chairman of Sinopharm Group Co., Ltd. (BZE%pR%H AR A R)
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1099), a
director of Beijing Sanyuan Foods Co., Ltd. (At R=TTRMmKEH
BRAF]) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600429), a non-executive director and chairman of
Shanghai Henlius Biotech, Inc. (L/8EEEREMEMAD BREAD
7)) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since 25 September 2019, stock code: 2696) and a co-chairman
of New Frontier Health Corporation (a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: NFH). Mr. Chen also served
as a director of Maxigen Biotech Inc. (MEAYRFKRMDERA
A]) (@ company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, stock code:
1783) from December 2015 to November 2017 and a director of
Dian Diagnostics Group Co., Ltd. GRZZ BT Bk 7D AR A R])
(a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market Board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300244) from May 2010 to
February 2019.
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OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen has been a member of the 13th Shanghai Standing
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the chairman of China Medical Pharmaceutical
Material Association (1 EI& Z¥)E#®), a vice president of China
Pharmaceutical Innovation and Research Development Association
(FPEIEE #2831 {E £ =), the honorary chairman and chief supervisor
of Shanghai Biopharmaceutical Industry Association (_E/& A&
#1724€) and the vice council chairman of Shanghai Society of
Genetics (B8 TEMEEE). Mr. Chen was a member of the 12th
Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Chen has been awarded the title of “Shanghai
Qutstanding Non-public Ownership Economist and Outstanding
Constructors of Socialism with Chinese Characteristics” and was
named as “Shanghai Outstanding Entrepreneur in 2018”.

Mr. Chen received a bachelor’'s degree in genetics from Fudan
University in July 1993 and an executive master of business
administration degree from China Europe International Business
School (FFEIEIER T 2kt) in September 2005.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERESREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WANG Changying (E &%), aged 46, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on June 11, 2018 and appointed as the vice
chairman of the Company (the “Vice Chairman”) on March 30,
2020. Mr. WANG participates in the Company’s investment plan
and formulating the Company’s corporate and business strategies.
He has been a director of Zhongming since January 2017.

Mr. Wang has been a vice president of healthcare holdings
department since May 2016, a senior assistant president since
March 2018 and the chairman of maternal infant and family group
since September 2018, at Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)
Co., Lid. (EBEEm#E (£E) AR AF]). Mr. Wang is currently a
director of Shenyang Tian An Technology Co., Ltd. (&b A Z Rl
BB AR (a company listed on The National Equities Exchange
And Quotations Co., Ltd., stock code: 834661), Shandong Taihe
Water Treatment Technologies Co., Ltd. (LLIERZEF/KERIERIFLI
BB AR]) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
since November 2019, stock code: 300801) and Jiangsu Jingang
Culture & Technology Group Co., Ltd. (L& & BISX{L R EE K
HBEMRAE]) (@ company which was delisted from The National
Equities Exchange And Quotations Co., Ltd. in April 2019, stock
code: 836707), and the chairman and legal representative of Baihe
Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (AR ELBEEBRRMDBREA
Al) (a company which was delisted from The National Equities
Exchange And Quotations Co., Ltd. in December 2019, stock code:
834214). Mr. Wang was a director of Juewei Food Co., Ltd. (4
KRR MM AR AR (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 603517) from May 8, 2017 to November 16,
2018, a director of Dongzhu Ecological Environment Protection Co.,
Ltd. CRERAEREIRIRIZD B R A A)) (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 603359, which is previously known as
Jiangsu Dongzhu Landscape Co., Ltd. (T # R k& E %D AR A 7))
from May 2012 to April 2018 and a director of Shenzhen Megmeet
Electrical Co., Ltd. (RINIEBAKEFSREMDERAF]) (@ company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002851) from
August 9, 2010 to May 8, 2019.
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EERESREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

In addition, Mr. Wang currently holds directorships in several
companies including Dianwang (Cayman) Inc. since October 2016,
Wuhan Huakang Century Cleanroom Technology Engineering Co.,
Ltd. (BUEZERELRFERIM TEHFR AR since February 2017,
Yangtuo Technology Inc. since February 2017, Stardoctor since
July 2018, Hangzhou Qinbei Technology Co., Ltd. (TR B &HEHE
fR A A]) since February 2019 and TICKLED MEDIA PTE. LTD. since
August 2019. Since September 2011, he has been the director
and general manager of Xizang Fosun Venture Capital Co., Ltd.
(AEERIREEIEARAR]). Since February 2018, he has been
the manager of Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Xingbao Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (ERBILARTEREBREEBRAERAF).
Since March 2018, he has been the effective controller and director
of Wingnou Investments Limited. Since April 2019, he has been the
general manager of Shanghai Fosun Baoye Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (E/BEERF¥IEEEEFRAF]). Since October 2019, he
has been the legal representative, executive director and general
manager of Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Yuanhong Enterprise
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (BE#ELRTBREADHEER
A RAT]).

Mr. Wang received a bachelor's degree in economic information
management from China Institute of Finance (7B @& Fx) (which
merged with University of International Business and Economics
(B ML E 5K E2) in 2000) in July 1994 and a master’s degree in
finance from Liaoning University in June 1999.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERESREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WU Ying (58), aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on January 20, 2020 and is responsible for participating in
formulating the Company’s corporate and business strategies.

Mr. Wu joined TAL in 2017, and has served various positions in
TAL. He is currently the president of Content and Internet Industry
Department in TAL. From 2008 to 2017, he served as the founder
and the chairman of the board at First Leap: Future Leaders
Institution, a company engaged in English education services and
was later acquired by TAL in 2015. From 2005 to 2008, he served
as the vice president at Lenovo Group (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 00992).

Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’'s degree in computer science from
Peking University in 1997, and his master’s degree in science from
Indiana University Bloomington in 1998. Mr. Wu was enrolled in
Harvard Business School Executive Education Program in 2008.

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN, aged 50, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on June 11, 2018, primarily responsible for
participating in formulating the Company’s corporate and business
strategies.

Mr. Reitermann joined The Ogilvy Group in Taipei in January 1997
and has been the chief executive officer (China) since August 2014
and the chief executive, Asia and greater China since May 2016.
He has also been a global client leader of WPP plc (a company
listed on the London Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: WPP, and on
NASDAQ, ticker symbol: WPP) since 2017, where he is primarily
responsible for management of global client relationships.

Mr. Reitermann received his bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from Ludwigshafen University of Applied Sciences in
January 27, 1997 in Germany.
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OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (FRE£), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on
November 27, 2018, primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to the Board.

From 1992 to 2001, Mr. Chen worked at Pingdingshan sub-branch
and Henan branch of China Construction Bank, where he was
primarily responsible for accounting and auditing. From January
2005 to August 2005, Mr. Chen worked at the finance department
of Financial Street Holdings Co., Ltd. (£ @AM AR A R)
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
000402) and the head of finance department at Financial Street
Huizhou Properties Co., Ltd. (£BEEMEZE B R A A]). From April
2008 to May 2011, Mr. Chen worked as the financial controller
at Zhongjin Gold Corporation Limited (F&&ERMHBERRAA) (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600489). Mr. Chen worked as the deputy chief accountant from
May 2011 to July 2012 and then as the chief economist from July
2012 to November 2017 at Beijing Financial Street Investment
Group Co., Ltd. (JEREFHRE (£E) BR2AA]). He also served
as assistant to the chairman and deputy general manager at
Tianrui Group Co., Ltd. (Rin&kE KK BRAF]) and chairman of
the board of Tianrui Group Finance Co., Ltd. (RInEEBEAR
FEAF]) from November 2017 to March 2018. Mr. Chen was a
non-executive director at Hengtai Securities Co., Ltd (1EZ&EH
B AR AF]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1476) from September 2012 to November 2017. From March 2019
to November 2019, Mr. Chen was an independent non-executive
director of Xiamen Overseas Chinese Electronic Co., Ltd. (&P
EEEFRMHAR2AR) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600870). From April 2018 to July 2019, Mr.
Chen was the president of Hongjing Enterprise Consulting (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. (AR (ER) BRAR]).

Mr. Chen has been an external director of Beijing Enterprises
Group Company Limited (At RIEREBIHR A F]) delegated by
Stated-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council of Beijing since December 2018, an
independent non-executive director of Hainan Jingliang Holdings
Co. Ltd. (B RRIERBRMBRAE) (2 company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000505, 200505) since
September 2019 and an independent non-executive director of
DreamEast Group Limited (2R FEBHERRAF]) (@ company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 593) since December 20,
2019. He is also currently the vice president and financial officer of
Tibet Ningsuan Technology Group Co., Ltd. (BEZEZRERBAR
~a)).
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OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen is currently an off-campus graduate advisor at Central
University of Finance and Economics (T REF4E K& Chinese
Academy of Fiscal Sciences (4 BB BEIZ2F%EF), Capital
University of Economics and Business (& #4& & A2), Beijing
Technology and Business University (It IR T AZ), China
University of Mining and Technology, Beijing (FFEIRE3AE - 1k
), Shanghai National Accounting Institute (/8% &:T2k)
and Beijing National Accounting Institute (It REIR&5H£67). He
is also an invited member of the financial committee of Western
Returned Scholars Association (EiZ£[R22), a deputy secretary of
Green Manufacturing Association of China(/h B4k @ SLEHEE), a
member of the Professional Steering Committee of Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a managing director of the
Chinese Medical Accounting Association (T Bl & & &+ E2 &),

Mr. Chen graduated from Henan College of Finance and Economics
(A E B4R E2BR) (currently known as Henan University of Finance
and Economics (] BA AL A KEE)) with a bachelor’'s degree in
accounting in December 2000 and from Zhengzhou University (ZB/H
KE) with a bachelor’s degree in finance in July 2002. He received
his master’'s degree in accounting from the Research Institute of
Fiscal Science affiliated to Ministry of Finance (BfEREPEIERFZEFT)
(currently known as Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences (B84
HBEIERTZEET)) in July 2005, his doctorate degree in accounting
from Central University of Finance and Economics (FF 5 Bf 4% K E2)
in June 2008 and conducted his postdoctoral research in applied
economics at the Research Institute of Fiscal Science affiliated to
Ministry of Finance from June 2012 to September 2014.

Mr. Chen received a certificate of “National Leading Accountant”
(2Ee:t98E A4 #EE) issued by Ministry of Finance in November
2015. He has been accredited as a certified tax agent by the
Office of Personnel of Henan Province (A& A £[2) in December
2002 and a certified public accountant by the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in April 2011.

EMNES (&)

BYFHITES (H)
REER BT RPLKRE - B BFEH
Fibt » BHEEAREZ AR TIAARE  HH
BEAB(UER) - EBERSF 2k K1
REF G 2RI EER » KITSE
XFEETREEGRARE  TEHEEH
EMBRAWER  TRIAMESAMBEER
FEZEeREBRTHBESHESEHKE
=g

RAEER_TSETFT_ARERTHIL
B (RBATEPEBERSE)  WREE
FFELEM RR-_ZEZ-_FLAEENED
MARBIRGEEHBELTEN - RR_ZFET
TFEEANGEHBRIBZHER GRBE AR
Bl BRI 2Rl Mgttt 20 - KN
ZENFRANGHRRMEREGFELE
UERZZE—ZFANAEFT—NWFLARE
HHRBEEREMETERSCESNE L%
f5e o

REER-_FT-—AF+ - ABBYRIBEE
MIEBEEFEEALTEE] - R _FTFT—
FT-RABEAEE AFERA QML
ER-_ZE——FOAETEEMETEHE
AR M EEED

FEHE 2019 | HEHKE

43



44

Directors and Senior Management

EERESREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHEN Danxia (PR &), aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairwoman of
the Remuneration Committee on November 27, 2018, primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment to
the Board.

Ms. Chen has been the chairwoman of Ousia (Guangzhou) Ind
Co., Ltd. (BMRFEEZXAR AR since April 2006. Ms. Chen
has been the general manager of cosmetics department since
January 2008 and a director since January 2016 at Guangzhou
Liby Enterprise Group Co, Ltd. (BMMACXEEEEGR A 7). She
served as the general manager from January 2009 to December
2013 and has been a chairwoman since January 2014 of Shanghai
New COGI Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (b&FaZbiamER A 7). Ms.
Chen has been the chairwoman at OUSIA AUSTRALIA PTY. LTD
since May 2009, an executive director of Tibet Ousia Trading Co.,
Ltd. (FAEURA R E AR AF]) since June 8, 2016, an executive
director of Aokang Chengpin Co., Ltd. (REEHMABRR A E]) since
September 7, 2016, a director at Kysun Investment (China)
Co., Ltd. (FLREMRK () BR2AE) since December 2016, the
chairwoman at Guangzhou Cheerwin Biotech Co., Ltd. (/&
AR AR A F]) since January 2018, a manager at Guangzhou
Superb Daily Chemical Products Co., Ltd. (EM 8@ B B{LEHE R
BIRAF]) since September 19, 2018, a general manager at AnFu
Superb Household Chemical Co., Ltd. (Z4@BEBIILAR A )
since September 25, 2018, an executive director and a general
manager at Guangzhou Cheerwin Holdings Limited (E/N&AZE#E
% AR A F]) since October 19, 2018, an executive director and a
general manager of Guangzhou Yuntuo E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (&
INERE T EEAR AR since November 14, 2018, an executive
director at Guangzhou Lechong Pet Products Co., Ltd. (/M %45
EVMAMRAERZAF]) since November 16, 2018, an executive director
and a general manager at Shanghai Runzhisu Biotech Co., Ltd. (&
B ZE4MEIRAR A F]) since November 19, 2018, an executive
director of Guangzhou Leda Auto Accessories Co., Ltd. (/%=
REBmAR AR since November 20, 2018, an executive director
and general manager of Guangzhou Tongli Commodity Co., Ltd.
(BB HBEB®RERAT) since December 20, 2018 and the
chairwoman of Guangzhou Yingshi Qizhi Technology Co., Ltd. (F&
ME KRB R AR A F]) since February 11, 2019. In addition, she
was a director at BKDR Financial Holding Group (£ glli& g% & 22 %
ABRAT]) from February 2016 to February 2018.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Ms. Chen received her master’s degree in marketing and strategic
management from the University of Sydney in October 2006.

Mr. De-chao Michael YU (&i#&#) (Dr. Yu), aged 56, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member
of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on November 27, 2018, primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to the Board. Dr.
Yu was also appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on
March 7, 2019.

Dr. Yu has been an executive director, chairman of the board,
president and chief executive officer of Innovent Biologics, Inc.
(EEAWELEE) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1801) since April 28, 2011. Dr. Yu was a director, president
and chief executive officer of Chengdu Kanghong Biotech Co. Ltd.
(AR EBEESAE MIRHE AR A ) from 2006 to 2010. Dr. Yu was the
vice president of research and development at Applied Genetic
Technology Corporation (a company subsequently listed on the
NASDAQ with ticker symbol AGTC) in 2005. Between 1997 and
2001, Dr. Yu was the vice president of Calydon, Inc. which was
later acquired by Cell Genesys, Inc. (a company subsequently listed
on the NASDAQ with ticker symbol CEGE), and worked there till
2005 following the acquisition as a principal scientist and a senior
director. He served as an independent director at PharmaBlock
Sciences (Nanjing), Inc. (FAREZEAEERMDAERZAF) (@ company
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300725) from
December 2015 to May 2018.
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In addition, Dr. Yu has been a professor and Ph.D supervisor
at Sichuan University since 2008 and an adjunct researcher at
Shanghai Institute of Pharmaceutical Research of Chinese Academy
of Sciences since 2019. Dr. Yu has also served in different
capacities in various committees and associations including the
chairman of the board of the Chinese Antibody Society (¥ A#182
&) since 2017, as a vice president of the Chinese Association
for Medicinal Biotechnology (P B8 %4 Y3111 <€) since 2019,
as a deputy director of Drug Research and Development Special
Committee of the China Pharmaceutical Innovation and Research
Development Association (FFEEEEEAIFRESEYMBEEST
BE) since 2015, as a deputy director of the National Technical
Committee on Biochemical Products and Testing Technology of the
Standardisation Administration of China (2 B4 b #gBliZ 1 ki1 &
B ) since 2007, as a member of the Special Committee of Cancer
Biotherapy of the China Anti-Cancer Association (FEEHE
fEREEYAEREELT ES) since 2012, as a deputy director of the
Committee of the Cancer Immunology and Cancer Biotherapy of
the Chinese Society for immunology (7 Bl %% E & &2 P & Ll fE R
EYPREEEZ B E) since 2016, and as a member of the Special
Committee for Precision Medicine of the China Medicinal Biotech
Association (FEIEEAEYRMTHEEEBRZEEELZEE) from 2015
to 2019.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Yu has engaged in innovative research on biopharmaceuticals
for more than 20 years, who has invented three Class | new drugs.
Dr. Yu invented the world’s first commercialized oncolytic virus-
based immunotherapeutic product, Oncorine® (recombinant
human type-5 adenovirus injection), creating a precedent for the
use of viruses to treat tumors. Dr. Yu co-invented and led the
development of China’s first monoclonal antibody-like new drug
with global intellectual property rights, Langmu® (Conbercept
eye injection) which has changed the history of zero domestically
developed medicine for Chinese patients with blindness caused by
fundus diseases. Dr. Yu also co-invented and led the development
of Tyvyt® (sintilimab injection) which was approved for marketing in
China for relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin's lymphoma (r/r
cHL) on December 24, 2018 and has been the only PD-1 inhibitor
that included in the National Reimbursement Drug List (NRDL) as in
November 2019.

Dr. Yu is an inventor of over 60 issued patents and patent
applications, and has published more than 50 SCI scientific articles
and book chapters. He has been recognized as “Top Ten Persons
in Innovation in China” (FEI+XEIFTAY) in 2014, “The E&Y
Entrepreneur Award” (ZK{E%#ZK88) in 2015 and “Distinguished
Entrepreneur of Jiangsu Province” (ILEEEHDER) in 2016,
“Person of the Year in Innovation for Science and Technology in
2016" (BIZR2016 G ERHXAIFT AY)), “2017 China Person of the
Year in Pharmaceutical Economics” (2017 F Bl 28 B2 48 7 45 [ A 4),
“The Most Influential Person of the Year in Life Science in China
in 2017” (2017 EAGRBFEKATE NN TKRKAY), and First
Prize of “The Seventh National Overseas Returnee Contributions
Awards” (Bt EH HERFRE—F ) in 2018.

Dr. Yu obtained his doctor of philosophy degree in genetics from
the Chinese Academy of Sciences (FFEIRIEFR) in May 1993 and
completed his postdoctoral training in pharmaceutical chemistry in
University of California, San Francisco.
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Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee on November
27, 2018, primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board.

From December 1991 to October 1995, Mr. Zhang worked as a
researcher at the Institute of System Science, National University
of Singapore. Mr. Zhang was a research manager at HP Labs from
October 1995 to April 1999. From April 1999 to October 2011,
Mr. Zhang served as assistant managing director of Microsoft
Research Asia, then, managing director of Microsoft Advanced
Technology Center, and the chief technology officer at Microsoft
Asia R&D Group. From November 2011 to December 2016, Mr.
Zhang served as an executive director and chief executive officer
at Kingsoft Corporation Limited (& LUEHER A E]) (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3888), and also served
as a director and the chief executive officer at Kingsoft Cloud
Holdings Limited. He has been an independent director of Digital
China Group Co., Ltd. (#MEFSEBERMD AR AR (@ company
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000034.S7) since
2017, an independent director at Huami Corporation (a company
listed on NASDAQ, ticker symbol: HMI) since February 2018 and
an independent non-executive director at AAC TECHNOLOGIES
HOLDINGS INC. (mERHEIERAERAR]) (@ company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2018) since January 1, 2019.
Since November 2018, Mr. Zhang has been the chairman of Beijing
Academy of Artificial Intelligence (1t R A T & Z W 5567).

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor of science degree from Zhengzhou
University in December 1981 and a Ph.D from Technical University
of Denmark in October 1991.

Mr. Zhang is a Fellow of the Institute of Electric and Electronic
Engineers (“IEEE”) and Association for Computing Machinery
(“ACM”"). He was the recipient of the 2012 ACM SIGMM
Qutstanding Technical Achievement Award, the 2010 IEEE
Computer Society Technical Achievement Award, and the 2008
Asian American Engineer of the Year award.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Mr. WANG Huainan (E1£5), aged 54, is also our Chief Executive
Officer. Please see the paragraph headed “Executive Director” for
his biography.

Mr. XU Chong (&%), aged 44, is also our chief financial officer.
Please see the paragraph headed “Executive Director” for his
biography.

Mr. ZHANG Heng (E1E), aged 34, has been the vice president in
charge of platform operation at BabyTree Information since October
28, 2019. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall product
operation, user management and healthcare business.

From April 2018 to May 2019, Mr. Zhang served as the vice
president at Beijing Qingsongchou Network Technology Co., Ltd.
At RERERERHEBRAF]). From May 2017 to April 2018, he
served as the chairman of the board of director at Beijing Shangyi
Zhixin Health Management Co., Ltd. (It R HEBEEEEEEERE A
Al). From March 2015 to April 2017, he served as the founder and
chief executive officer at Beijing Renren Yuedong Sports Culture
Development Co., Ltd (JtRAAZLB)EE X(LERERBRAF). From
February 2014 to February 2015, he served as a product director
at Amap (AutoNavi Holdings Limited, which was subsequently
acquired by Alibaba Group, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code:9988)). From July 2009 to February 2014,
he served as a senior manager at Tencent (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0700).

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in science from University
of Electronic Science and Technology of China (B F&HAZ) in
2009. He obtained his in-service graduate certificate from Central
University of Finance and Economics (/7 % 84 &8 K &) in 2011,

Mr. XIE Boyang (##7¥), aged 35, joined our Group in June
2017 and served as director of finance at Zhongming. Since
November 2019, Mr. Xie has served as the vice president of finance
department and is in charge of the overall capital management and
financial budget of the Group.
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From September 2016 to June 2017, Mr. Xie served as the vice
director of finance department at Leshi Holding (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(LB pg (463 ) AR A A]). From October 2015 to September
2016, he served as the senior director of finance at Beijing Ujipin
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (At REERBPEFEBAR A A).
From March 2010 to September 2015, he served as the director
of finance at DX.com Limited Holdings (currently known as Sino
Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8086). From August 2007 to February 2010,
he was a senior auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Xie obtained his bachelor’'s degree in finance from Capital
University of Economics and Business (& #84&E & 5 AE) in 2007.
He has been a charted global management accountant certified by
the Association of International Certified Professional Accountants
and a senior member of the Charted Institute of Management
Accountants since October 2019.

Ms. GUO Ying (38#), aged 39, joined our Group in July 2012
and served as a director of calling center at Zhongming, a senior
director of mobile products at BabyTree Information and the general
manager of e-commerce at Meitun Mama. She was appointed chief
human resource officer of our Group in Feburary 2019, primarily
responsible for organising talent management and development.
She served as head of e-commerce business of our Company from
December 2017 to February 2019.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Guo served as a business
development manager at Lenovo (Beijing) Limited (B8 (4t3R) AR
A \]) from May 2003 to April 2008. She served as a senior director
of service department at Beijing Badi Zhonghe Technology Co., Ltd.
FERNEBAEHE AR A F]) from May 2008 to March 2012, where
she was primarily responsible for product design, implementation
and management.

Ms. Guo graduated from Beijing Institute of Petrochemical

Technology (At EAMIE TEPF) with a bachelor's degree in
marketing in July 2003.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Ms. WANG Dan (E£#}), aged 383, joined our Group in April 2014
and was appointed senior director of public relations of our Group
in February 2019, primarily responsible for brand and public
relations management. She served as head of brand and public
relations from February 2018 to February 2019.

Ms. Wang served as a senior manager of public relations at
Shanghai Huagianshu Information Technology Limited (_E/&7ET 15
= BRHEAB R A A from July 2010 to March 2014.

Ms. Wang graduated from Liaoning University (EZKXZ) with a
bachelor’'s degree in international economics and trade in July
2010.

Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. CHEN Hongyou (Ff5A&), aged 31, joined our Group in
December 2014 as a legal manager and was appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company in June 2018. Prior to joining
our Group, Ms. Chen worked as a legal specialist at Scitech
Group Co., Ltd. (BRFEB AR A7) from July 2011 to December
2014. Ms. Chen received her bachelor’s degree in law from China
University of Political Science and Law in July 2011.

Ms. WU Miu Wah (#%'#), aged 49, was appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company in June 2018. Ms. Wu is a
senior manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited,
a global professional services provider specializing in integrated
business, corporate and investor services. Ms. Wu has over 20
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been
providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed
companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies.
Her expertise extends from corporate advisory and regulatory
compliance, corporate restructuring.
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EEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high
corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate
its business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency
and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended December
31, 2019, the Company has complied with most of the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the deviation from
code provision A.2.1 as explained under the paragraph “Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer” and deviation from code provision E.1.2
as explained below.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
of the board of directors should attend the annual general meeting.
Mr. WANG Huainan, the Chairman of the Board of the Company,
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on June 13, 2019 due to a business trip. Mr. XU Chong, an
executive Director, a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the chief financial officer, acted as the chairman of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on June 13, 2019. Mr. WANG
Huainan will use his best endeavours to spare time to attend all
future Shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business
and to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that
they comply with statutory and professional standards and align
with the latest development.
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EEERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all Directors
and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended December 31, 2019.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“‘Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model
Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and takes decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises ten Directors, consisting of
two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors.
During the year ended December 31, 2019 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board comprises the following directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. XU Chong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Qiyu

Mr. WANG Changying
(appointed as Vice Chairman on March 30, 2020)

Mr. SHAO Yibo (resigned on March 7, 2019)

Mr. LUO Rong (resigned on March 7, 2019)

Mr. MA Jiangwei (appointed on March 7, 2019
and resigned on January 20, 2020)

Mr. WU Ying (appointed on January 20, 2020)

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN

Mr. JING Jie (resigned on October 31, 2019)

Mr. HU Weixiong (appointed on October 31, 2019
and resigned on March 30, 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Guanglei

Ms. CHEN Danxia

Mr. De-chao Michael YU

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive Directors
are expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to
the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

The biographical information of the Directors including the
relationships among the members of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial,
business or family relationship among the members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held by Mr. WANG Huainan. In view of Mr. WANG’s experience,
personal profile and his roles in the Company as mentioned in
the section “Directors and Senior Management” and the fact that
Mr. WANG has assumed the role of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company since our commencement of business, the Board
considers it beneficial to the business prospect and operational
efficiency of the Company that Mr. WANG acts as the Chairman of
the Board and continues to act as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. While this will constitute a deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board believes that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company, given that: (i) decision to be
made by our Board requires approval by at least a majority of our
Directors; (i) Mr. WANG and the other Directors are aware of and
undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require,
among other things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best
interests of the Company and will make decisions for the Company
accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured
by the operations of the Board which comprises experienced
and high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues
affecting the operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall
strategic and other key business, financial, and operational policies
of the Company are made collectively after thorough discussion at
both Board and senior management levels.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board by ensuring the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities in
time. The Chairman himself, or a Director or company secretary
delegated by him, is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting. The Chairman ensures that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are established.
The Chairman encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that
it acts in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman ensures
that all Directors receive adequate information to fulfill their duties,
which must be complete and reliable in a timely manner. The
Chairman ensures effective communication with Shareholders and
that views of Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a
whole. The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and debate
by facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in
particular and ensures constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of the Company in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer is necessary.

Independent non-executive Directors
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least four independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing

appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive Director has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from November 27, 2019 and the appointment letter
shall continue unless and until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party to another.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Director in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall
be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Responsibilities of the Directors (Continued)

All Directors, including the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Through active participation at Board meetings, taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interest
and serving on Board committees, all non-executive Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses
for discharging their duties to the Company.

All Directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Responsibilities of the Directors (Continued)

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the
Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on behalf of the Company. The Board regularly reviews the above
said circumstances and ensures they remain appropriate.

If any Substantial Shareholder or Director has a potential conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by a general meeting or
the Board, the relevant Directors shall abstain from voting and a
Board meeting attended by independent non-executive Directors
who have no material interest in the matter shall be held to discuss
and vote on the same. Save as disclosed above, there are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on
an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior management
of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that
have been received by the Directors for the year ended December
31, 2019 and up to date of this report are summarized as follows:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(Continued)
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Directors Type of Training®
= EAIEEN
Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. WANG Huainan B
TEmEE

Mr. XU Chong B
R EAE

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. CHEN Qiyu A B
BREXNF e

Mr. WANG Changying A B
FREKE

Mr. SHAO Yibo? Nil
AR IR S A @ i
Mr. LUO Rong® Nil
B KA i
Mr. MA Jiangwei® A
BILREE®

Mr. WU Ying®¥ A
RFEEFEHED

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN B
Christian Franz REITERMANN %t 4 Nil
Mr. JING Jie® i
BRSO

Mr. HU Weixiong® A B
HRETE R O

Independent non-executive Directors

BAFHTES

Mr. CHEN Guanglei A, B
PREESR S E

Ms. CHEN Danxia B
BRAE L+

Mr. De-chao Michael YU B
AR LE

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang B

ZHANG Hongjiang %t &=
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(Continued)

Notes:
(1) Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

(2 Resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from March 7, 2019

3) Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from March 7, 2019 and
resigned with effect from January 20, 2020

4) Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from January 20, 2020

(5) Resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from October 31, 2019

(6) Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from October 31, 2019
and resigned with effect from March 30, 2020

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon
request.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman), Mr. De-chao Michael YU
and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang (with Mr. CHEN Guanglei possessing
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process, risk management
and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company and providing advice and
comments to the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review, in respect of the year ended
December 31, 2019, the annual and interim financial results
and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of
works, connected transactions and arrangements for employees to
raise concerns about possible improprieties. The Audit Committee

has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee also had telephone conferences with the
external auditors during the year without the presence of the
executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Remuneration Committee consists of
five members including three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. CHEN Danxia (Chairwoman), Mr. CHEN Guanglei and
Mr. De-chao Michael YU and two executive Directors, namely Mr.
WANG Huainan and Mr. XU Chong.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include determining,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and the remuneration packages of the Directors and
other related matters. In addition, the Remuneration Committee
made recommendations to the Board on the letters of appointment
of the new non-executive Directors, namely Mr. MA Jiangwei
(appointed on March 7, 2019 and resigned on January 20, 2020)
and Mr. HU Weixiong (appointed on October 31, 2019 and resigned
on March 30, 2020).
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Nomination Committee consists of
three members including one executive Director, namely Mr. WANG
Huainan (Chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, to consider the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for election at the annual general meeting and
to consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment of
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on November 1,
2018 which sets out the basic principles to be followed to ensure
that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of
the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity. The Nomination Committee has
primary responsibility for identifying individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and selecting, or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the policy,
developing and reviewing measurable objectives for implementing
the policy and monitoring the progress on achieving these
measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the

measurable objectives at least annually, and as appropriate, to
ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Director Nomination Policy which is applicable
for the financial years commencing from January 1, 2019 and sets
out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
directors of the Company. The policy aims to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company as well as the Board continuity and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

° Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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NOMINATION PROCESS

(a)

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may
select candidates for directorship from various
channels, including but not limited to internal promotion,
re-designation,
management and external recruitment agents.

referral by other member of the

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.
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NOMINATION PROCESS (Continued)

(b)

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect

a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant

information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to

shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the

notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the

Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the

structure, size and composition of the Board and this policy

and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes

to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate

strategy and business needs.
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EEERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set
out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Audit Committee
had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

Code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code provides that regular Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company adopted
the practice of holding Board meetings regularly for at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals to discuss
overall strategy as well as operations and financial performance
of the Group. The Board held ten meetings during the year ended
December 31, 2019. Apart from regular Board meetings, the
Chairman also held one meeting with independent non-executive
Directors only without the presence of other Directors during the

year.
Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to the Directors in advance. Notice of
regular Board meetings is served to all the Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.
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EEERWE

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (Continued)

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings (Continued)

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors apprised
of the latest development and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make decisions. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings
and where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to
advise on business development, financial and accounting matters,
statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and
other major aspects of the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and final version are open for
Director’s inspection.

Attendance Records of Directors
The attendance records of each Director at the Board, Board

committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out below:
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EEERWE

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (Continued)

Attendance Records of Directors (Continued)

Name of Director

E=shEeRcE (&)

EXEeeERESTHERE @)

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)

BEEps BEHERY €8KE
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting®
ES
Exe EKZES ¥MzEE® REEEE BFAE
Mr. WANG Huainan 10/10 N/A 11 11 0/1
TEEEE TERA
Mr. XU Chong 10/10 N/A 11 N/A 1/1
RWEE M TiEm
Mr. CHEN Qiyu 8/10 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
BRERF & NEH TEA TNEAR
Mr. WANG Changying (appointed as
Vice Chairman on March 30, 2020) 10/10 N/A N/A N/A 01
ITREXE(R-E-_TF=A=1+H
EBZEREIER) i A TEA
Mr. SHAO Yibo (resigned on March 7, 2019) 0/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BINEAE (RZE—NF= A HEIT) TEA A A TEA
Mr. LUO Rong (resigned on March 7, 2019) 1/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BHAEE(RZE-NE=ALAEE) TEA A TEA TEA
Mr. MA Jiangwei (appointed on March 7, 2019
and resigned on January 20, 2020) 6/9 N/A N/A N/A 01
BIREE(RZE-NE=ALREZER
RZZ_ZF-AZ+HEI) NEH TEA TER
Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN 8/10 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Christian Franz REITERMANN4E & TiERA A TE A
Mr. JING Jie (resigned on October 31, 2019) 1/9 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
FREE (RZZE-NAFTA=T—BEE) iR A TEA
Mr. HU Weixiong (appointed on October 31, 2019
and resigned March 30, 2020) 0/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
EEEE (RZE-NFETA=T—REZER
RZZ_TF=A=+HEIT) TEHR TNEA TER TEHR
Mr. CHEN Guanglei 10/10 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1
BRESLE i A
Ms. CHEN Danxia 8/10 N/A 11 N/A 0/1
BRANERT NEH TNER
Mr. De-chao Michael YU 4/10 2/2 11 11 0/1
AIfEBELE
Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang 6/10 2/2 N/A 11 0/1
ZHANG Hongjiang %t £ A
Note: Bt 5E -
(1) The annual general meeting of the Company was held on June 13, 2019. (1) ARRARZZB-AFAAT=ZBRTRRESF
PN
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy which is applicable for the

financial years commencing from January 1, 2019 and sets out

the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in

relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits

as dividends to the Shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below:

1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its

shareholder value.

2.  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.

3. The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders of the Company, subject to the
Articles of the Association of the Company and all applicable
laws and regulations and the factors set out below.

4.  The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

° financial results;

° cash flow situation;

o business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;
° interests of Shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

o any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued) B EBR (&)

5. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and 5.

the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;

o final dividend;

o special dividend; and

° any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

6. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 6.

Shareholders’ approval.

7. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of 7.

cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

8.  Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to 8.

the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.
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The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time EEZEETERNEZERRTREEE o

to time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Audit Committee assist the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has adopted and implemented comprehensive risk
management policies in various aspects of our business operations,
such as information system, financial reporting, internal audit and
human resources.

Information System Risk Management

Our objectives for information system management are to identify,
assess, monitor and control information technology risks by
establishing an effective mechanism to operate our business in
a safe, continuous, stable and compliant environment. We have
implemented policies and procedures stipulating: (i) the release of
mobile apps in the ordinary course and on an urgent basis; (i) the
operation of our platforms: we monitor certain key indicators and
give an alarm if such indicators go beyond the security thresholds;
(iii) the management of the authorities of our employees and
business partners to access certain functions of our platforms; (iv)
the management of the network and hard drive capacities and (v)
troubleshooting: we categorize system malfunctions and accidents
into three levels according to their seriousness and urgency, and
implement different mechanisms to fix them.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Information System Risk Management (Continued)
Financial Reporting Risk Management

We have implemented a financial reporting system, consisting of
policies and procedures for: (i) bottom-up financial reporting: in the
ordinary course of business, the financial personnel shall report
to the manager of the financial department and the chief financial
officer level by level. Any new business the accounting treatment
methods for which has not been stipulated shall be reported to the
chief financial officer in a timely manner; (i) top-down inquiries: the
audit personnel at the group level can request financial information
from any member of the Group as work requires and ask questions
about the information provided; (iii) assignment of responsibilities:
relevant financial personnel perform document verification, review
and bookkeeping in the accounting system according to their duties
and authorities; (iv) book closing: monthly and quarterly accounts
shall be reconciled and closed within the first ten business days of
the next month or quarter; (v) accounting error correction: we have
formulated different rectification measures for different types of
accounting errors, including errors that occurred during the current
accounting period, immaterial errors that occurred during the last
accounting period and material errors that occurred during the
last accounting period; (vi) financial statement preparation: each
operating entity will prepare its monthly and annual financial reports.
The monthly report of each operating entity shall be submitted to
the Group within the first ten business days of the next month, and
the annual report of each operating entity shall be submitted to the
Group within 15 business days after the end of the year and (vii)
financial statement analysis: financial analysis meetings shall be held
regularly every month, during which the financial managers of each
company shall present results of operations, financial condition
and qualitative and quantitative analysis to the senior management.
With these policies and procedures, we aim to ensure that the
information reported and disclosed in the financial report is true,
complete, accurate and timely.
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ERERWE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Internal Audit Risk Management

We value the importance of our internal audit, as it is essential to
our stable operation and sustainable development. The objectives
of our internal audit are to monitor the implementation of applicable
laws and regulations and our internal policies, procedures and
standard operational procedures, to control our risk exposure at an
acceptable level and to improve our business operations.

We have implemented an independent and vertical organizational
system for our internal audit. We set up an Audit Committee
under the Board of Directors to organize and guide our internal
audit work. The Internal Audit Department regularly reports to the
Audit Committee and submits reports on audit projects in a timely
manner.

As the executive department of our internal audit, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for the supervision, evaluation
and consulting independently. According to our internal audit
procedures, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for
auditing and monitoring the soundness and effectiveness of our
internal controls, reviewing the reliability of accounting records and
financial statements, analyzing and assessing our business policies
and activities of our business units for appropriateness, efficiency
and compliance, and auditing and appraising the performance of
our management team.

Human Resources Risk Management

We have implemented a human resource management system
to ensure the effective functioning of our Group, safeguard the
legitimate rights and interests of both parties to the employment
relationship and improve operating efficiency. Our internal human
resource management system covers all the stages of employment
relationship, from recruitment to probation, appraisal, transition and
exit.
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EEERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Anti-corruption

We have implemented internal anti-corruption rules to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Our anticorruption
rules define the scope of “corruption” and have detailed
requirements as to gifts and banquets, conflict of interest and
financial reporting. Our compliance department is responsible
for the training, supervision and execution of our anticorruption
rules and reports to our Chief Executive Officer. We have set up
a corruption report center to collect information on suspected
corruption incidents. We offer a reward to real-name informants
who report proven corruption incidents. We also have investigation
and punishment procedures in place.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended December 31, 2019.

At the board meeting held on March 30, 2020, the Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the internal audit
report, reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the
year ended December 31, 2019, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the
financial reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications,
experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that

unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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ERERWE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Whistleblowing Policy for Employees to Raise Concerns
about Possible Improprieties

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability. The
Company’s employees at all levels should conduct themselves with
integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Board has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy to govern and
deal with fairly and properly concerns raised by the Company’s
employees about any suspected misconduct or malpractice
regarding financial reporting, internal control or other matters within
the Company.

The Audit Committee of the Company shall review regularly the
policy and ensure that arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate
follow-up action.

PERFORMANCE OF THE NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING BY MR. WANG HUAINAN

The independent non-executive Directors were delegated with the
authority to review, on an annual basis, the compliance with the
non-competition undertaking executed by Mr. WANG Huainan and
provide impartial and professional advice to protect the interest of
our minority Shareholders.

On November 6, 2018, Mr. WANG undertook that so long as
he remains as the largest Shareholder of the Company, he will
not, and will procure all companies he controls not to engage
in or develop any business competing or potentially competing
with our main business or key products, including investment in,
mergers and acquisitions of any companies, entities or economic
organizations engaged in the same or similar core business or
primarily manufacturing the same or similar products. In addition,
he acknowledged that the Group shall have priority to develop any
new business in the future, and he will not, and will procure any
companies controlled by him not to develop such new business. On
October 10, 2019, Mr. WANG Huainan has ceased to be the largest
Shareholder of the Company.
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ERERWE

PERFORMANCE OF THE NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING BY MR. WANG HUAINAN (Continued)

Mr. WANG has confirmed that he had complied with the
non-competition undertaking during the period from January 1,
2019 to October 10, 2019, the date on which he has ceased to
be the largest Shareholder of the Company. The independent
non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-compliance
of the non-competition undertaking given by Mr. WANG during
the period from January 1, 2019 to October 10, 2019, the date
on which he has ceased to be the largest Shareholder of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2019.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and
other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report of this
annual report.
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ERERWE

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year
ended December 31, 2019 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than Directors) by bands for the year ended December 31,
2019 is set out below:

EEREREEETMH

ARREHHEARBEEETRSREEEH
MHEREZL-—ELARBANIET ©

BE_T-NF+-_A=t—HLFE &
EXENMEFREIRN AU BHRERME
8 o

BE-_Z-hWF+-_A=+—BLFE &
RERERE (EFHIN) 0FEHHIRFH
HEHEAIIWT

Number of

individuals

AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0008 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7 £2,000,000/% 7T 5
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 77T £ 3,000,000 7T 1
Total et 8

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the total fee paid/
payable in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by
the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. KPMG, Certified Public
Accountants is set out below:

BB &

BE_ZT-—NF+A=+—HILEE
ARBINEZBED B2 & 5 AV R 5 B S A
EBMRHNBREERRRBONEN &
NRERMHWT

Category of services R&EER Fee paid/payable
g ENEAR

RMB’ 000

AREET T

Audit services EZ RS 5,100
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 10
Total BET 5,110
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EEERRE

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. CHEN Hongyou and Ms. WU Miu Wah are the joint company
secretaries of the Company. Ms. WU is a senior manager of the
Corporate Services Department of Tricor Services Limited and is not
an employee of the Company. Ms. WU will contact the management
of the Company and report to the Board Chairman and/or the Chief
Executive Officer through Ms. CHEN when necessary. Both Ms.
CHEN and Ms. WU have confirmed that each of them has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings during the year
ended December 31, 2019.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint
company secretaries to ensure that Board procedures, and all
applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company
provide a platform for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of
the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, are available to answer Shareholders’ questions at
general meetings. A notice to Shareholders is sent by the Company
at least 20 clear business days before the annual general meeting
and at least 10 clear business days in all other general meetings.
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ERERWE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has not
made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of Association.
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website (ir.babytree.com), where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate
governance practices, biographical information of the Board and
other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy is in place to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of Director. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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EEERWE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposal at General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
any two or more members may deposit written requisition at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be convened
on the written requisition of any one member which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided
that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date
of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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ERERWE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the Company:

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong (For the attention of the
Board of Directors/Company Secretary)

Telephone: 86-10-61138080

Email: ir@babytree-inc.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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Directors’ Report

EFTHE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group, for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February
9, 2018 as an exempted limited liability company under the
Companies Law. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on November 27, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the advertising, e-commerce and content
monetization business. Details of the principal activities of
the principal subsidiaries are set out in notes 1 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2019 is set out in the chapter headed
“Chairman’s Statement” from pages 4 to 21 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 22 to 34 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report

EFTHE

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

EFEMBHE

Year ended December 31,

BEt+t-A=+—HLEFE

Year on year

change (%)

2019 2018 [[tL
—E-hF ZT-N\F 28 (%)

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®T T ARBTT
Revenue WA 356,828 760,103 (53.1)
- Advertising —BEE 320,040 596,215 (46.3)
— E-commerce — &5 22,214 135,301 (83.6)
- Direct sales — B 13,967 69,820 (80.0)
- Marketplace — & 8,247 65,481 (87.4)
- Content monetization — NBHE 14,574 28,587 (49.0)
Gross profit EH 222,633 599,450 (62.9)
Gross margin EFx 62.4% 78.9% (16.5)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8) /& (494,451) 526,277 N/A
NiEA
Adjusted net (loss)/profit for FREEAREFE (BE),/SEr0 N/A
the year! (non-IFRS measure) (FERBR A TS R S5 2 RIRT =) (494,451) 201,232 TEA

Note:

(1) We define “adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year” as (loss)/profit for the
year adjusted by removing the effect of both fair value change of financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and listing expenses, net of tax,

which is non-recurring in nature.

GEE

(1) BMSIFEEHREF (BR), 88 ] T AM

BRIAR A

BEFASAEFTAEHERNSRE

BEHAABEZYHRIFEFEEN LM (4

BriiE)

2/ m
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RISHENFE (BE),a8F o
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EFTHE

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL

OFFERING

Our Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on November 27,

ERBEMEREAE

BAMBROR_FT-—NF+—-—A=-+tBR

2018 and the net proceeds raised during our initial public offering B FH MR E X ARBEFMEEL AN

were approximately HKD1,769.7 million.

The following table sets forth the status of the use of net proceeds

from the initial public offering™:

BRIEREAE1,769.7TABB T °

TREINERAHEEMBRBFENER

RO

Expected
timeframe for
Percentage of  Percentage of utilizing the
Percentage of used amount unused balance  remaining
total net Amount of as of December as of December  unused
Intended use of net proceeds proceeds  net proceeds 31,2019 31,2019 net proceeds
HRZF-1E FRZZ2-NF BRETABA
fhAHENE FR%®E tZA=t-B TZA=t-B  FEMEFEN
FERRRRNEERE FEALM FHEE CHREERAL ABANEESY RERER
Categories Sub-categories (%) (In HKD millions) (%) (%)
£l FEH (%) (AEEER) (%) (%)
Business expansion, such as acquiring users 1. Acquiring users and improving user 50 88.5 2.8 2.2 Inthe next
and improving user engagement, generating engagement eleven months
and acquiring more quality content, recruiting
and retaining competent personnel to support
our expansion and brand marketing activities,
and further enhancing our brand awareness
through marketing activities
HER INERRFRRAAFP2ER ERRPRRRAF2EE ARIER
ERREGTSBERS RRNEBHE
ABUIRAMNER R E#ES
hERg Rt SRARMNRRALE
ii.  Generating and acquiring more 10.0 177.0 39 6.1 Inthe next
quality content eleven months
i ERRESESREAR AR1{EA
il Recruiting and retaining competent 10.0 177.0 46 54 Inthe next
personnel to support our expansion eleven months
and brand marketing activities
ii.  REREEBLARHRMA ARA1{EA

BRRmEEEES
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL 2ZEMEREBEAHAR (&)
OFFERING (Continued)

Expected
timeframe for
Percentage of  Percentage of utilizing the

Percentage of used amount unused balance  remaining
total net Amount of as of December as of December  unused
Intended use of net proceeds proceeds  net proceeds 31,2019 31,2019 net proceeds

ER-8-1F (R-F-NF BRETADR
HARENE FemE  TZR=t-B  TZR=t-B  FENEREN

FRAARRNEERE FEAAM FECE CHRLERAM ABAMEESR BENER
Categories Sub-categories (%) (In HKD millions) (%) (%)
LYl FE (%) (ABEEERTT) (%) (%)

iv.  Further enhancing our brand 50 88.5 22 28 Inthe next
awareness through marketing eleven months
activities

v, BREHADE-SRARMANG ARIER
BALE

Sub-total 30.0 530.9 135 16.5

it

Research and development, such as recruiing i Recruiting and retaining technical 10.0 177.0 32 6.8  Inthe next
and retaining technical talent, maintaining and talent to develop and upgrade five to
strengthening our T infrastructure and further our mobile apps and websites eleven months
developing our technology stack with more functionalities by

providing competitive salary and
equity compensation and opening
development centers in emerging

technology hubs
WE - AmAERBERMGAT  £ERRL | BAREEBRFINEMRKE ARSE11ER
AMNEERARRERE - FRERAD HERERER R LA
G2 b BERBERMAZL URER
THEROBIRAEFRESY
Btk
ii.  Maintaining and strengthening our 10.0 177.0 2.1 79 Inthe next
IT infrastructure to accommodate 23 months
our business expansion
i BENRCARHES RITARR AR23MHA
EABERMNERER
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL 2 EMEREAR (&)

OFFERING (Continued)

Expected
timeframe for
Percentage of  Percentage of utilizing the
Percentage of used amount unused balance  remaining
total net Amount of  as of December as of December  unused
Intended use of net proceeds proceeds  net proceeds 31,2019 31,2019 net proceeds
ER=Z-1F {RZZ-7NF BRETABA
hBFE5E FB%E TZAZt-B TIASt-B  FAEREFEN
FresEREnEERE FEAAM FECE CHRLERAM ABAMEESR BENER
Categories Sub-categories (%) (In HKD millions) (%) (%)
L) F55 (%) (ABEEERTT) (%) (%)

iil.  Further developing our technology 10.0 177.0 2.7 73 Inthe next
stack, including data and storage five to
management, computer vision, eleven months
NLP and augmented reality, to
enhance User experience

ii.  E-SREAMMRIES - 2% VO GEIE)
URREHEE HEREE 8
REZRERIEARE - NRAR
FER

Sub-total 30.0 530.9 8.0 22,0
Nt
Further investments, acquisitions and strategic 1. Investing in companies with 25.0 4 1.0 140 Inthe next
alliances, such as investing in companies advanced technology and service eleven months
with advanced technology and service solutions, companies with
solutions or with complimentary business complimentary business lines or
lines, or have adequate capabilities to companies that have demonstrated
generate synergy with our current business, adequate capabilities that we
and establishing partnerships with quality local believe can generate synergy with
partners in overseas countries our current business
ARRE WEREBERE (INRENEE | REAREARERNREEERS AR11ER

RERMRRHE R ROLARAARR

RGN AR AR R REL R
RENATREENEZBENERBHEL
BHERE

RO0E BRRRZHGNLA
AEERRARNMATRAEN
BRMRRFBELHRAMEND
5
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL 2ZEMEREBEAHAR (&)

OFFERING (Continued)

Expected
timeframe for
Percentage of  Percentage of utilizing the
Percentage of used amount unused balance  remaining
total net Amount of  as of December as of December  unused
Intended use of net proceeds proceeds  net proceeds 31,2019 31,2019 net proceeds
ER=Z-1F {RZZ-7NF BRETABA
hBFE5E FB%E TZAZt-B TIASt-B  FAEREFEN
FresEREnEERE FREAM FHSE CHRLEEAL ADANEESY BHRER
Categories Sub-categories (%) (In HKD millions) (%) (%)
L) F55 (%) (ABEEERTT) (%) (%)
ii.  Establishing partnerships with 50 88.5 0.0 50 Inthe next
quality local partners in overseas eleven months
countries that we believe can help AR11{ER

with our penetration into local
markets and global expansion

i EENEXEENERBHEIY
REE%  ABRALEENRAR
BRI RERER

Sub-total 30.0 530.9 1.0 19.0
/J\E-I-
Working capital and other 10.0 177.0 43 57
general corporate purposes

EEATREN-RAFRE
Total 100.0 1,769.7 36.8 63.2
a3t

Note: i -

(1) The figures in the table are approximate figures. (1 RBNANET BHROBRF
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS
Relationship with Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily include suppliers of products sold through
direct sales on our e-commerce platform. Our largest supplier
accounted for 38% of our total purchases for the year ended
December 31, 2019. Our top five suppliers accounted for 73% of
our total purchases for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Relationship with Customers

Our customers primarily include advertising customers (including
advertisers and advertising agencies), users who make purchases
on our e-commerce platform and users who purchase or subscribe
for our premium content. We have a broad base of customers.
Our largest customer (an advertising customer) for the year ended
December 31, 2019 accounted for 11.7% of our revenue. Our top
five customers (all of which are advertising customers) accounted
for 38.4% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.

All of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers are
independent third parties. None of the Directors, their close
associates or the Shareholders which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company, had any interest in any of the five largest suppliers or
customers during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Relationship with Employees
We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our
employees and we have not experienced any significant labor

disputes or any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations. None
of our employees are currently represented by labor unions.
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EFTHE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment
and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.
Details of such are set out in the Environmental, Social and

Governance Report in this annual report.

LICENCES, REGULATORY APPROVALS AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no material
breaches or violations of relevant laws and regulations in China,
where the Group has business entities and operation, and the
Group obtained all material licences and permits necessary for
its business in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
On August 31, 2018, the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress (EBIARREZARAEEHKZEZES) promulgated
the E-commerce Law of the People’s Republic of China A
RAFBEEFEBE)) (the ‘E-Commerce Law”), which became
effective on January 1, 2019. The E-Commerce Law establishes
the regulatory framework for the e-commerce sector in the PRC
for the first time by laying out certain requirements on e-commerce
operators, including the electronic commerce operators and
e-commerce platform operators like us. We strictly abide by the
E-commerce Law and other relevant laws and regulations to
protect customers’ legitimate rights, and pay close attention to the
quality of goods and services from us or our platform user. Details
of our compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out in

Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operation
of the Group, and principal risks and uncertainties that the Group
faces and key mitigations that the Group adopts are summarized as
follows:

REBRRERR
AEBRNRETHEEE  RAEEER
&%F~%§ﬁ%&@%ﬁ@ ERAHRE

ER - -BHARIARNLAFERSRE 42

REARE -

BR - EEREREBTEEER

BEZZT-NF+=ZA= + HIEFE @ &
EIEEPIE'J%WE‘%E BEEVEBREEYN
WL&*@E@&@P&%@ C BAREEEREAEAR
EgEmErEZRREERRANENSD
%Ex%% FAE - RZE-—NFNA=
+—H 2BARRRAREEBZESHM
(REARANMBEEFEBEE) ([EEE]) -
RZZE—NF—A—HBER - EREBHAK
VHBEEFITENEEER  HEHESD
(BREEFABELEnkERTaEsn (8
PUREM))REETFEK - ZRPIBEEETE
BEEAFMEMABRERER  REBPHNEE
R - WEEFEMKTERAPRMANRD
mAMREHNEE - FEBMETHEBERE
RMEOFFBERANIRE  HERERAMRE -

ERBRTRERSR
TV EAEHEAREBELNE TH

E AKERGRNIERRMIEEREZER
AEBEDNTIBEMBERBENT :
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FERRMEFAEERE (&)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRTIEERE

Description

P

Key Mitigations
TERBEIE

Uncertainty to maintain
and enhance our brand

Mk R H AR M A
FY N E 1

We receive media coverage. Any
unfavorable publicity could adversely
affect our reputation. Such negative
publicity also could have an adverse
effect on the size, engagement and loyalty
of our user base and result in decreased
revenue, which could adversely affect our

business and financial results.

If we are not able to maintain and
enhance our brand, or if events that occur
damage our reputation and brand, our
ability to expand our user base may be
impaired, and our business and financial
results may be harmed.
BMEXEERE - ERATMNETEH A6
HEMOBBERKINTZE - HEEEE
B ERMAFHENRE 2EEMN
DHEEETNTE  WEB WS TR -
%ﬁT%ﬁ&ﬁ%%%&%ﬁ%@mmK
MEE -

ERMEEEERETRANME - 3
TERERMANBERRENSEH - M
BARPEMEE DA LR WAISS - TAFIM
ESL Y LpES O

EEXERE -
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The Company has set up a professional
public relations department and team.
At the same time, we have hired a
renowned public relations firm to assist
our public relations department. They
pay timely attention to and collect
public opinion, analyze the relevant
information and provide corresponding
solutions to the management team,
and the management team will take
appropriate actions in accordance with
the Company’s policies and procedures.

ARBDRIEENRERFIREE - @
B RPEETHBNREAR - HE
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FERRMEFAEERE (&)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties

TERBRRTIEERR

Description

i

Key Mitigations
TERBEIR

Risks related to the
high competitiveness
of our business

FAPIEY R 75 R
AR S R AR R R

We face significant competition from
M&C product and service providers. We
also face competition from traditional
and online media outlets for advertising
budgets. As we introduce new products,
as our existing products evolve, or as
other companies introduce new products
and services, we may become subject to
additional competition.

If we are unable to compete effectively,
our business, financial conditions and
results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected.

BMEERESREER MR HERN
BRBF - WAEERSBE S EIERE
MARERBEEORS - BERMED
MEmM REEMBEREYIHMAIRE
o E an A AR 75 - TR APT AT REIE 2 TH e E At

HEMEBIRAAERZRS  AIRMANE
% MBERAARELERELEXIEAT

23

The Company pays close attention to the
changing trend of the industry, following
up the development of new technology
and the change of user experience
through timely technical innovation.
By recruiting more outstanding
talents, optimizing the organizational
structure, improving staff quality and
training young staff, the Company
continuously improves its innovation
ability, concentrates resources to
strengthen the technical capability of
products and improve the environment
of technical innovation, and continuously
develops market-oriented products to
meet users’ expectation. Externally, we
respond to the market needs in a timely
manner through the co-construction
of ecosystem, combining platform
advantages, finding better partners and
expanding into more innovative areas.
RRABFEFRITEZBE  REBG
RTBIFTIR M T Rl R - BOTA P BR
BWEL  BREEEZESAT - EBLE
BAE RIAATEERBEFTFALN
HERFA B KRR ERFEMBE
m BT RE 1) MR E BT AR IR T - T
FENamSAPHENER - SME0EA
HEERRG A TREBY  SHKEN
MEERHENNRE ZRIFERE - KSE
JEMISRIFHK -
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FERRMEFAEERE (&)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties

TERBRRTIEERR

Description

i

Key Mitigations
TERBEIR

Dependence on a
limited number of
key advertising
customers

KRLBEEBRERF

A significant portion of our revenue
is attributable to a limited number of
advertising customers. We expect that
such largest customers will continue to
account for a significant portion of our
revenue in the foreseeable future. This
may lead to heightened customer or
credit concentration risks.

We derive a substantial portion of our
revenue from a limited number of key
advertising customers, which may make
our cash flow and earnings volatile. Our
long-term plan to reduce such volatility
may not be successful.

BB AREZE-—BORELVEESE
F o BRMEBRERAMRREK  ZEREFH
EELHBRWANREZ 9 - EHEH
BEFEHEEERRERME

BPBAZHRARBLIEIEESE
F @B xfnRe R kanNAET =
M o APIERERE) B PABRK 3X TR E 1Y
RHEEEIRA KT
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While maintaining efficient service
for major advertising customers,
the Company made more efforts to
explore advertising customers in fields
not directly relating to M&C, such as
automanufacturing, cosmetics and other
fields. We also actively introduced new
types of advertising methods, such as
short videos and live streaming, and
sought strategic cooperation with other
reputable brands.

ARRERBAEIERSEPRESMR
BORE  SMATHRZBERERP
MBREDE  AERE  bmEFER
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FERRMEFAEERE (&)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties

TERBRRFEERR

Description

i

Key Mitigations
TERBE

Risks related to
confidential information
of our online users
and our network

B PEEER R
AP e A8 45 AR BE Y L

Our platforms collect, store and process
personal and other sensitive data from
our users. Users are required to provide
bio data for registration on our platforms.

Our security measures may be breached
due to employee error, malfeasance,
system errors or vulnerabilities, or
otherwise. Failure to protect confidential
information of our online users and our
network against security breaches, any
actual or perceived failure by us or third
parties to comply with applicable data
protection laws and regulations or privacy
policies could substantially harm our
business, financial condition and results
of operations.

HAANFERAPKRELTER RE S
REBIRTFNEE - AP ARHEDR
BAERERMMNFE LEM -

BT EERAITERNE THHR B
B F e e R SOR R S E 4 T 8 B BUE o
REFREERAPOBETER REFHE
HRE2RAEBEMAXE=ZTERIERA
REEETEBBEBEREEZRERIEBILEK
RAURERARE LEERMNER - B
B S RAE ©

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please see &

section headed “Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements” in

this Directors’ Report.

The Company has the responsibility
to protect users’ sensitive information,
and has always listed users’ private
information as the highest level of
sensitive information of the Company.
The Company has established relevant
systems and control measures for
sensitive information management,
including the establishment of an
effective management system to ensure
the security of sensitive information
through encryption technology, data
access rights control and procedure
control. Meanwhile, the Company’s
independent professional team will
regularly check the protection of
sensitive information, as well as
conducting training and promotion for
the awareness of information security
to enhance employees’ awareness of
protecting sensitive information.
RRBBEREABFHREMNEE — B
VAR B PR FLSI R AR Rl &= AR 8 88
REF  WERYBREAE R AR
EREHERE  BERYBERNERR
BT RIB IR - R E R R R &
ETREEESEBRERGEREMN T
Z o [ ARFEVHNEXEERE TN
HEREANRELETRS BERRE
AR ERBINEE - REESREH
AN EH

MEBEEBRR  FR2RAEEERS

[ERAMNTNRER] —& -
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the year ended December 31, 2019 are stated in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019
and the state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 187 to 304 of this
annual report.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2019 (for the year ended

December 31, 2018: Nil).

Distributable Reserves
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s distributable reserves
calculated under the Companies Law comprise the share premium

and retained profits totaling approximately RMB2,595.5 million
(RMB2,652.1 million as of December 31, 2018).

Reserves

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity in this annual report.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Bank and Other Borrowings

There are no bank and other borrowings of the Group as at
December 31, 2019.

Charge on Assets

There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at December 31,
2019.

Donation

There was no donations made by the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2019.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 2 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended December 31, 2019, a total of 25,616,500
Shares of the Company were repurchased by the Company on
the Stock Exchange. The repurchase of Shares was effected by
the Directors for the benefit of the Company and to create value
to its Shareholders. As of December 31, 2019, 19,577,500 of the
repurchased Shares had been cancelled.

Details of the repurchases of Shares during the year ended
December 31, 2019 are set out as follows:

?ﬂ%

BE HEIEERAXAR Z

il
Bl

£

HE-_ZE—NF+-_A=+—HLEFE &
NEEHREEZAER25,616,500 A A
AR - EEBORH AR RGFERE
ERFREEEMET BE_F—NF+
—“A=+—H 19,577,500 2 B[ 1D
WY o

BE-_T-NAF+-A=+—ALFEEM
k@%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ@?-

Number Highest Lowest
of Shares price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/year £,/R8 repurchased per Share per Share consideration
FriEE [EENEST [EENEST:
v gE| EafE BIKE BRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
May 2019 —ZT—NFHA 7,450,000 5.34 4.41 36,739,680
June 2019 —ZZE—NERA 7,292,500 4.90 4.65 35,054,475
September 2019 ZZ—NFENA 4,774,500 2.42 2.13 11,108,640
October 2019 —ZE-NF+A 60,500 2.21 217 132,685
November 2019 —ET—-hE+—H 5,020,000 1.97 1.79 9,468,845
December 2019 —T—-hF+=A 1,019,000 1.88 1.75 1,841,250

Except as disclosed above, during the year ended December
31, 2019, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any other listed securities of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended December 31,
2019 and up to the date of this directors’ report were:

Name

R

BEE

ARARBE_ZE-NFT-_A=1T—HBL
FEMBEAEZEREAHNESER ¢

Position/Title
BB

WANG Huainan (£ )
T IEr

XU Chong (% 9h)
e

CHEN Qiyu (FREZ=F)
BRERF

WANG Changying (£ &58)
FEA

SHAO Yibo (BB ITR)
RBINR

LUO Rong (&%)
B

MA Jiangwei (§/L{%)
BILE

WU Ying (:R )

R

Christian Franz REITERMANN
Christian Franz REITERMANN

JING Jie (35#E)
YRR

Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

WTEE EFQXENMNEFERTE

Executive Director

HITES

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Non-executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Company
(appointed as Vice Chairman of the Company on March 30, 2020)
FHTEERARARER (RZE_EF=A=TRABEZERARFRIZERF)

Non-executive Director (resigned on March 7, 2019)

FHTESE (R_T-NF=ALHEHE)

Non-executive Director (resigned on March 7, 2019)

FHTEE(R=ZZE—NF=AtHET)
Non-executive Director (appointed on March 7, 2019
and resigned on January 20, 2020)
FHITEE (RE-NF=ZALBEZEARR_Z_ZF - A+ HEHE)

Non-executive Director (appointed on January 20, 2020)

FHTEE(R_E_FF—A_THEZMT)

Non-executive Director

FHITER

Non-executive Director (resigned on October 31, 2019)

FHITEFE (R NAF+A=+—HEE)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Name Position/Title

e B B

- =4¢ )

HU Weixiong (#A{E %)

Non-executive Director (appointed on October 31, 2019

and resigned on March 30, 2020)

EAIE L

CHEN Guanglei (FE£)
PR £ BN IEHITES
CHEN Danxia (F&F}28)
BRITEE BN IEHITES
De-chao Michael YU (8112 18)
A= BN IEHITES
ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang BUIERITES

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, Mr. WU
Ying who was appointed on January 20, 2020 will retire and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In addition, pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN, Ms. CHEN Danxia, Mr. De-chao
Michael YU and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang shall retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.
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FHTEF (R T NFHA=tTHEZERN T _TF=A=1+HET)

Independent non-executive Director

Independent non-executive Director

Independent non-executive Director

Independent non-executive Director
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Directors’ Report

EFTHE

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment

On November 1, 2018, each of the executive Directors entered
into a service contract, and each of the non-executive Directors
(excluding Mr. MA Jiangwei, Mr. WU Ying and Mr. HU Weixiong)
and the independent non-executive Directors entered into an
appointment letter with our Company, respectively.The principal
particulars of these service contracts and appointment letters are:
(@) each of the service contracts and appointment letters is for a
term of three years following each Director’s respective appointment
date; and (b) each of the service contracts and appointment letters
is subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.

Following the appointment of Mr. WANG Changying as the Vice
Chairman of the Company on March 30, 2020, no new appointment
letter has been executed. His appointment letter as a non-executive
Director entered into with the Company on November 1, 2018 shall
continue.

Mr. MA Jiangwei has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from March 7,
2019 and has signed a letter of resignition with the Company
on January 20, 2020. Mr. HU Weixiong has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company commencing from October 31,
2019 and has signed a letter of resignation with the Company on
March 30, 2020. Mr. WU Ying has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company commencing from January 20, 2020 which may
be terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one
month’s prior notice in writing.

The service contracts and appointment letters may be renewed
in accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable
rules. None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with members of the Group that is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Report

EFTHE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Confirmation of Independence of

Non-executive Directors

Independent

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors (being Mr. CHEN Guanglei,
Ms. CHEN Danxia, Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr. ZHANG
Hongjiang), and the Company considers such Directors to be
independent for the year ended December 31, 2019.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note 33(b)
to the consolidated financial statements and the connected
transactions as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this Directors’ Report, there was no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director and/or
any of its connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly subsisted at the end of, or at any time during the
year ended December 31, 2019. The Company did not have any
controlling shareholder at any time during the year ended December

31, 2019.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2019, the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company had the following interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests and short positions which the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company are taken and deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be and
are recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules:
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Directors’ Report

EFTHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

EERBEEITHRAERKRAD - 1568
RO REEENER AR (&)

AND DEBENTURES (Continued)
Interest in Shares of the Company R QTR K E S
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the issued
Name of Director Nature of interest/Capacity ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBTRAE
EEnE EEME 55 ZHEREAE BREDHE®
Mr. WANG Huainan® Interest in controlled corporations 370,096,250© 22.18%
FlEmMEED REEHEB R R
Interest under voting agreement 39,687,846¢) 2.38%
BREWZE TH R
Mr. WANG Changying® Interest in controlled corporations 550,943 0.03%
ETRALLER MNEIEHEE 8 s
Mr. XU Chong Beneficial owner 416,000© 0.02%
RMEE EmlAA
Notes: B -

(1) As at December 31, 2019, 370,096,250 Shares are held by Wang Family
Limited Partnership, which is owned by Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings
Limited (general partner of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 0.01%,
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited (sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Cayman
Holdings Limited) as to 30%, and Mr. WANG Huainan in the capacity of
trustee of Allen Wang Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (a limited partner of
Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 39.99%. Mr. WANG Huainan is
the sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and founder of Allen
Wang Grantor Retained Annuity Trust. Accordingly, he is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Wang Family Limited Partnership under
the SFO.

As at December 31, 2019, pursuant to the voting agreement dated
September 10, 2018 entered into by Tenzing Holdings 2011, Ltd.
(“Tenzing”) with Mr. WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG Huainan as an attorney
has the right to vote over all the 39,687,846 Shares held by Tenzing.

RZF—-NAF+=-A=+—H 370,096,250
[ m R A Wang Family Limited
Partnership# 4 * MWang Family Limited
PartnershipB Golden Leaf Cayman
Holdings Limited (Wang Family Limited
PartnershipfE@BE¥ A)FE0.01%
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited (Golden Leaf
Cayman Holdings Limited#) M — %)
B30% Kk T IEm LA Allen Wang Grantor
Retained Annuity Trust(Wang Family
Limited Partnership@MBRAZAN) XTAH
MFEE39.99% © TEmM %4+ AGolden Leaf
Holdings Limited 8" — &% & Allen Wang
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust&&ISZ A °
Bl REBEEFFRBERA  BERERR
Wang Family Limited Partnership f7# % ) i&
DHEERER °

RZZFE—AF+=ZA=+—8 ' RiKETenzing
Holdings 2011, Ltd.([Tenzing]) f2 F %
EEFTVHBSHAE-ZT-—N\FALATANEE
Wi TEEEEEARBAB#ERTenzing
FEM2E39,687,846 AR DILE -
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Directors’ Report

EFTHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTSAND EEZERESTHRAENR® - HE
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES RO REEZNEERAE (&)

AND DEBENTURES (Continued)
Interest in Shares of the Company (Continued) RAEARTBRMODHELRS (F)
Notes: (Continued) PisE : (#&)

(2)  As at December 31, 2019, Mr. WANG Changying wholly owned Wingnou  (2) RZZ—AF+_A=+—H K FRALER

Investments Limited and therefore Mr. WANG Changying is deemed to be & #EAWingnou Investments Limited + E 1t
interested in the Shares held by Wingnou Investments Limited under the BEFSFRAERA  TRBAEEERAR
SFO. Wingnou Investments Limited & K& 15+
HE R o
(3)  All the Shares are held in long position. B FMERMDANUNFERFE -

(4)  As at December 31, 2019, the total number of issued Shares of the (4) R-ZE—AF+_A=+—H KAARIBHIT
Company was 1,668,910,609 (including any shares repurchased by the 1D 422 51,668,910,609% (BIEARAE
Company but not yet cancelled). As at December 31, 2019, a total of BEEWRTIHNEMRD) R —NIF
6,039,000 Shares have been repurchased by the Company but not yet +-—A=+—8 AR a& HLEEBE,039,000
cancelled. RRAR 15 - 1B M AR EEH o

Equity Interest in Zhongming (an association corporation RRIEHR M ER (XD THEEEE)
of the Company)

Approximate percentage

Name of Director Nature of interest/Capacity of equity interest
EEpE BEME S5 HRESANE DT
Mr. WANG Huainan® Beneficial owner 79.66%
FIEEEED EmEAA

Interest in controlled corporations 0.47%

SR PR Ok e

Mr. XU Chong® Interest in controlled corporations 2.53%
R ER MEEHEE SR

Mr. WANG Changying Beneficial owner 0.04%
ERABERE BEHEAA
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EFTHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Equity Interest in Zhongming (an association corporation
of the Company) (Continued)

Notes:

(1) As at December 31, 2019, Mr. WANG Huainan directly held approximately
79.66% equity interest in Zhongming. As he also is the general partner
of Ningbo Baoshu, he is therefore deemed to be interested in the equity
interest held by Ningbo Baoshu in Zhongming under the SFO.

(2) As at December 31, 2019, Mr. XU Chong was the general partner of
Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo Honghu and Ningbo Yimengweima, which held
equity interest in Zhongming as to approximately 1.76%, 0.47% and
0.30%, respectively. Mr. XU Chong is therefore deemed to be interested in
such equity interest held by Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo Honghu and Ningbo
Yimengweima respectively under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2019, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
had been recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executives
of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18
years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

ESREETHRAERKRN - HE8
RO REEENER AR (&)

RERWROERS (NAREBEE) (&)

(1) RZE-AEF+ZA=+—B ETEEXLEE
ERARIBLNT79.66% K% o \NRIFAER

EHHERABA  BUBEESRBERE
Bl 00 B R B R BT RIB IR P
RS -

(20 MZT-IF+ZA=+—8 H®WEERE
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EFTHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2019, so far as is known to the Director or
chief executives of the Company, the persons or corporations
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had
interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of
the Company or its associated corporation(s) which were required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FTERFREHMATRRS REB
RO BERRRE

REFHAARATHTRABRRM K=
Z-hE+-A=+—8 REARFXEME
BOREE D RARRO P REREES M
HEGRPIEXVEE2 R3D HBNIEX AR E
FTARAMERIAR » RALAREES
REIEGHIEIB6 IR ETBAFEMNELMA
MBERIARMALTIOEE (EERARQA
RETERABRIN T :

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of
ordinary Shares

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital®

B BITRAR

BRES, B8 B, EmHE ZEREAR BAFIEED
Fosun International Limited™ Interest in controlled corporations 405,015,568© 24.27%
EEBRBRBRAFM S EE RS

Beneficial owner 12,838,000© 0.77%

EmEA A
Fosun Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 417,853,5680 25.04%
EEEREBBRARO A E RS
Fosun International Holdings Ltd.  Interest in controlled corporations 417,853,5680 25.04%
EEBBIERAR AT S A E RS
Mr. GUO Guangchang® Interest in controlled corporations 417,853,5680 25.04%
EELED Sy A E R
Ms. TANG Yu@® Interest of spouse 409,784,096© 24.55%
TANG YuZ £@® Ao (B =
Startree (BVI) Limited™ Beneficial owner 402,748,068© 24.13%
Startree (BVI) Limited™ EmEEA
Fosun Health Holdings Limited™ Interest in controlled corporations 402,748,068© 24.13%

Fosun Health Holdings Limited"

EELE S
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EFTHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER TERFHHMATARO RIEE
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS RO HWEZRAAE (&)
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBTRAE
BRREE EB B RERME ZHEREAE BHAESED
Wang Family Limited Partnership®  Beneficial owner 370,096,250 22.18%
Wang Family Limited Partnership®  Ezi#A A
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation 370,096,2500 22.18%
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited® A E R
Golden Leaf Cayman Interest in a controlled corporation 370,096,250 22.18%
Holdings Limited®
Golden Leaf Cayman S AE S
Holdings Limited®
Taobao China Holding Limited® Beneficial owner 165,212,457© 9.90%
BB R BIZERBR AR EnlEAA
Taobao Holding Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 165,212,457© 9.90%
BEERBR AR LR
Alibaba Group Holding Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 165,212,457© 9.90%
Alibaba Group Holding Limited® TP AE R
TAL Education Group® Beneficial owner 144,466,006© 8.66%
IFARRHE SEEO EnlEAA
Bright Unison Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 144,466,006© 8.66%
Bright Unison Limited® TP AE R
Mr. ZHANG Bangxin® Interest in controlled corporations 144,466,006© 8.66%

RIEELEO

XA E S
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EFTHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

Notes:

M

As at December 31, 2019, Startree (BVI) Limited beneficially owns
402,748,068 Shares. Startree (BVI) Limited is wholly owned by Fosun
Health Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International
Limited. Accordingly, Fosun Health Holdings Limited and Fosun
International Limited are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Startree (BVI) Limited. As at December 31, 2019, Fosun International
Limited beneficially owns 12,838,000 Shares and is also deemed to
be interested in 2,267,500 Shares held by its subsidiary, Fidelidade
- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. The controlling shareholder of Fosun
International Limited is Fosun Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Fosun International Holdings Ltd. Mr. GUO Guangchang (5
EE) is the controlling shareholder of Fosun International Holdings Ltd.
Accordingly, Mr. GUO Guangchang, Fosun International Holdings Ltd.
and Fosun Holdings Limited are deemed to be interested in a total of
405,015,568 Shares, in which Fosun International Limited is interested or
deemed to be interested.

Ms. TANG Yu is the spouse of Mr. WANG Huainan. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. TANG Yu is deemed to be interested in the Shares of the Company in
which Mr. WANG Huainan is deemed to be interested.

Wang Family Limited Partnership was set up by Mr. WANG Huainan and
his wife (Ms. TANG Yu). As at December 31, 2019, Wang Family Limited
Partnership is owned by Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited (general
partner of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 0.01%, Golden Leaf
Holdings Limited (sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings
Limited) as to 30%, and Mr. WANG Huainan in the capacity of trustee
of Allen Wang Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (a limited partner of Wang
Family Limited Partnership) as to 39.99%. Mr. WANG Huainan is the sole
shareholder of Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and founder of Allen Wang
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust. Accordingly, each of Mr. WANG Huainan,
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Wang Family Limited
Partnership under the SFO.
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EFTHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4) As at December 31, 2019, each of Taobao Holding Limited (the sole
shareholder of Taobao China Holding Limited) and Alibaba Group Holding
Limited (the sole shareholder of Taobao Holding Limited) is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Taobao China Holding Limited under the
SFO.

5) As at December 31, 2019, each of Bright Unison Limited and its related
parties (largest shareholder of TAL Education Group as to 28.6% with in
aggregate voting power as to 70.9% as at December 31, 2019) and Mr.
ZHANG Bangxin (5k#5%%) (sole shareholder of Bright Unison Limited) is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by TAL Education Group under
the SFO.

(6) All the Shares are held in long position.

(7) As at December 31, 2019, the total number of issued Shares of the
Company was 1,668,910,609 (including any shares repurchased by the
Company but not yet cancelled). As at December 31, 2019, a total of
6,039,000 Shares have been repurchased by the Company but not yet
cancelled.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2019, the Directors
have not been notified by any person (not being the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2019.

TERREHMALTARSG RIEE
BREOWEZRAXE (&)

Bt - (AR)

(4) WRZZE—hFE+-A=+—8 ABERAR
AR CABFBEERERAAMNE —KRE) &
Alibaba Group Holding Limited CAZE %A
RABMMKE—RE) BEZFHFRBEEROFER
ARBABERREERERARFENRGTES
WS o

5y RZZE—hAFE+=—A=+—8 ' Bright Unison
LimitedMEREH H (R=ZT—LhF+=-A=1+
—HIFH28.6%Em RBIKRERET0.9% IR
RABEEEHZARRE) RRPBHELE (Bright
Unison Limited® M —RE) RIBFFKHE
BRBIHARBRITRRHUEEBMIFTENRMD P #E
Bz e

(6) FIBRMNIEAIFEFEE -

(7) RZZE—NAFE+-A=+—8 ARABHET
A& 17 48 2 & 1,668,910,6090% (BIEH AR A
EREBAEAFHNEABKRSD) - R=T—A
F+ZA=+—8 ' ARAIBHEE & RFEH
HI AR 1 42 21 56,039,000 % -

BEXFEEEN  R-T—NE+=A=
+— B EFUMBEEMAL (LFES
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EE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on June 13, 2019. A summary of the share
option scheme is as follows:

The purpose of the share option scheme is to attract, retain
and motivate talented employees to strive towards long term
performance targets set by the Group and to provide them with
an incentive to work better for the interest of the Group. The share
option scheme will link the value of the Company with the interests
of the participants, enabling the participants and the Company to
develop together and promote the Company’s corporate culture.

The participants of the share option scheme include any Director or
employee or officers of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the share option
scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Company shall not exceed 3% of the aggregate of the Shares in
issue on June 13, 2019 unless Shareholders’ approval has been
obtained.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted to each participant (including
both exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) under the
share option scheme or any other share option schemes adopted
by the Company in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to prior Shareholders’ approval.
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EFTHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Each grant of share options granted to any Director, chief executive
or Substantial Shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company (excluding
any independent non-executive Directors who is a proposed
grantee of the share option). In addition, any grant of share options
to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the Shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Shares on the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to prior Shareholders’ approval in
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer. Upon acceptance of the share options,
a nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable for the grant of
options and such payment shall not be refundable. There is no
minimum period for which a share option must be held before it
can be exercised and no performance target need to be achieved
by a grantee before the share options can be exercised unless the
Directors otherwise determined.

The exercise price shall be at a price determined by the Directors
at its absolute discretion and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of s Share of the Company on the date of
offer.

The share option scheme remains valid for a period of ten years
commencing on June 13, 2019. As at December 31, 2019, no
option had been granted or agreed to be granted, and thus no
options had been exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the share
option scheme. As a result, the total number of Shares available
for grant under the share option scheme was 50,654,643,
representing 3% of the total Shares in issue of the Company as at
June 13, 2019, the adoption date of the share option scheme and
representing 3% of the total Shares in issue of the Company as at
the date of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, although there are no restrictions against such
rights under the laws in the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders of the Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors believe that the ability to attract, motivate and retain
skilled and experienced personnel is of significant importance to the
longterm successful development of the Group. The remuneration
package for our employees generally includes salary and bonuses.
We determine employee remuneration based on factors such as
qualifications and years of experience. Employees also receive
welfare benefits, including medical care, retirement benefits,
occupational injury insurance and other miscellaneous items. We
make contributions to mandatory social security funds for our
employees to provide for retirement, medical, work-related injury,
maternity and unemployment benefits. The Group has established
a Remuneration Committee to review the policy and structure of
the remuneration for the Directors and senior management and
make recommendations on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. In general, the Group
determines the emolument payable to its Directors based on
each Director’'s qualifications, experience, time commitment and
responsibilities, salaries paid by comparable companies as well as
the performance of the Group.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Particulars of the employee benefits of the Group are set out in
note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended
December 31, 2019 is set out below:

EEREA

REBEEBAFBEHNE OB R KM 5T
6(b) °

BELEEATAMTAEXEB.1.50
BHE T WG+ _A=T—"HILFESH
TEENFESFWNEESIMOT ¢

Number of senior

managements
Remuneration band N E EREEEAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 5
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,0017% 7T £ 3,000,000/% 7T 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7L 25,000,000/ 7T 1
PUBLIC FLOAT ARERE
As at the Latest Practicable Date and based on the information that REBERATHHEEENRAKR AT A ESH

is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained minimum public float of
25% as required under the Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or their respective associates to subscribe for securities
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in
the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, nor
did the Company enter into any equity-linked agreement.
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DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group in 2019.

In order to eliminate any future competition with us, Mr. WANG
Huainan undertook to us on November 6, 2018 that, so long as
he remains as our largest Shareholder of the Company, he will
not, and will procure all companies he controls not to engage
in or develop any business competing or potentially competing
with our main business or key products, including investment in,
mergers and acquisitions of any companies, entities or economic
organizations engaged in the same or similar core business or
primarily manufacturing the same or similar products. In addition,
he acknowledged that the Group shall have priority to develop any
new business in the future, and he will not, and will procure any
companies controlled by him not to develop such new business.
Mr. WANG Huainan has ceased to be the largest Shareholder of
the Company with effect from October 10, 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director, auditor or
other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred
or sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the
Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.
Subject to the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company,
the Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage,
charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the
assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director
or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect
of such liability. Such provisions were in force throughout the year
ended December 31, 2019 and are currently in force. The Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be brought against the
Directors.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We set out below a summary of the connected transactions
(including continuing connected transactions) conducted/carried out
by the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Connected Transaction

Acquisitions of Equity Interest and Capital Increase in
Stardoctor

On May 28, 2019, Haitun International entered into an equity
interest transfer agreement with Fosun Pharma and Wanbang
Cloud Health, pursuant to which Haitun International shall acquire
15% equity interest in Stardoctor from Fosun Pharma and 5%
equity interest in Stardoctor from Wanbang Cloud Health, at a total
consideration of RMB3.6 million.

On July 15, 2019, Haitun International entered into a capital
increase agreement with Fosun Pharma and Fosun Health, pursuant
to which the parties agreed to increase the registered capital of
Stardoctor from RMB18 million to RMB26 million and contribute to
the capital increase in proportion to their respective shareholding
in Stardoctor. Accordingly, Haitun International contributed RMB4
million.

At the time of the acquisitions of equity interest and capital increase
in Stardoctor, Wanbang Cloud Health was indirectly held as to
74% by Fosun Pharma. Fosun Pharma was a 30%-controlled
company of Fosun International and Fosun Health was an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International. Fosun International
indirectly held more than 10% equity interest in the Company and
thus a Substantial Shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, each
of Wanbang Cloud Health, Fosun Pharma and Fosun Health was
an associate of Fosun International and a connected person of the
Company.

For more details, please see the announcement of the Company
published on July 15, 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Connected Transaction (Continued)
Acquisition of Future Chaser

On July 15, 2019, BabyTree Hong Kong entered into a share
transfer agreement with Dragon Cloud, pursuant to which BabyTree
Hong Kong shall acquire 100% equity interest in Future Chaser
from Dragon Cloud, at a consideration of the USD equivalent of
RMB43.5 million.

Ms. TANG Yu is the spouse of Mr. WANG Huainan, who is the
chief executive and a Substantial Shareholder of the Company and
thus a connected person. Dragon Cloud is wholly owned by Ms.
TANG Yu. Therefore, each of Dragon Cloud and Ms. TANG Yu is an
associate of Mr. WANG Huainan and thus a connected person of
the Company.

For more details, please see the announcement of the Company
published on July 15, 2019.

Continuing Connected Transactions

We set out below a summary of the continuing connected
transactions for our Group, which are subject to the reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Service Agreement with Stardoctor

On March 7, 2019, Zhongming entered into a service agreement
with Stardoctor for a term of one year, pursuant to which
Stardoctor will land on the platforms of Zhongming, providing online
services of Expert Q&A and Mood Talking and pay technical service
fee to Zhongming. The service fees will be collected from customers
by Zhongming on behalf of Stardoctor and paid to Stardoctor by
Zhongming on a monthly basis. The technical service fee is 15% of
the relevant service fees for Expert Q&A business, and 15% of the
relevant service fees for Mood Talking business. Zhongming shall
provide continuing display of Stardoctor’s brand on its platforms,
and make marketing initiative to promote the brand both online and
offline. Upon the expiry of the service agreement, Zhongming may
propose to renew it for another one year under the same terms and
conditions and with written consent from Stardoctor.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Service Agreement with Stardoctor (Continued)

Stardoctor is a 30%-controlled company of Fosun Health, which
is a fellow subsidiary of Startree with Fosun International being the
holding company of both Stardoctor and Startree. Thus, Stardoctor
is an associate of Startree in accordance with Rule 14A.13(3) of
the Listing Rules. Startree holds more than 10% equity interest in
the Company, and thus a Substantial Shareholder and a connected
person of the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.07(1) of the
Listing Rules. Therefore, Stardoctor is a connected person of the
Company in accordance with Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules.
For more details, please see the announcement of the Company
published on March 7, 2019.

Contractual Arrangements

The Company has entered into a series of contractual arrangements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with BabyTree Information,
Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders of Zhongming, under
which the Company gained effective control over, and received all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity. The Contractual Arrangements
allow the financial results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to be
consolidated and accounted for as if they were subsidiaries of our
Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

We are engaged in the provision of Internet content services
(the “Relevant Businesses”) in the PRC, which is considered
value-added telecommunication services, a sector where foreign
investment is subject to restrictions under the PRC laws and
regulations.

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity is Zhongming, a company
established under the laws of the PRC, which holds the requisite
license, permit and approval required for the provision of Internet
content services through our mobile apps and websites in the PRC,
including the ICP license, which are essential to the operation of our
business. For further details of the limitations on foreign ownership
in PRC companies conducting value-added telecommunications
services and the licensing and approval requirement applicable
to our business under the PRC laws and regulations, please see
section headed “Regulatory Overview-Laws and Regulations
in Relation to Foreign Investments in the Value-added
Telecommunications Industry” in the Prospectus.

Since the Relevant Businesses are classified as foreign investment
restricted businesses under applicable PRC laws, regulations
or rules and there is no clear guidance or interpretation of any
applicable qualification requirements, in order to comply with PRC
laws and regulations and maintain effective control over our Internet
content service operations, our Group entered into the Contractual
Arrangements with Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders.
Under the Contractual Arrangements, BabyTree Information
has acquired effective control over the financial and operational
management and results of Zhongming and is entitled to all the
economic benefits derived from the operations of Zhongming. The
Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive substantially all
of the economic benefits from Zhongming in consideration for the
services provided by BabyTree Information to Zhongming under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement; (i) exercise effective
control over Zhongming to conduct the relevant business; and
(i) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or any part of equity
interests in Zhongming and/or assets or interests in any of the
assets of Zhongming.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Our Directors, including our independent non-executive Directors,
are of the view that (i) the Contractual Arrangements are
fundamental to our Group’s legal structure and business operations;
and (i) the Contractual Arrangements are on normal commercial
terms or on terms more favorable to our Group in the ordinary and
usual course of our Group’s business and are fair and reasonable
or to the advantage of our Group and are in the interests of our
Shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements technically constitute
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, our Directors consider that, given that our Group is placed
in a special situation in relation to the connected transactions
rules under the Contractual Arrangements, it would be unduly
burdensome and impracticable, and would add unnecessary
administrative costs to our Company, for all the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements to be subject
to strict compliance with the requirements set out under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, including, among other things, the
announcement and approval of independent Shareholders.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
84 to 90 of the Prospectus.

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating our business in China
do not comply with PRC laws and regulations, or if these
regulations or their interpretations change in the future,
we could be subject to severe consequences and the
relinquishment of our interests in the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

° Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership and our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity or its shareholders may fail to
perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

° We may lose the ability to use the permits and licenses
held by Zhongming that are important to the operation of
our business if Zhongming declares bankruptcy or become
subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° Shareholders of Zhongming may potentially have a conflict of
interest with us, and they may breach their contracts with us
or cause such contracts to be amended in a manner contrary
to our interests.

° We conduct relevant business operation in the PRC through
our Consolidated Affiliated Entity by way of the Contractual
Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC laws.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership of our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the ownership transfer may
subject us to certain limitations and substantial costs.

° Our Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by
the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed.
A finding that we owe additional taxes could substantially
reduce our consolidated net income and the value of
Shareholders’ investment.

We face uncertainties with respect to the implementation of the

FIL and how it may impact the viability of our current corporate
structure, corporate governance and business operations.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

Since January 1, 2020, the FIL, which was approved by the National
People’s Congress on March 15, 2019 has taken effect, replaced
the Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law (R IMNE &£
E1{%5%)), the Sino-Foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise
Law (FRINETEEZEDZEIL)) and the Wholly Foreign-Owned
Enterprise Law (ZNERZIE)), together with their implementation
rules and ancillary regulations, and become the legal foundation
for foreign investment in the PRC. The FIL embodies an expected
PRC regulatory trend to rationalize its foreign investment regulatory
regime in line with prevailing international practice and the legislative
efforts to unify the corporate legal requirements for both foreign and
domestic investments. Under the FIL, “foreign investment” refers to
the investment activities directly or indirectly conducted by foreign
individuals, enterprises or other entities in China. The FIL stipulates
three forms of foreign investment, and does not explicitly stipulate
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment. However,
it has a catch-all provision under definition of “foreign investment”
to include investments made by foreign investors in China through
means stipulated by laws or administrative regulations or other
methods prescribed by the State Council. Therefore, there
are possibilities that future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions prescribed by the State Council may regard contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which time it
would be uncertain as to whether foreign investment via contractual
arrangements would be deemed to be in violation of the foreign
investment access requirements and how the abovementioned
contractual arrangements would be regulated. On December 26,
2019, the State Council issued the Implementation Regulations for
the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (A RZLMBE SN HE
SEBERIED)) (the “Implementation Regulations”) which became
effective on January 1, 2020. The Implementation Regulations
also does not specify contractual arrangements as a form of
foreign investment. There is no guarantee that the contractual
arrangements and our business will not be materially and adversely
affected in the future due to changes in PRC laws and regulations.
If future laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed
by the State Council mandate further actions to be completed
by companies with existing contractual arrangements, we may
face substantial uncertainties as to whether such actions can be
timely completed, or at all. Failure to take timely and appropriate
measures to cope with any of these or similar regulatory compliance
challenges could materially and adversely affect our current
corporate structure and business operations.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) BEXS (#)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements ASHNZEETEKRABUE
—NWF+-_A=Z+—BHLFESE
MOENLHERGHNLTHEETEBEONE
TR T -

7

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the REBZ_=-Z
year ended December 31, 2019 and a brief description of the
major terms of the structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements are as follows:

124

Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement

Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders entered into
an exclusive option and equity entrustment agreement with
BabyTree Information on May 23, 2018 (the “Exclusive
Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement”), pursuant to
which (i) BabyTree Information, or any third party designated
by BabyTree Information (the “designee”), was granted an
irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase from each of the
Registered Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests
in Zhongming at a fixed exercise price (the “Exercise Price”)
and/or from Zhongming all or any part of its assets or interests
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in any of its assets, for a consideration with reference to the ﬁB@iEE M EEXREETMNEE 2
total or relevant portion of the Exercise Price, and (i) the P R(NBEBRETNAREERBERE
Registered Shareholders irrevocably and exclusively entrusted E%Eﬁém”%E’Jﬂx%%gg\ﬁ@wiﬁh

their equity interest in Zhongming to BabyTree Information
or the designee. Pursuant to the Exclusive Option and
Equity Entrustment Agreement, the Registered Shareholders
shall return any amount of purchase price exceeding the
Exercise Price they have received to BabyTree Information. At
BabyTree Information’s request, the Registered Shareholders
and/or Zhongming will promptly and unconditionally transfer
their respective equity interest in and/or assets of Zhongming
to BabyTree Information (or its designee) after BabyTree
Information exercises its purchase right. The Exclusive Option
and Equity Entrustment Agreement will remain effective until
the purchase right thereunder is exercised.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

° Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders entered
into an exclusive business cooperation agreement with
BabyTree Information on May 23, 2018 (the “Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant to which
Zhongming agreed to engage BabyTree Information as its
exclusive provider of management, consultancy, technical
support, business support and equipment services. Under
these arrangements, the service fees, subject to BabyTree
Information’s adjustment, shall consist of all of the profit
before taxes of Zhongming. BabyTree Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, taking into consideration
certain factors, including but not limited to the deduction of
operating costs, expenses and other statutory contribution in
relation to the respective fiscal year. The service fees shall be
paid annually by Zhongming upon receipt of invoice issued by
BabyTree Information.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
BabyTree Information has the exclusive and proprietary
rights to all intellectual properties developed by Zhongming
and enjoys all the economic benefits generated from such
intellectual properties, which will not be affected by the
amendment, rescission or termination of the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain
effective until (i) BabyTree Information exercises its exclusive
option to purchase the entire equity interests of the Registered
Shareholders in Zhongming and/or the entire assets of
Zhongming pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option and
Equity Entrustment Agreement; or (i) termination unilaterally
made by BabyTree Information upon presentation of written
notice 30 days in advance.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

o Share Pledge Agreement

Zhongming, the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree
Information entered into a share pledge agreement on May 23,
2018 (the “Share Pledge Agreement”’), pursuant to which,
the Registered Shareholders pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Zhongming to BabyTree Information
as collateral security to guarantee performance of their
contractual obligations under the Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement, the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement and the Powers of Attorney (as defined below).

The pledge in respect of shares of Zhongming takes
effect upon completion of registration with the relevant
administrative authorities, and shall be recorded on the
register of shareholders and capital contribution certificate
of the Registered Shareholders. If any of the items filed
with the authorities under the Share Pledge Agreement
shall be amended or updated, Zhongming shall amend
such items within 10 days upon the relevant events occur.
Should an event of default (as provided in the Share Pledge
Agreement) occurs, unless it is successfully resolved to
BabyTree Information’s satisfaction within 10 days upon being
notified by BabyTree Information, BabyTree Information by
issuing written notification may exercise its right of pledge
immediately or any time thereafter pursuant to the Share
Pledge Agreement. The Registered Shareholders have
agreed to irrevocably waive their pre-emptive right as existing
shareholders when BabyTree Information exercises such right
of pledge.

The Share Pledge Agreement will not terminate until () all
obligations of Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders
are satisfied in full; or (i) BabyTree Information exercises its
exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests of
the Registered Shareholders in Zhongming and/or the entire
assets of Zhongming pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive
Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement.

The pledges under the Share Pledge Agreement have been

duly registered with the relevant PRC legal authority pursuant
to PRC laws and regulations.
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EFTHE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

o Powers of Attorney

An irrevocable power of attorney was entered into between
each of the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree
Information on May 23, 2018 (the “Powers of Attorney”),
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders
appointed BabyTree Information and/or its designated persons
as his/its exclusive agent and attorney to act on his/its behalf
on all matters concerning Zhongming and to exercise all of
his/its rights as shareholder of Zhongming.

As a result of the Powers of Attorney, the Company, through
BabyTree Information, is able to exercise management
control over the activities that most significantly impact the
economic performance of Zhongming. The Powers of Attorney
will be automatically terminated on the earlier of (i) the date
the Registered Shareholder ceases to be the shareholder
of Zhongming and (ii) the expiry date of operating period of
Zhongming. In addition, the Registered Shareholders and
BabyTree Information undertake to terminate the Powers of
Attorney once BabyTree Information is allowed to directly
hold equity interests in Zhongming and operate the relevant
business once permitted under the then PRC laws.

o Spousal Undertakings

The spouse of each of Mr. WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG
Changying, Mr. WANG Yawei and Mr. SHAO Zhenping
executed an irrevocable undertaking on May 23, 2018,
pursuant to which each of them expressly, unconditionally
and irrevocably acknowledged and has undertaken that (i)
any equity interests held by their respective spouse as a
Registered Shareholder in Zhongming do not fall within the
scope of their communal properties; (i) each of them will not
take any measures that are in conflict with the Contractual
Arrangements, including any claims on the interests
through legal proceedings; and (iii) each of them will take
any necessary measures to procure the execution of the
Contractual Arrangements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

° Loan Agreement

BabyTree Information and Mr. WANG Huainan entered into a
loan agreement on May 23, 2018 (the “Loan Agreement’),
pursuant to which BabyTree Information provided Mr. WANG
Huainan a loan in principal amount of RMB2,718,538,767.2
(the “Principal Amount”) to acquire the equity interests
in Zhongming held by its then shareholders other than
Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo Baoshu, Ningbo Honghu, Ningbo
Yimengweima and himself for the purpose of further stabilizing
the corporate structure under the Contractual Arrangements.
As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. WANG Huainan has fully
utilized the amount of the loan, among which an aggregate
of RMB63,393,845.6 was paid to Mr. WANG Yawei, Mr.
WANG Changying, Mr. SHAO Zhenping and Beijing Lujin
as advanced payment for their respective equity interests in
Zhongmingand the remaining RMB2,655,144,921.6 was paid
to other existing shareholders to purchase their respective
equity interests in Zhongming. Please see section headed
“History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure-Pre-IPO
Reorganization” in the Prospectus. The loan to Mr. WANG
Huainan is treated as deemed investment to Zhongming, and
was used to purchase its shares from the other shareholders
for the purpose of stabilizing the Group’s corporate structure
under the Contractual Arrangements, and was eliminated
with the total equity of Zhongming when the consolidated
financial statements of the Group was prepared. All the
equity interests in Zhongming held and to be acquired by Mr.
WANG Huainan (the “Acquired Interests”) will be pledged
to BabyTree Information. Mr. WANG Huainan will not need to
repay the loan, unless BabyTree Information (or its assignee)
acquires all the Acquired Interests under the condition that
such acquisition is allowed under the then PRC laws and
regulations. The consideration for the Acquired Interests
payable by BabyTree Information equals the Principal Amount
and will be offset by the repayment by Mr. WANG Huainan
under the Loan Agreement.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

° Loan Agreement (Continued)
The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of

economic benefits from Zhongming and its subsidiaries to our
Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:

Baby Tree Information
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I
Business | | (1) Powers of attorney to exercise all shareholder’ rights in Zhongming
support, | TS EMIRENNETE
technical | (2) Exclusive option to acquire and equity entrustment on all or part
and | | Services of the equity interest in and/or assets of Zhongming 100%
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(1) Please refer to “Powers of Attorney” for details. (1) HEBEBFLEIZEE]-
2 Please refer to “Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement” for  (2) HIEZ2H [ BRESENMBELERZE] -
details.

3) Please refer to “Share Pledge Agreement” for details.

(4) Please refer to “Loan Agreement” for details.

5) Please refer to “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement” for details.

“—” denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest and
“———" denotes contractual relationship.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the financial
year ended December 31, 2019. There was no material change
in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under
which they were adopted for the year ended December 31, 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, none of the Contractual
Arrangements has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements has been removed.

We have been advised by our PRC legal advisors that the
Contractual Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC
regulations.

The revenue of Zhongming and its subsidiaries but excluding
operations held by BabyTree Information and Meitun Mama for
the year ended December 31, 2019 was RMB330.1 million,
representing approximately 92.5% of the revenue for the year of the
Group.

As of December 31, 2019, total assets held by Zhongming but
excluding the intragroup loan (the “Intragroup Loan”) from
Zhongming to BabyTree Information was RMB935.0 million,
representing approximately 30.6% of the total assets of the Group.
Please see page 133 of the Prospectus for details of the Intragroup
Loan.

Mitigation Actions taken by the Company
Our management works closely with our executive Directors and
our external legal counsels and advisors to monitor the regulatory

environment and developments in PRC laws and regulations to
mitigate the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Extent to which the Contractual Arrangements relate
to Requirements other than the Foreign Ownership
Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 252 to 268 of the Prospectus.

Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
associated with the Contractual Arrangements are expected to
be more than 5%. As such, the transactions will be subject to
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver pursuant
to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from (i) strict compliance
with the announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements;
i.e. an annual cap for the
fees payable to BabyTree Information from Zhongming under the

(ii) setting
a maximum aggregate annual value,

Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) fixing the term of the Contractual
Arrangements to three years or less, for so long as the Shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange subject to the following conditions:

a) no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

b)  no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;
c) the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable our

Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity;
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Waiver from the Stock Exchange (Continued)

d) the Contractual Arrangements may be renewed and/or
reproduced upon expiry of the existing arrangements or in
relation to any existing or new wholly foreign-owned enterprise
or operating company (including branch company) engaging
in the same business as that of the Group which the Group
might wish to establish when justified by business expediency,
without obtaining Shareholders’ approval, on substantially the
same terms and conditions as the Contractual Arrangements;
and

e) our Group will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an ongoing basis.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried during the year ended December 31, 2019 had been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Contractual Arrangements, (i) no dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2019, (i) no new contracts had been entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity during the year ended December 31, 2019, and
(iv) the Contractual Arrangements were entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial
terms or better, and according to the relevant agreement governing
the Contractual Arrangements on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

QOur independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the aforesaid continuing connected transactions other than the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that they have been
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according
to the relevant agreement governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Confirmations from the Company’s Independent Auditor

The Auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the
Board that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions entered into in the year ended December 31, 2019:

a) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board.

b)  for transactions involving the provision of services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes the
Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group.

c) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor
to believe that any dividends or other distributions have been
made by Zhongming to the holders of its equity interests
which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group.

e) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, no related party

transactions disclosed in note 33(b) to the financial statements

constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the Listing

Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements

prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the

connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the year under review.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in

information of Directors of the Company since the Company’s last

published interim report and up to the Latest Practicable Date are

set out below:

1)

Mr. JING Jie has tendered his resignation as a non-executive
Director to better focus on other business engagements,
effective from October 31, 2019; and Mr. MA Jiangwei has
tendered his resignation as a non-executive Director to as
a result of his change of position within TAL, effective from
January 20, 2020.

Mr. WU Ying has been appointed by the Board as a
non-executive Director effective from January 20, 2020.

Mr. HU Weixiong has been appointed by the Board as a non-
executive Director effective from October 31, 2019, and has
tendered his resignation as a non-executive Director to better
focus on his other business engagements, effective from
March 30, 2020.

Mr. WANG Changying has been appointed by the Board as
the Vice Chairman of the Company effective from March 30,
2020.

Save as disclosed above and in the sections headed “Directors and

Senior Management” and “Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters

of Appointment”, there are no other information required to be

disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, June 11, 2020.
A notice convening the AGM and all other relevant documents will
be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of the Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the Company’s register of members will be closed from
Friday, June 5, 2020 to Thursday, June 11, 2020, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of share will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered
holders of shares of the Company shall ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, June 4, 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 52 to 85 of
this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Group and discussed the
Group’s risk management, internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The audit committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2019.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019
have been audited by KPMG who shall retire at the forthcoming
AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
KPMG as the auditor of the Company.

Save as otherwise stated, all references above to other sections,
reports or notes in this annual report form part of this Directors’
Report.

On behalf of the Board

WANG Huainan
Chairman

March 30, 2020
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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§1 REPORT ON ESG

This report is the second Environmental, Social and Governance
(‘ESG”) Report released by BabyTree Group. This report focuses
on the Company’s efforts and contributions to the environment,
society and governance, as well as our outlook for the future. We
hope that through the publication of this report, we will strengthen
communication and liaison with our stakeholders.

The Board of Directors and all the Directors of the Company hereby
warrant that the contents of this report do not contain any false
representations, misleading statements or material omissions and
take joint and several liabilities for the authenticity, accuracy and
completeness of the contents.

Business Description

The Company’s continuing operations mainly consist of two
platforms, i.e. Babytree Parenting and WeTime. Babytree Parenting
platform, an online platform for expecting parents and young
parents in China to communicate with each other and find the best
pregnancy and parenting advice, comprises Babytree Parenting
mobile app and babytree.com. WeTime platform focuses on
child development, providing social recording medium and early
education content and tools. In addition, the Company conducts
business through Meitun Mama, an M&C product-focused
e-commerce platform.

Reference Remarks
In order to facilitate the presentation and be easy to read,

“BabyTree Group” in this report is referred to as “BabyTree”, “the
Company” and “We”.
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Reporting Period

The Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
is an annual report for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019.

Basis of Preparation

The contents of this report are prepared in the light of the
requirements of Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Access to this Report

You can download the Chinese and English version of this report
on the website of the Stock Exchange at http://www.hkexnews.hk
or the website of the Company at ir.babytree.com. This report is
published in both Chinese and English. In case of any discrepancies
among the different versions, the Chinese version shall prevail.

§2 ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY CONCEPTS AND
MANAGEMENT

The Company mainly engages in the operation of maternity
and child-focused community platforms, which is committed to
connecting and serving young families, so that young families can
enjoy a wonderful life journey. “Kind-hearted, Honest, Economical
and Joyful Win (E&1517, B4 #m&)” are the Company’s core
values. The Company strives to build an internet-based platform
but not rigidly sticking to the internet for the satisfaction of needs
of young Chinese families to learn, communicate, record and shop.
It is the Company’s basic social responsibility to enable young
Chinese parents to cultivate healthy, friendly, intelligent and brave
next generation through sharing and communication.
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While paying attention to economic benefits, the Company identifies
environmental and social impacts in the operation process, respects
the interests of internal and external stakeholders, and adopts
positive response measures in these processes in order to achieve
harmonious coexistence between Company operations and society
and the environment.

§3 MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
§3.1 Materiality Assessment Procedures

1)  ESG issues related to the Company are identified by analysing
the HKEx ESG Reporting Guide and peer disclosure issues;

2)  Key stakeholders are invited to assess the materiality of the
identified issues. Internal stakeholders mainly consider the
Company’s long-term development strategy, management
improvement, investment urgency and competitive advantage.
External stakeholders mainly consider the degree of influence
on the Company’s evaluation and decision-making and the
impact on the external stakeholders’ interests. The evaluation
of internal and external stakeholders will be integrated to form
the first draft of the materiality matrix;

3)  Materiality of the issues to be reviewed by the Company’s
management is prioritized;

4)  After the reporting period, the Company will organize internal
and external stakeholders to give feedback on the contents of
this report to prepare for the next report.
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§3.2 Issues Materiality Matrix §32EEEEMEME

Impact of the Issues on the Company

B b RSNG| 2

High
=

AUse of energy BE
A Waste disposal

4 AUse of water 7K B R FA
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R
and recycling

External Stakeholders’ Judgment on Materiality of the Issues

AGHG emission /ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁy
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§4 PRODUCTS FOR LOVE, PREGNANCY AND
PARENTING

§4.1 Building an Outstanding M&C Community

As a leading brand in China’s M&C community, BabyTree is
committed to connecting and serving young families, taking
“let young families enjoy a beautiful journey greeting new life —
pregnancy, parenting and teaching” as its development mission.
Based on channels including BabyTree Parenting APP, WeTime
APP, and WeChat official account and BabyTree official website,
BabyTree has built a BabyTree community platform with strong
social networking functions and high-quality contents. BabyTree
provides comprehensive products and services on this community
platform to meet the seven core needs of young families before
and after birth of babies: knowledge acquisition, sharing and
communication, companion growth, shopping, early education,
health services and financial services. The aim is to cultivate a
healthy, friendly, intelligent and brave new generation.

Knowledge acquisition is mothers’ important need. BabyTree
provides full support to mothers with knowledge contents and
content acquisition methods. BabyTree provides users with
knowledge covering the entire life cycle in the form of “Daily
Knowledge”. It provides universal knowledge of health care and
child development through M&C featured topics and research
institutes; provide targeted professional knowledge for mothers
through community forums, replies from experts. Via the open
platform and KOL system, more professional production contents
are presented on the BabyTree platform to meet users’ appetite
for related professional knowledge related to newborn babies and
the like. At the same time, BabyTree will offer a function known
as “facial recognition for all users” based on big data and user
portraits to provide users more accurate content recommendations.
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In 2019, the Company focused on BabyTree’s unique IP “BabyTree
Research Institutes”, such as the Breast Milk Research Institute,
Organic Research Institute, Digestion and Absorption Research
Institute, Digiao Calcium Nutrition Research Institute. BabyTree fully
understood the problems faced by young families and provided
more professional and targeted supports to young families with
babies. Through online courses, online Q&A, and front edge
consulting, issues relating to baby health, diet and newborn
childcare knowledge which puzzled novice parents were addressed
specifically and professional supports were extended.

babytree
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BabyTree Research Institutes
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For sharing and idea exchange, the Company provides mothers
with communication platforms featuring KOLs, same-age
group, same-city group, interest topics, etc., so as to build a
communication channel for mothers. Helping to capture the
interesting moments of parenting, the Company provides recording
tools for photo albums and videos to record every moment of
baby’s growth and encourage more relatives and friends to
participate and interact. Catering to various needs for shopping,
the Company has multiple shopping platforms for mothers. The
Company cooperated with Alibaba to create a shopping content
system, such as an upgraded version of Global Treasure Hunting,
to provide Chinese mothers with a one-stop search for high-quality
original M&C products from every part of the world. In 2019, the
Company cooperated with Feihe and Maeil to build the China site
and South Korea site. Regarding early education, the Company
cooperates with postdoctoral teams from Harvard University
and Hong Kong University to establish assessment, task, and
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learning mechanisms for baby’s growth, and to popularize early
education so that babies from families of less favourable economic
conditions can also access to the professional system for early
education. In terms of health services, the Company provides
accurate Internet-based matching of M&C groups for users, and
has launched the Internet health consulting platform “Stardoctor”
to provide young families with friendly and caring health consulting
services. In terms of financial services, the Company makes
good use of data to analyse the financial scenarios and needs of
young families, while matching, optimizing and innovating financial
products for the promotion of health and education.
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In addition, in order to help younger parents to take better care
of their babies, understand their needs, and improve interaction
with their babies, the Company launched a number of products
in artificial intelligence, such as a baby crying translator. Signals
received indicating baby’s cry are automatically translated into text,
and its accuracy rate is more than 80%. At the same time, the
Company is cooperating with Alibaba Dharma Institute to create a
product that can simulate parents’ voices and read picture books
for babies.

In 2019, the Company won the “Most Popular APP
Award 2018” granted by telworld.com.cn, the “Cutting-
edge Parenting MCN Agency in 2019” awarded by https://
www.toutiao.com/, and the “2019 Most Popular M&C App
Award” and “2019 M&C Industry Leader” title awarded by
www.cnr.cn., “2019 Top Ten Innovative Brands of China’s Economy
(Industry)” title awarded by the Economy Magazine, and “2019
Excellent Star” title awarded by Analyses International.

In the future, the Company plans to build a content ecosystem with
diversified contents in various forms including texts, graphics, audio,
long videos, short videos, live stream. Through multi-dimensional
content building including such aspects as early education tasks,
health services, maternity and post-partum recovery, financial
services, user’s life cycle is broadened and user’s stickiness toward
the platform is enhanced.

2019 Most Popular M&C APP Award
2019F E & X EA & 2 APP
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§4.2 Customer Service and Complaints

Adhering to the service philosophy of “to empower young
families to enjoy the beautiful journey of life”, BabyTree has
formulated management systems such as Service Standards (AR
HIEA)), Service Slogan (ARFSFETT)) and Quality Inspection
Standards Z#IZ%)), which are uniformly managed by the
Customer Service Department. The Company’s customer service
includes the processes of consultation and reception as well
as complaint handling. Users can send their feedback and the
issues encountered by them in respect of products and services
through various channels including the customer service window
of BabyTree Parenting APP and WeTime APP, the Company’s
official hotline, chat page on the Company’s website and WeChat
official account. Upon receipt of the feedback from the users,
the Company’s customer service staff will respond within 30
seconds and resolve the issues within 48 hours. If users have
any complaints, they can also contact customer service through
the aforementioned channels, or contact the customer service
staff through the window of complaint & suggestion on the official
website. The Company’s customer service staff will handle user
complaints received prior to 4:00 p.m. on the same day and timely
communicate with the users by phone in respect of the relevant
details of the complaints. The customer service staff will handle
user complaints previously received after 4:00 p.m. the next day
before noon and get in touch with the users.

The Company highly values the demand from each user, dealing
with all demands under the principle of consensus with the user
and offering more than two proposals for the option of users.
During the reporting period, the Company cumulatively dealt with
more than 3,400 complaints, with more than 80% of the complaints
being settled within 3 days, and the results thereof were recognized
and praised by users.
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On August 31, 2018, the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress (EBEIARREZARAEEHKEZE L) promulgated
the E-commerce Law of the People’s Republic of China { FFZEEA
RAFMBEEFEBEE) (the “E-Commerce Law”), which became
effective on January 1, 2019. The E-Commerce Law establishes
the regulatory framework for the e-commerce sector in the PRC
for the first time by laying out certain requirements on e-commerce
operators, including the electronic commerce operators and
e-commerce platform operators like us.

Pursuant to the E-Commerce Law, e-commerce platform operators
are required to, among others, (i) take necessary actions or
report to relevant competent government authorities when such
operators notice any illegal production or services provided by
merchants on the e-commerce platforms; (i) verify the identity of
the business operators on the platforms, including but not limited
to verify the business license, Medical Institution Practicing License,
Medical Advertisement Review Certificate, physician qualification
certificate, or other applicable qualifications, as appropriate; (iii)
provide identity and tax related information of merchants to local
branches of the State Administration for Market Regulation (BIZX
TIHEBEIEE) and tax bureaus; and (iv) record and preserve
goods and service information and transaction information on the
e-commerce platform. The E-Commerce Law also specifically
stipulates that e-commerce platform operators shall not impose
unreasonable restrictions or conditions on the transactions of their
business operators on the platforms. According to the E-Commerce
Law, failures to comply with these requirements may cause the
e-commerce platform operators subject to administrative penalties,
fines and/or the suspension of business. In addition, for goods and
services provided via e-commerce platforms and pertinent to the
life and health of consumers, e-commerce operators shall meet the
requirements for the protection of personal and property safety and
environmental protection requirements, and shall not sell products
or provide services which are prohibited by laws or administrative
regulations, while e-commerce platform operators shall bear
relevant responsibilities, which may give rise to civil or criminal
liabilities if the consumers suffered damages due to the e-commerce
platform operators’ failure to duly verify the qualifications or the
licenses of the business operators on the platforms or to duly
perform their safety protection obligations as required by the
E-Commerce Law.
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The Company strictly abides by the E-commerce Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FZEARXFBEE FREHE)), the
Consumer Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (&
FARLFEEEE#EZFREL)) and other relevant laws and
regulations to protect customers’ legitimate rights, and pays
close attention to the quality of goods and services from us or
our platform user. In response to customer needs for return
and exchange, the Company has set up self-service return and
exchange service functions on various commodity sales platforms.
When users have a request for return or exchange after purchasing
a product, they can initiate an application on the APP page or
official account by themselves or seek help by contacting customer
service staff through various channels and the Company’s customer
service staff will review it on the same day. After passing the review
and receiving the product returned by the customer, the refund
and replacement will be processed. During the reporting period,
the Company dealt with a total of 30,811 customers’ requests on
returns and exchanges, with an average processing cycle of 3.94
days. We have also adopted measures to verify the authenticity
of products sold on our platform and to immediately remove any
counterfeit products found on our platform.

During the reporting period, the Company was not aware of any
material violation of regulations on product and service liability.

§4.3 User Satisfaction Improvement

The Company strictly abides by the Network Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China (F#ZEARKEMBEPLE L 2E)), the
Interim Provisions on the Administration of Internet Culture K&
GRS B EITIRE)), the Internet Forum Community Services
Management Provisions  EE@EREALEREEERE)) and
other relevant laws and regulations. In terms of user satisfaction
improvement, the Company centred on users’ needs and set up
the BabyTree Research Institutes for its users to continuously tap
users’ needs and improve defected products through online and
offline combination. For online speaking, the Company pushes
product satisfaction questionnaire to users on a monthly basis,
conducts customer services telephone follow-up and provides
a platform where users’ feedback is taken by the APP; and for
offline speaking, the Company organizes an internal survey with
parents and conducts an interview with users, including home
visit, pregnancy test accompanying, focus group and return visit of
targeting groups.
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The Company improves its e-commerce platform and content
monetization on an ongoing basis. Firstly, the Company collects
user’'s needs mainly through the questionnaire mentioned above,
user’'s feedback, the points consulted by users in content
monetization, as well as its strong community big data analysis.
The system will carry out layered analysis based on the aforesaid
data, and improve conversion rate by user’s visit path, to provide
users with accurate contents and goods in line with their needs.
For healthcare products, the Company has a strict quality review
criteria, seeking cooperation with physicians from Class Ill Grade A
hospitals and Level Il or above dieticians in general.

In providing quality services to corporate customers, the Company
is in strict compliance with the Advertisement Law of the People’s
Republic of China (##EARKEFMBEREEE)). We updated our
advertisement sample in each civil year, covering resource types,
locations, names, KPI, prices and corresponding screenshot.
In addition, the Company developed feasible and effective
promotion plans and conducted regular meetings for customers
to talk over problems at each stage, giving feedback on team
service satisfaction. At the Golden Tree Award event held by
BabyTree Parenting APP, the Company underwent an in-depth
communication with its partners in respect of industry outlook and
shared industry experience with each other.

§4.4 System Stability Assurance

The provision of continuous and reliable services to users is based
on a sound system stability. Detailed objectives are as follows:
firstly, to improve system stability, optimize system functions, refine
available plans at varied levels, and carry out regular switch-over
drills, etc.; secondly, to improve system’s RTO' and RPO?, perfect
system’s backup mechanism, conduct regular backup and
recovery test, and subdivide code and data; thirdly, to improve
system’s monitoring and self-recovery at varied levels, and enhance
automatic fault handling mechanism, etc.

i RTO (Recovery Time Obijective) refers to the length of time allowed by the
enterprise for service interruption.

2 RPO (Recovery Point Objective) refers to the time point corresponding to
the recovered data after recovery of service.
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In order to improve the stability and security of the system
operation, the Company has introduced management systems such
as BabyTree Business Continuity Plan (BB 2 %5E et E])),
Measures on BabyTree Information System Backup Management
(KEEREEZREMEIEDE)), BabyTree Company Information
Security Management System (BEHAREELE2EEHE)),
which are supervised and implemented by the technical center.

On the product user side, in order to improve user experience, the
Company has improved their products from two technical levels,
the first being performance improvement. By delaying loading and
asynchronous loading, the APP’s access time is limited to one
second; while the second being the improvement of preferences.
Through the data embedding system and A/B® test system, we
can quickly see the users’ preference for different functions and
contents, which can help us push better contents and quickly
perform iteration of products.

The Company aims to ensure the interests of users and customers
in respect of maintenance of network security, which includes
the following: firstly, preventing network attack to ensure system
stability; secondly, preventing data leakage to reduce/avoid
network fraud for users and customers. In prevention of network
attack, the Company strengthens active and passive vulnerability
scanning by high-prevention services procured from third parties,
independently-developed security protection modules and other
measures to gradually mitigate the impact of attack on our services;
in prevention of data leakage, the Company avoids the risk of data
leakage in different procedures through user’s data encryption,
data export encryption, recertification by the administrator,
re-certification at merchant’s backstage and other methods.

2 A/B test: a data decision-making method for improving the conversion rate
of APP/H5/mini program products and optimizing customer acquisition
costs.
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In 2019, the Company continues to promote continuous integration,
increasing the coverage of code scanning and automation,
improving the stability of the BabyTree Parenting APP, WeTime
APP system, reducing the incidence of errors, increasing the speed
of release and thus mitigating the impact on users. The Company
regularly performs FAIL-OVER drills at the data center level to
verify the reliability of the services provided to users. In terms of
data backup and recovery, fast rolloack and recovery is achieved
through database log backups, which is conducive to improving
system stability.

In the future, the Company plans to further strengthen continuous
integration, improve the automated testing and reduce manual
work, which saves time and reduces the rate of problems incurred;
increase grayscale testing to reduce the range of impact of faults;
Taking advantages of Alibaba Cloud, the Company continues
to push forward cloud plans, which has improved stability and
reduced total cost of ownership.

§4.5 Intellectual Property Rights Protection

The Company is in strict compliance with the Tort Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FZEARKEMHBEEEE)), the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China (& AR HLANEH
ZFL)), the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
(K ZE AR LNBEEIZL)), the Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China (## ARLMBIZEEREE)) and other relevant
laws and regulations. The Company has formulated the Third-Party
Intellectual Property Use Management System (5 =75 f#EH#E
FAEIEHIE)) to reduce the risk of infringement of the Company
by strictly implementing the requirements of the system, effectively
utilizing the existing third-party intellectual property resources,
regulating employees’ use of copyright, strengthening intellectual
property compliance management, and preventing the infringement
of others’ intellectual property rights. Currently, the Company
owns the intellectual property rights including trademarks,
software copyrights, works copyrights, domain names, which
are mainly under the systematic management of the Company’s
legal department covering application for all types of intellectual
property rights, integration and update of the list of intellectual
property rights, and daily management of intellectual property
rights qualification certificates. In 2019, the Company has 95
new trademarks, 10 new software copyrights, 4 work registration
certificates, 2 patents, and 5 domain names.
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The terms on protection of intellectual property rights are included
in all of the cooperation agreements and user’s agreements
entered into between the Company and its suppliers, customers,
registered merchants and other partners, to protect the intellectual
property rights of BabyTree and our partners or third parties
involved in the business operations and clarify the ownership of
intellectual property rights and protection duties on each party. In
case of complaints or reports relating to infringement of intellectual
property rights of third parties received during our daily website
management, the Company has a special team for handling
such complaints or reports by deleting, blocking, disconnecting,
terminating transactions or services in connection with the possible
infringement of intellectual property rights of third parties to the
extent permissible by the laws and regulations.

The Company independently developed a copyright database
management platform to uniformly manage the original and
introduced copyright ownership and distribution, conducting regular
piracy monitoring. The Company has demonstrated and enhanced
its copyright value and market position through multi-dimensional
methods such as monitoring infringement and rights protection
actions.

In the future, the Company will be committed to the
implementation, promotion and consultation of the third-party
intellectual property management system. Relying on the copyright
database management platform, the Company collects and
organizes intellectual property rights, regulates the use and
license management, reduces the risk of infringement, gives full
play to the value of existing intellectual property rights, completes
the registration of copyrights for original contents in advance,
standardizes and manages the content pipeline distribution
management and registration, proactively takes piracy monitoring
measures, promptly carries out rights protection measures such as
warning offline, infringement evidence collection, and lawsuits, and
always be prepared for infringement protection and active initiates.
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§4.6 User Privacy Protection

The Company strictly abides by the Network Security Law (43
#8222 %)), Decision on Strengthening the Protection of Network
Information (BERA M54 1Z BAREARTE)), Telecommunications
Regulations (E{Z14&f1)), Regulations on the Protection of
Children’s Personal Information Network (5= A BB 1RE
7)) and other laws and regulations, and updates user service
agreements and privacy policies. In addition, the Company has
formulated the Company Information Security Management System
KRREBRLZEEIEHIE)), which controls the key areas such as the
collection, utilization and sharing of personal information of users
to maximize the protection of the legitimate rights and interests of
individuals.

For information security, the Company strengthened measures to
prevent external attacks, deployed Internet exits, Web application
firewalls and network intrusion detection systems to ensure the
safety of user accounts and prevent external attacks which stole
data of users and orders.

For data collection, the Company specifically informs users what
data will be collected through the user agreement. Under certain
special circumstance where user’s personal privacy is subject to
collection, the Company will remind and notify our users of their
information to be collected or used by us, and seek authorization
from them.

For data encryption, all of the fields in the database concerning
user’s privacy information are under encrypted storage and
transmission. These information includes user’s name, registration
mobile phone number, and the name, mobile phone number,
address, email box, ID number of the consignee, etc.

For information desensitization, users’ privacy information will
be displayed on the platform after desensitization and mosaic
processing.
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For data export and flow, the possibility of data leakage during the
flow process is reduced through the system interconnection of both
parties and the encryption of Excel. In addition, to prevent internal
data leakage, the Company conducts security audits of data
security.

In the future, the Company will update user agreements and privacy
policies, complete system integration, release, illustration and
training, ensuring that the system is implemented so as to prevent
and control data security risks, forming an institutional barrier to
data security and privacy protection. In addition, the Company will
conduct self-inspection and rectification of the security of personal
information.

§5 EMPLOYEE CARE, HAPPY WORK
§5.1 Employee Employment

Employees are the most important resource of an enterprise,
the cornerstone of its development and foundation of its core
competitiveness. The ultimate objectives of the Company’s
human resource management are to build a sound platform for
its employees’ career development, encourage them to maximize
their potential and achieve a virtuous circle of their personal value
enhancement as well as the Company’s development.
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In strict compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such
as the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China K ZE AR
HFE4E)5E)), Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China (P ZEARKEFELES FE)), Social Insurance Law of the
People’s Republic of China (# #E ARKEMBEMEREIE)), Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Women’s Rights
and Interests (HZE AR ZEMELF ZEZ=RIEE)), Provisions on
Labour Protection for Female Employees (zzHk T BN {REHRE)),
Scheme for National Holidays and Festivals & BF &5 & 42 & B R
#%)), Regulations on the Labour Security Supervision (4 8h{R[E
L (%45 )), Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees (¥ T
SRR 1)), Implementation Measures for Paid Annual Leave
for Employees (%8 THEHFIREBEEITE)), the Company has
formulated and optimized a number of human resource-related
regulatory systems, such as Key Position Management System
(R R EEHE)), Promotion Management System (EBEHE
E#IZ)), Resignation Management Measures (excluding Senior
Management) KBEBE R IE% (T2 = %)), Administrative Measures
for Resignation of Senior Management (5% B EIE %)),
Personnel Employment and Dismissal Management System K A%
BIEEK IFEIEH|E)), Compensation and Welfare Management
Measures (FB@EFIZEEH L)) and the Staff Attendance and
Vacation Management System (under amendment) & TZ &K
BREIEHE (EETH))) in light of the actual circumstances of the
Company.

§5.1.1 Equal employment

The Company’s employment policy and codes have been
established in compliance with the laws and regulations of PRC
such as the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China (FFEARLFIFELEHEREL)), Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (# % ARLFMEILE))%)) and Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China (%A RFEFMEH &R G
%)), and its basic principles of employment are open recruitment,
fair competition, strict assessment, and merit-based admission. Job
applicants are treated with equal rights without any discrimination
against gender, ethnicity, race, religion, etc. so as to create an
equal and diverse employment environment for our employees.
If treated unfairly, employees may file a complaint through
hrSSC@babytree-inc.com.
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The Company’s in-service staff includes formal employees, contract
workers and interns, all of which have entered into labour contracts,
labour agreements or internship agreements with the Company
within the specified time. In order to prevent child labour, our
new employees are required to carry their personal identification
documents when they join the Company, and must be at the
statutory age for working.

The Company has a total of 720 employees at present, including
684 labour contract employees and 36 service contract workers.
There are 282 male employees and 438 female employees,
accounting for 39.2% and 60.8% of the total, respectively.

During the reporting period, there were no work-related fatality and
work-related death ratio was nil. In 2019, the Company did not
have any violations of employment and labour laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company.

Total number of employees by region (person)
REFEIETHAE (A)
Xiamen staff: 3
EFET:3
( Ningbo staff: 2
EKET 2

Guangzhou staff: 39

BMET : 39

Wuhan staff: 64 \
REST : 64\

Hangzhou staff: 28
TMET : 28~

Shanghai staff: 154
EBET : 154

Aged 35 - 40 (inclusive): 76
35-405 8T (2405%8T) : 76

Aged 30 - 35 (inclusive): 256
30- 35 BT (&35 L) : 256
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§5.1.2 Compensation and welfare

The Company has established a diversified salary system including
basic salary, performance salary, floating salary and annual salary
according to different positions and business types.

The Human Resources Centre organizes all the departments of
the Company to conduct regular evaluations of the compensation
for different positions, while the Company assesses the salary
standards for our staff at different positions based on their skill
level, work experience, education background, comprehensive
quality, rights and responsibilities, labour intensity and work
environment, and offers them different packages accordingly.
Meanwhile, the Company will adjust the compensation each year
based on the conditions of the industry, prices and market so as
to catch up with the industry standards and achieve fairness and
competitiveness of its compensation system.

In terms of welfare, the Company cares about the health and safety
of its employees by purchasing supplementary medical insurance
and accident insurance for them, while for their children, the
Company offers supplementary medical insurance. The Company
also provides Day-care services to its employees in Beijing, offering
professional nursing services to their children when they are at
work, which has greatly alleviated their burden. For families with
new-born babies, the Company will prepare a big gift package for
each of them, which contains stuff for the baby and his/her mother.
At the same time, in order to further alleviate the work pressure of
employees, the Company keeps pets in the workplace, aiming to
create an enjoyable working atmosphere.
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As for vacation, our Company complies strictly with the relevant
national regulations, pursuant to which our employees are entitled
to annual leave, legal holidays, personal leave, sick leave, wedding
leave, prenatal check-up leave, maternity leave, paternity leave,
breastfeeding leave, and bereavement leave, etc. Annual leave is
calculated based on the combination of an employee’s working
age and the time he/she spends with the Company. Except for
3 days of paid sick leave each year, those employees who take
extra sick leave are entitled to claim 50% of their regular salaries.
For pregnant female employees who need to take some time for
prenatal check, their leave will be treated as normal attendance
at work. In addition to the ordinary holidays, the Company offer
birthday leave for its employees, i.e. if a child’s birthday falls on a
working day of his/her parents, they are entitled to take 4 hours of
paid leave so that they can celebrate it with their children.

§5.1.3 Legal dismissal

The Company aims to maintain long-term cooperative relationships
with its employees, and makes every effort to avoid dismissing
any employee, so that they can constantly improve their potential
for career development. If an employee voluntarily resigns, we will
discuss adequately with him/her the reasons for the resignation.
In the event of dismissal, the Company will follow the procedures
that strictly comply with the requirements of relevant laws and
regulations such as the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China (FFEARKEFMEL H)L)), the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FZEAREFESE S FE)) and the
Contract Management Measures & & IE#EE)).
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§5.1.4 Working hours

In terms of working hours, the Company implements the standard
working hours system in strict accordance with the requirements
of the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China { 1% A R
MBS EYE)), which prescribes that the normal working time for an
employee is 8 full hours each day from Monday to Friday. Besides,
employees are offered flexibility within a certain period of time, i.e.
if an employee works overtime on a working day, he/she may come
to work later the next day. For those employees working overtime,
he/she will be entitled to overtime pay or take compensatory leave
at some other time so as to avoid forced labour.

§5.2 Employee Health and Safety

The Company provides a safe and healthy workplace for all
employees, and has established the Employee Health and Safety
Management System (B Lf2FEE%2EEHIE)) in accordance
with the Safety Production Law of the People’s Republic of China
KhEARLMBAL 2 4EEER)) and in consideration of the actual
situation of the Company to ensure the personal safety and
health of employees. In addition, the Company has formulated the
Emergency Management System and the Emergency Prevention
Proposal of BabyTree Group KEZHIEBEZEEHEREZTENR
7 Z)to deal with emergencies.

Employees may face potential occupational hazards during their

work, including dry eye syndrome, cervical spondylosis, lumbar
spondylosis, chronic fatigue syndrome and so on. To ensure the
employees’ health, the Company has adopted the following specific

measures:

1)  The Company offers physical examination for employees once
every year,
involves healthy life, increased immunity and traditional cancer

and the medical examination package, which

screening, can be selected by the employee according to his
or her own situation;

2) The Company has a small medicine box in the office area,
including non-prescription drugs such as cold medicine,
antipyretic medicine, band-aids, electronic thermometer, etc,
to facilitate treatment and relief when employees are unwell;

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019

§5.1.4 T 1R 2

NEETEREMATE L RERB(HE
ARLEFBELEEINER  BEITRETR
5l - BEIMERIEREASRE —ZAH -
BRIEMSNE - A + ARIHMN ERE
M TU—ERBAAEE BRI (EAH
ERANMMBRRE  IURE—@EI(ERKE
Bl o SR INITL T NP E L E MNILFAK - @
ARG BEEROEAE o

§5.2ETRREHZS

RABMEBEEBTIRHZENERENTIES
P WERBCFBEARKMBRZ2EEE) -
THEEAAERBANE T(BEIRERR
EERHE)NREEIAGLRE REE -

o AEHIE T (EEE S EESE
EREEEHAR)NREBINERBR

BETTHRERTARBINEERERE
T BRERRIE - BHER - BEHER BER
BEREH%E  RAAREBEITRE  HKIMT
PLEY 20K

1) REABFAZ-REIER: BRES
EJEEE\I@{TFQEH MBTEE 8
BRELE ENeRMERES=
@7 m

2) REAEMABRRER/NEME AWRE
B RBE - BIFTREEIFR Tv&é &
FREFEF HEEIFRBRTERR
Ba MR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiR- HERERERES

3) The Company regularly holds Chinese medicine consultation
activities. The Chinese medicine consultation includes physical
therapy and electrotherapy, scraping, skin care, shoulder and
neck massage, etc;

4)  The Company regularly invites dental care experts to provide
free on-site medical treatment for employees, and provides
relevant preferential activities. Relevant benefits are only for
the employees of the Company;

5)  The Company regularly organizes basketball games and other
activities. The entertainment is also to enhance the cohesion
of employees and improve their physical fitness.
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The employees of BabyTree attended the
physical examinations
EEMBETI2MEIER

In the future, the Company plans to further increase the awareness
of medical insurance-related knowledge of our employees, so
as to enable them enjoy more national and corporate insurance
benefits. In addition, the Company and the commercial insurance
companies will jointly establish an insurance self-selection platform
to allow employees to choose their favored insurance products at
discounted prices.

BabyTree held Chinese medicine
consultation activities
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During the reporting period, the Company had no non-compliance
incident relating to providing a safe work environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

§5.3 Employee Development and Training
§5.3.1 Employee promotion

With great importance attached to the direction of employees’
career development, the Company has built a rank system and
designated two promotion channels including M model (managerial
talents) and P model (professional talents) for employees’
development path by considering their merits, strengths and
preference. The managerial channel consists of M1 to M17, and
the professional channel consists of P1 to P12. Managerial talents
are able to make proper plans and influence, supervise, lead and
organize their team members to achieve the targets under the
circumstance of asymmetric information, and they are accountable
to team management and the operating results; professional talents
can well collect and analyze information, cases and experience and
explore the regularity, and summarize corresponding theory to give
play to their high-end knowledge system in a particular professional
sector within the corporate organization.

The Company adopts a promotion mechanism which integrates
level-by-level promotion with frog-leaping promotion. The
assessment includes consideration of basic conditions, professional
competence and reference items.

1)  Basic conditions: education background, work seniority,
experience, performance, etc.

2)  Professional competence: the requisite knowledge, skills and
performance required by the corresponding rank.

3) Reference items: morality, quality and corporate culture
values.

In the future, the Company intends to introduce a professional job
assessment mechanism to sort out existing posts and personnel,
so as to reasonably conduct job assessment according to the
developed rank system model and in the consideration of the
existing positions and personnel.
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§5.3.2 Employee training

In respect of employee training management, the Company aims to
achieve sharing of resources in knowledge, skills and best solutions
to problems, overall improvement in skills and establishment of a
learning-type corporate organization.

The Company has developed the Training Management Policy
(EBINEIESIE)), which specified the implementing rules for
training at system level, empowered different departments and
the management with training responsibilities and obligations, and
standardized external training standards and procedures. The
Company has established its internal exclusive corporate university,
Xiaoshu University (/M A&, whose training system is rooted in
the corporate culture, values and systems, and is directed by the
corporate mission, vision and strategy. It mainly includes four parts:
training operation system, training course system, trainer system
and training support system. The training course system set up by
the Company includes new employee training camp, leadership
training camp, professional training camp and general capability
training program.

In 2019, the human resources center organized a total of 36
training sessions involving 770 person-times. The training duration
was 3,426 hours, with an average of 4.28 training hours per staff.
The average training satisfaction recorded 9.49 points, achieving an
overall satisfactory result.
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Overview of Training Person-times of
BabyTree on Monthly Basis in 2019
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The Company organized the following trainings: 6 sessions of
new employee training camp, involving 119 new staff from Beijing,
Shanghai and Hangzhou, through which our internal lecturers gave
lessons to help newcomers become familiar with our business,
culture and institutional processes, and master working methods;
4 sessions of leadership training camp for all senior management
to introduce external courses and improve the leadership of the
management team; and 10 sessions of professional training camp,
covering 170 persons/times, in order to improve the professional
knowledge and skills of our staff and better empower our business.
It also launched 16 general capability training programs, which
included 6 sessions of Tree Talking training (covering 45 persons/
times) and 10 sessions of Tree Sharing video sharing (covering 97
persons/times), to improve the comprehensive quality of the staff.
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BabyTree’s general capability training program-Tree Talking
EERBANFIIEE —Tree Talking

The Company plans to optimize its training system in the future,
from the trainer and the establishment of training course system
to the development of the trainer echelon and the training course
library. In terms of training operations, it is planned to complete at
least four sessions of management training, four sessions of new
staff training and various training project operations.

§6 SELF-DISCIPLINE AND INCORRUPTIBLE

The Company absolutely rejects corrupt or bribery behaviors. We
prohibit corrupt or bribery behaviors committed by our employees
in accordance with the Anti-corruption Policy (&=/&8HIE)), the
Code of Conduct on Integrity and Self-discipline for Employees &
TEZ B82S 8)) and other policies to make sure they are honest
and self-disciplined and firmly reject corrupt behaviors.
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In 2019, the Company established an anti-corruption review
mechanism. The process of anti-corruption and fraud investigation
was initiated through the following four aspects to create a clean

office environment:

The first is to carry out appraisals and evaluations on the
important processes in the Company’s operation and
business through daily internal audit tasks, find and mark
down abnormal information. The Company conducts fraud
investigation in the event that the clues leading to the fraud
are found through investigation on the abnormal information.

The second is to establish a sound whistle-blowing channel,
including telephone, email as well as the encouragement
of whistle-blowers to report by real-name. The Company
signed a Letter of Undertaking from Suppliers ({FER
A E)) with all suppliers in 2019 to restrict suppliers’
bribery behaviours through system files. Suppliers are
encouraged to report bribery and corruption behaviors
committed by the Company’s personnel by real-name by
means of email at jubao@babytree-inc.com or telephone at
(010-61138080-5110). Fraud investigation is kicked off upon
receipt of information leading to whistle-blowing.

The third is to strengthen the publicity. The Company’s
procurement center gave a lecture on anti-fraud for
department employees on a monthly basis to make positive
guidance on employees and help them erect correct attitude.
On the other hand, through the disclosure of the results of
the handling of fraudsters and case sharing, employees’
anti-corruption awareness was improved.

The fourth is to streamline business processes on a regular
basis, through which the Company’s policy was updated
and improved. The Company filled the unchartered areas
and illuminated the grey areas through the constraints on the

policy.
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In 2019, the procurement center made purchases in accordance
with the Company’s standardized procedures, the whole process
of which was made public and supervised by the information
security department. The Company selected several suppliers for
price comparison, made up a backup plan for large projects, and
avoided black box operation during the selection process. All of
the newly-registered suppliers were reviewed by the information
security department. Suppliers included in the blacklists of the Trust
and Integrity Enterprise Alliance and the PRC Enterprise Anti-fraud
Alliance were eliminated directly with no chance of cooperation.

Going forward, the Company plans to put more efforts in
anti-corruption training, aiming to enhance the legal awareness of
its employees through training offered to new employees, regular
trainings and information sharing under the official account, etc.
Business training will be conducted for auditing and supervisory
personnel so as to improve the business standards of the
employees in the department.

In 2019, the number of concluded lawsuits relating to corruption
filed against the Company and its employees was zero, and during
the reporting period, the Company was not aware of any violation of
anti-corruption laws and regulations which had a significant impact.
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§7 CARE FOR PARTNERS WITHOUT BIASED
OPERATION

In 2019, the Company had IT-hardware-type, office-type,
service-type, employee-benefit-type, decoration-type and
marketing-type suppliers. We will diversify our supplier types in line
with our subsequent business development.

To regulate our supplier management and stabilize supplier team,
the Company has developed the Supplier Management Policy (4
FERGEIEHIE ), striving to forge a long-term and mutual-beneficial
supply-demand relationship with suppliers and promote integrity
and self-discipline. The Company pays attention to the safety and
labour issues while receiving services from suppliers and requires
the manufacturing factory suppliers to pass ISO9000 system
certification.

For supplier appraisal, the Company pays a return visit to and
assesses our suppliers on a regular basis. In regular return visit,
the Company’s procurement personnel pays a visit to suppliers on
a regular basis to check whether their office address is true, and
whether they are qualified to render the service required; in regular
assessment, the Company’s procurement department organizes
the appraisal group and the information security department to
assess the suppliers on a quarterly basis in respect of contract
performance progress, service quality during the contract period,
rate of qualified goods procured and settlement term. Suppliers
poorly recognized by each department will be included in the
to-be-eliminated list, and may be replaced if there are other
better-rated suppliers in the subsequent review. The Company
appraises suppliers in terms of prices, delivery, quality, service,
management, etc.

In the future, the Company plans to continuously expand the
supplier resource pool and continuously optimize and update
suppliers to meet the needs of various different categories. In
addition, the Company will strengthen inspections on suppliers’
social responsibilities and environmental protection. Suppliers that
have been negative in these two areas will have their priorities
lowered.
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§8 CARE FOR CHARITY TO FULFILL
RESPONSIBILITY

As a leading platform delivering M&C family services in the PRC,
BabyTree has been committed to connecting and serving young
families under a mission of “where there is a family, there is
BabyTree”. BabyTree actively participates in public welfare activities
and practices its corporate social responsibilities by actions, so as
to stably realize the aim of rural needy people don’t have to worry
about food and clothing, receive compulsory education, receive
basic medical care and have guaranteed housing safety, to ensure
that the rural poor population under the current standards achieve
the goal of relieving poverty and solving the regional poverty
problem as a whole by 2020.

Under the policy guidance of the national poverty alleviation
strategy, i.e. adhering to the principle of targeted poverty relief
and targeted poverty alleviation, BabyTree gave full play to its
advantages in the M&C industry, and has initially established a
complete public welfare assistance system, starting from the M&C
industry, through the public welfare platform jointly established by
BabyTree and Fosun Foundation, we united various forces in the
society to implement public welfare projects in multiple dimensions
and at multiple levels, so as to accurately support and help
targeted poverty-stricken areas, and to implement public welfare
projects in a targeted manner. The establishment of this public
welfare assistance system will help the public welfare undertakings
of BabyTree to develop towards standardization, transparency and
precision. In addition, BabyTree focused on the standardization,
completeness, feasibility, and measurability of public welfare
projects. The main considerations are how many needy people
have been helped by the implementation of public welfare projects,
what changes have been brought to poverty-stricken areas, and
how many difficult problems can be solved jointly with the local
governments. In addition, when selecting charity partners, BabyTree
chose charity organizations or social organizations that are legally
registered and in line with the main target group of BabyTree public
welfare projects, and jointly invested resources to implement the
public welfare projects.
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In April 2019, BabyTree launched “Health Care +1” initiative.
Through this open charity platform for rural doctors and local
needy families in poverty-stricken areas, it gathered forces from all
walks of life in the society to allocate online and offline resources
and gradually improved the physical and mental health of M&C
families in the poverty-stricken areas. Up to now, BabyTree, Angel
Nutritech, YeeHoO, Suitsky, Kaili and many other companies have
donated nutritional rice flour, protein powder, diapers, maternity
kits, children’s picture books and other materials valued more
than RMB one million to poverty-stricken areas through the public
welfare platform “Health Care +1”, and improved the health status
of the population in poverty-stricken areas.

In September 2019, BabyTree officially launched the Rural BabyTree
Program, creating an open public welfare space for M&C groups
in the poverty-stricken areas. Through regular lectures, multimedia
projections, picture book reading and various other ways, it
cultivated scientific maternity knowledge for prospective mothers,
assisted children to develop their intelligence and improved the
physical and mental health of M&C groups in the poverty-stricken
areas. In December, two co-education centers were established in
Yongsheng County and Degin County, Yunnan Province to provide
services to local M&C groups.

As at the end of 2019, the total service time of BabyTree
community service has reached 256 hours.

In the future, BabyTree will continue to leverage on its leading role
and strength in the M&C and family industries to consolidate more
public welfare resources, give more care and respect, continue to
explore the “Health Care +1” initiative and Rural BabyTree Program
projects, and assist more families to enjoy the healthy and beautiful

voyage of life.
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RIR - HERERHRSE

Donation ceremony for BabyTree “Health Care +1” — Project on Health Poverty Alleviation for
Rural Doctors in Yongde County

EEMREE+ - AEREANBELERFERERBETHREEL

BabyTree “Health Care +1” — baby in poverty-stricken area received gifts
EENHEEZB - ERMREEREET OB M

EEIHE 2019 | BEHIEF 169



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR- HERERHSE

LHEERTY

BRAATBANDL

(|

Rural BabyTree Program — Pingzhen Co-education Center in Degin County, Yunnan
B BEERGFE - EMERGTFEREEP L

Rural BabyTree Program — babies from rural areas participated in activities at the Co-education Center
ANEERGE - BNEECREPLED
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§9 CARE FOR ENVIRONMENT AND
SAFEGUARD LIFE

§9.1 Emission Management

The Company values good environmental management. The
Company is an internet company, hence its operations have little
impact on the environment. The Company strictly abides by the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(rREE A R HAMBIIRER#E)), the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution {#
= AR KRB KRETEMEE)) and related laws and regulations
to proactively protect the environment and safeguard our beautiful
homes.

Type of emissions Detail indicator (Unit)

§9 BRIR £ HRAD

§9.1 BEFAME R

ARARERRHFNREEE  ARARAR
EBREE  ARNEEHRBEENNTZE
BEE)  RABEBET(PEARKAME
REREE) (FEARKMBARZ LM
BE) RBBARIER - EBHRERE - T
EXERE -

Amount in 2019 Amount in 2018

FRYESR RS (Bx) 2019 & 2018 F &8
Waste gas emission  Sulfur dioxide emissions (ton) 0.02 0.09
& SRHE TR —fewRBErE (HE)
NOx emissions (ton) 12.27 12.94
REWPERE (BE)
Soot emissions (ton) 1.18 1.26
FEEEHE P E (ME)
Greenhouse gas Total greenhouse gas emission (tCO,e) 450.43 361.43
emission BAERBHEREE (M_S/lEE
R E R B HE
Direct greenhouse gas emission (tCO,e) 3.64 6.05
EEAEREBHNE (MM_atmES
Indirect greenhouse gas emission (tCO,e) 446.79 355.38
MEAZEREBHENRE (M_f(tKhEE
Intensity of greenhouse gas emission (tCO,e/person) 0.62 0.40

BEREBHMGERE (M_SRkEE A)
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Type of emissions Detail indicator (Unit)

Amount in 2019 Amount in 2018

R ESR AAER (BfL) 2019 BB 2018 F Y&
Waste generation Total hazardous waste generation (kg) 471.89 231
BEEYES EEEEYDEFLREE (TR)
Fluorescent tube (kg) 451.88* 206
KAEE (T)
Battery(kg) 20.01 25
g (Tx)
Intensity of hazardous waste generation (kg/person) 0.65 0.26
BEBEEYEERE (TR A
Total non-hazardous waste generation (kg)® 77,4154 37,720
BEERVELREE (TR)S
Intensity of non-hazardous waste generation 106.05 41.77

(kg/person)
BEERZEWEELRE (TR A

In 2019, the Company improved its internal Green publicity by
taking the daily publicity as the starting point, to encourage
employees’ Green Travel, so to reduce waste gas emissions and
greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, the Company has organized
Q&A with Green and Environmental Protection Theme, Walk-steps
For Awards and other programs to deepen the understanding of
employees in Green Travel. In the Beijing office, BabyTree started
the garbage sorting work to improve the environmental awareness
of employees.

. As the Company carried out the decoration and lighting renovation in
its Beijing and Hangzhou office areas this year, the generation of waste
fluorescent tube and domestic wastes increased as compared with last year.

£ The non-hazardous waste generated by the Company are domestic
wastes.
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RIR HERELGRS

The Company’s printers are rendered by way of leases, and
regularly maintained by specialized companies, so as to reduce
the waste of paper, ink cartridges and toner cartridges caused
by equipment failure, guarantee the subsequent recycling of
ink cartridges and toner cartridges at the same time, and avoid
environmental pollution caused by irregular processing. In addition,
the Company advocates the separate storage of secondary paper,
which can be recycled and reused for recording, reimbursement,
etc, to enhance the utilization of paper.

For hazardous waste such as batteries, the Company requires its
employees to return used batteries when getting new batteries, and
contacts a specialized recycling company for centralized recycling.
As for the used cartons, the Company reuses or sales them, so as
to recycle resources and reduce the emission of pollutants.

In 2019, the Company did not have any serious violations of
environmental protection related standards, rules and regulations.

ARARPAEITEIREABENTA - A A
BERFETERER RS RAREREE
REEER  BRERWEHRE  RRRER
BRe MEmWEWEE #RFLEERE
BRI EMKHIREISR o IS AREE R
MEREBEN  IRAREE  BHEE B
MRA AR -

HREELEEEEY  ARAERETH
ERFELRFTHESHLRE  IHBEEX
MEKRARETETRHNEKEE - EREER
EEEE  ARETRKES  BERE
B - WD RE TR

2019%F » ARBARBERBRREBER
B RANFERNERNERSEE -

BabyTree Office — Battery Recycling Box
EEBMAE — EiEIKAAE
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§9.2 Use of Energy and Resources

The Company attaches great importance to the conservation and
use of natural resources, and strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations such as the Water Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARLFEAE)) and the Energy Conservation Law of the
People’s Republic of China {2 ARLMBIETAIEEIRE)). Due to
the nature of the business, our operations consume less resources
than other manufacturing companies. The main resources we
consume are electricity and water.

Use of resources of the Company during the reporting period is as
follows:

Type of resources

§9.28 R R ERMEA

RAREREBARERNBHER @ WEREE
SFCREARKMBAE) - (hEARKM
BETARERA) SHBERER - ARER
Mg RAMELBRREMEERCER
A8LER - RRIFEEEMNERAE M
KEIR o

BEMEA - ARRNERERBRAOT

consumption Detail indicator (Unit) Data in 2019 Data in 2018
BEREHRESR AMAEE (B) 2019 H 2018 H &
Energy consumption Total power consumption in 732,322.4% 582,492.00
BEIRE the office area (kWh)
MAEBHEEE (TRR)
Intensity of power consumption in the office —7 58.09
area (kWh/square meter)
WAREERE (TRE FHXK)
Gasoline fuel consumption (ton) 1.19 1.78
MM E (WR)
Natural gas consumption (standard cube) The Company no 317.00
AARHEFEE (BELF) longer consumed
natural gas for the year
REF QA
THEERRAR
6 As the Company expanded the office area in some operation sites in 2019, ¢ AR RARI20190FEBEATHHEL MM TIER

the total power consumption increased as compared with last year.
g In light of that the Company adjusted the office area in some operation

sites in 2019, the calculation of intensity of power consumption should be
further improved and the indicator of which will be disclosed in the future.
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Type of resources

consumption Detail indicator (Unit) Data in 2019 Data in 2018
ERERESR AAERE (B) 2019F H & 2018 F H &
Comprehensive energy 746,569.48 607,233.27
consumption (kWh)
megREEE (TRE)
Intensity of comprehensive energy -7 60.55

consumption (kWh/square meter)

FERRAERRE (TRE F7XK)

In terms of power conservation, the Company replaced all lightings
in office areas with durable and energy-saving LED lights, and
the lighting switches were set according to the minimum lighting
area. In addition, the Company has sealed up the windows in the
office area at the beginning of winter to minimize the loss of heat
source, which helped save energy. When there is no visitor, the
cabinet lamp and effect lamp will be turned off to reduce power
consumption. The administrative personnel of the Company patrol
and turnoff all the electrical facilities before going off work, and
remind the employees to close corresponding electrical equipment
when leaving. The Company analyzes its power consumption data
every week, and proposes a corresponding feasible energy-saving
plan according to the differences of power consumption in each
office area.

EHHORETE  ARARSEMIRERS

i A ERBEMLED R @ IREAR B i & /MR I3 &R
Bl RAEARVBIREFPETT

MERE  RARERDBRRE - KM
EZHHEAEENEN EEFEL2ENER
T KERE BMREBEEFHARDAE -
RAETHRABE THATKER@EA—IHER
B - WHRAEB T THRARAMEREAERE -
NEBACHAEELT  RESREMNA
EEZR  RHBYHENAITHESRETR -
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In terms of water conservation, the Company carries out
water-saving publicity through induction training, e-mail and theme
activities to cultivate employees’ awareness of water conservation.
In addition, the Company reduces the amount of toilet flushing
water, changes the bottled water from 500ml to 350ml, and cleans
the dishcloth with remaining bottled water collected to reduce
the waste of water resources. The administrative personnel of the
Company turn off the water heater and water dispenser before
going off work each day to reduce the waste of water resources.
Since the water consumption and wastewater discharged from the
office of the Company are managed by the property management
department of the office building, it is impossible to calculate
separately the water consumption and sewage discharge of the
Company, and due to environmental issues such as “use of water”
and “waste disposal and recycling” as unimportant issues for the
Company, the Company chooses not to disclose such indicators
as the total water consumption, total water consumption intensity
and wastewater discharge. In 2019, the Company did not have
any problems in obtaining the applicable water source. Due to the
nature of the Company’s business, the Company has no material
impact on the environment and natural resources.

In the future, the Company plans to set up recyclable goods
buckets, and regulates employees to collect recyclable and sellable
wastes, such as express package boxes, beverage bottles, used
paper, etc. and proactively place these materials to designated
places. In addition, the Company will establish an environmental
protection volunteer association and an environmental protection
score system to encourage employees to become the environmental
protection volunteers. The volunteer association will carry out
an event every quarter, such as collecting wastes in parks or
publicizing the environmental protection knowledges, environmental
protection long walk and other activities.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of BabyTree Group

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HEEEREZIRROVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR A E])
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BabyTree
Group (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 187 to 304, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HEEEREZIRRVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR L E])

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

BRREXER

PRBREZFRERERMANEZAEG - £1]
M AHMEEHMBERERNEXTREEDN
FH - REFERERMYA KB RRET
EREZAMBEERTARGEE  RMALL
P FIMERER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Recognition of revenue from advertising

RERARER

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(u).

FERREE I IR Z M aF 4 R B 2(u) B @ 51BE °
The Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERPNFTEEEBEE

The Group offers different formats of on-line
advertisements, such as banners, rectangles,
picture-in-picture, text links, images and topics,
throughout the Group’s Apps or websites. The
Group generates revenue when the Group displays
the advertisement (“display-based revenue”) in the
contracted period or when a user carries out a specified
action (‘performance-based revenue”) as stipulated the
contract.

Display-based revenue is recognized on a pro-rata basis
as the advertisement is displayed in accordance with the
terms of the advertising contracts. Performance-based
revenue is recognized at the time when a user clicks
on the advertisement or when the user views the
advertisement for a specific period of time based on the
specific terms of the contract.

BEEEEEEENTRERRZFMBWEREETRALANE
RES  MEBES  BVES  ETERES  XABEER
BE BRESMGEEES EEEERAOHARTE
SREREELWA (RRIERAD RERPETEHM
AANBRNTERESBELWA ([RREBEAD -

RRNBEARBRES S NRRIRBESNBRREIRL A
RhE

R - MRBRAREFPHERER TP AERERR
B E SRR A DR E (RRRER -
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue from advertising included the following:

e  assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over revenue
recognition;

e assessing, with the assistance of our internal
IT specialists, the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of management’s key
internal IT controls over the accuracy of revenue
recognition of Performance-based advertisements
and the scheduling information of Display-based
advertisements exported from the scheduling
system;

BT AERES RANEZREFEEATRIE
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HEEEREZIRROVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR A E])
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BREEFXSE @)

Recognition of revenue from advertising (Continued)

BEEBAER (&)

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(u).

BRME VIR ZN T4 RN 20 &5 ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BARELER EMHERTNAEEEEER

The Group uses its information technology system (‘IT’) Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
to track the display or specified actions as specified in revenue from advertising included the following:
related customer contracts. (continued)

EEEFHRECERRERR ([EERE]) EMEEEFA o comparing the scheduling information exported
R PTARE R B RS RITTED - from the scheduling system with the underlying
advertising contracts and performing the end-
to-end reconciliation controls from the extracted
scheduling information to the accounting system;

e comparing revenue transactions recorded during
the year, on a sample basis, with the underlying
advertising contracts and scheduling and the
progress of the service or the basis of the
recognition of the performance-based revenue to
assess if revenue was properly recognized in the
appropriate accounting period;

e confirming with customers, on a sample basis,
about the contract items related to the service, the
scheduling, and the implementation status of the
contracts;

B HERESRANEZREFEREATEE : (&)

s HRARRAREBLWNFAREEERMEEESANE
THE  YHITEREBLHAREEESTERXZ
B —EH) AR

s DUHBEITARFABRBUAXRZEBBAESEH
ERBEKRZHEARERERBARBERAEREE
ETHE  DFBRAREREENSHHHER
AEE R
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BHRBREZ R EMEAREE
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HEEEREZIRRVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR L E])

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Recognition of revenue from advertising (Continued)

BEEWRARER (&)

FARFLEE (H)

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(u).

ERRE GIR IR it 4 R It 2(w) B @51 ©
The Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERPNFTEEEBSEE

We identified the recognition of revenue from
advertising service as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of
the Group which gives rise to an inherent risk that
revenue could be recorded in the incorrect period or
could be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.

BPMRAERESRBRAZ -—HEREZER - RA
RBAREEENERENER 2 SELBEEHE
2 - BIRARIBEE@ R T IEREN AR NS - KA e ®
RHA TR BRI -
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue from advertising included the following:
(continued)

e performing regular visit on the web site and Apps,
on a sample basis, to assess if the advertisement
service existed;

e  selecting advertising contracts entered into during
the year, on a sample basis, and inspecting
payments from the contracting parties and
underlying payment details to determine if the payer
and the contracting party were the same entity; and

e inspecting significant manual adjustments to
revenue raised during the reporting period,
enquiring of management about the reasons for
such adjustments and comparing the details
of the adjustments with relevant underlying
documentation.
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HEEEREZIRROVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR A E])

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables

BZRRRBZEREE

FARFLEE (H)

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2()).

BRHEE VI EREN F21 R F20)8 &5 BE °
The Key Audit Matter
BAREELSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANEZRPOANEEEESE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s gross trade
receivables amounted to RMB270.2 million, against
which a loss allowance of RMB66.9 million was
recorded. The Group’s trade receivables mainly arose
from advertising business.

Management measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss based on
estimated loss rates for each category of receivables.
The estimated loss rates take into account the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of
the Group’s customers of different risk characteristics,
current market conditions, customer-specific conditions,
and forward-looking information. Such assessment
involves significant management judgement and
estimation.

R-ZE-—hF+-_A=+—RHB E5EZEFHREIIER
BRAARB270.2HET B RENEZREAERE
BRESE/ARKB6.9ET - EXENE HE WA
TEREESER -

EREEEANSREZRUAENERELRE  RRAE
REBAFEHABRRERBRNSBATEE SRR
BREE  FAHBEAXZEEHRERERE S5E
TRERRRBHEFPHNEKES ERMSER &
FREBRAMAEMERESSE - ZBEPRERNEEEH
i A0 AL

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for
trade receivables included the following:

e obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls relating to credit control,
debt collection and estimating the credit loss
allowance;

e evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating
the credit loss allowance with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e  assessing whether items were correctly categorized
in the trade receivables ageing report by comparing
individual items therein with sales contracts and
other relevant underlying documentation, on a
sample basis;

e obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by the management, including the basis
of segmentation of the accounts receivable based
on credit risk characteristics of customers and the
historical default data in management’s estimated
loss rates;

BPFEESBREFACEBERREENEZREFEREUT
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HEEEREZIRRVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR L E])
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables (Continued)

BEZRRRBRZHREE (&)

FARFLEE (H)

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2()).

BRRE OIH M 21 Rt 20) 89 &
The Key Audit Matter
BRESEHE

BB -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERPNFTEREBSEE

We identified the loss allowance for trade receivables
as a key audit matter because determining the level of
the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgment which is inherently subjective.
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for
trade receivables included the following: (continued)

e  assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgments,
including testing the accuracy of the historical
default data and evaluating whether the historical
loss rates are appropriately adjusted based on
current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

e re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance
as at 31 December 2019 based on the Group’s
credit loss allowance policies; and

o inspecting, on a sample basis, cash receipts from
debtors subsequent to the reporting date relating to
trade receivable balances as at 31 December 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of BabyTree Group

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HEEEREZIRROVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR A E])

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of BabyTree Group

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HEEEREZIRRVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR L E])

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of BabyTree Group

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HEEEREZIRROVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR A E])

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of BabyTree Group

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HEEEREZIRRVIEL A HEHRES

(RESHSZ MK BR L E])

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and,
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Ying Man Simon.

Certified Public Accountants
8" Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

AftiRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=—F—NF+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) (AARE([ AREE ) 71I7R)

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
hr=s AR®T T AREET T
Revenue WA 4 356,828 760,103
Cost of revenue R (134,195) (160,653)
Gross profit EF 222,633 599,450
Other revenue H ALK A 5(a) 20,898 20,484
Other net loss H 518 F 58 5(b) (20,471) (4,741)
Selling and marketing expenses SHE K& HAX (297,846) (179,905)
General and administration expenses —M RITERA X (281,465) (159,066)
Research and development expenses HEFA (111,441) (125,234)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (FBE),RF (467,692) 150,988
Net finance income YN 6(a) 32,230 10,369
Fair value change of financial liabilities KAnEEE8E8
at fair value through profit or loss FFAEBEENS/REE
RRBEED - 365,610
Fair value changes on investments IRARBEZEAZEA
measured at fair value through profit EHEENREAREER
or loss o g) (25,880) =
Share of loss of associates FE(LHE & R EEE 16 (12,412) (3,412)
(Loss)/profit before income tax METESHAT (BR), ER 6 (473,754) 523,555
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®i (Ax) #% 7 (20,697) 2,672
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B#B), %7 (494,451) 526,227
Attributable to: BER:
Equity shareholders of the Company RN ERE SRR (493,896) 526,300
Non-controlling interests FEVE B I A 2 (555) (73)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8), R (494,451) 526,227
(Loss)/earnings per share BER (BR) %F 11
Basic and diluted (RMB) ERREE (ARET) (0.29) 0.29

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

ARk EMZEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=F—NF+_A=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in RMB) (JAA REFITR)

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
hr=s AR%T T ARBTTT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(&B),#=F  (494,451) 526,227
Other comprehensive income FREMZ2EBA
for the year (after tax and (BMBRHEBRED
reclassification adjustments) B ERE)
ltems that may be reclassified HE A B 7 H 218 H
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on translation of & ARRQ 7] G INHTE A F)
financial statements of the Company W HRAR A IE X =58
and overseas subsidiaries 40,479 (652,612)
Other comprehensive income FREMEEBA
for the year L 40,479  (652,612)
Total comprehensive income FREEWRALLE
for the year (453,972) (126,385)
Attributable to: BER
Equity shareholders of the Company NN ) S (453,417) (126,312)
Non-controlling interests FEPES R = (555) (73)
Total comprehensive income FAEHEWAHEEE
for the year (453,972) (126,385)

Notes: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI IEARR R

As at 31 December 2019 A=Z—hF+=-—A=1+—H

(Expressed in RMB) (A A R#3I/R)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
=4 ARET T AREET T
Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment YIE - BB k& 12 60,057 29,627
Intangible assets mIEE 13 3,486 4,494
Prepayments for non-current assets FEmENE ETRN IR 15 44,809 11,685
Interests in associates REEL D RIRRERS 16 49,468 14,617
Equity securities B S 17 163,008 25,432
Long-term investments KR E 18 42,825 =
Deferred tax assets BEETIREE 29(b) 28,061 48,761
,,,,,,,, 391,714 134,616

Current assets REBEE
Other current assets HAib B & &= 19 11,412 5,956
Inventories FE 20 3,217 14,657
Trade receivables 2 Z W FRIE 21 203,297 369,720
Prepayments and other receivables TR R8I H At B R IE 22 436,318 96,650
Short-term investments EHERE 23 585,342 809,430
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEEY 24 1,422,855 2,229,907
,,,,,, 2,662,441 3,526,320

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables E 5 N RIE 25 13,660 14,475
Accruals and other payables TE U BR 30 M At 5 5R0R 26 81,516 171,529
Contract liabilities aRAE 27 2,211 5,012
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 25,184 =
Current taxation BN EATH 18 29(a) 1,010 14,211
. 1235881 205,227
Net current assets n@aEE®FE 2,538,860 3,321,093
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBERS 2,930,574 3,455,709

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI ISARR R

As at 31 December 2019 A=ZE—hF+=-—A=+—H

(Expressed in RMB) (A A R#3I/R)

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
M ARET T ARET T
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 12,256 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHBAE 29(b) 115 61
,,,,,,,,,, 1231 6t
Net assets EEFHE 2,918,203 3,455,648
Equity =
Share capital &7 30 1,158 1,172
Reserves (e 30 2,913,473 3,450,349
Total equity attributable to AT REERR
equity shareholders PE{L IR RE4RRE
of the Company 2,914,631 3,451,521
Non-controlling interests FEfEHI S 3,572 4,127
TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE 2,918,203 3,455,648

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 30
March 2020.

WANG Huainan
EXed|
Director

EF

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

=R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE=—ZF—NF+=-A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in RMB) (JAA REEFIITR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARAERRRER
Non-
Share Share Capital  Translation Accumulated controling Total
capital  premium  reseves  reserves loss Total interests equity
E32s i
kA RIVEE EAGE  EXRE  ZHER &; R EREE
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
i ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-NF-F-ANEE - - (2,047,797) 131 (2,147954) (4,395,620) - (4,395,620
Changes in equity for 2018: RIE-NEHRERE
Profit/{loss) for the year ErgHl /(58 - - - - 56300 526,300 (73) 526227
Qther comprehensive income A 2EHA - - - (652,612 - (652612 - (652612
Total comprehensive income PERAEE - - - (652612 526300  (126312) (73)  (126,385)
Capital injection from owners ARAEAALE
of the Company 30(c) 12 - - - - 12 - 12
Capital injection from owners REEET AR NTE
of the companies comprising
the Group 30(d) - - 6,493 - - 6,493 - 6,493
Capitalization issue BRLEL 244 (244) = = = = = =
Termination of preferred rights upon ~ BAAREETRAR 2
completion of PO 729 6,395,664 - - - 6,396,393 - 6,396,393
Issuance of ordinary shares relating ~ E{TEE N AREERER
to initial public offering, net of Bak - NhesBeRk
underwriting commissions and R ER
other issuance costs 30(c) 187 1,570,368 - - - 1,570,585 - 1,670,555
Capital injection from SRR E
non-controling interests === = = = 4200 4,200
Balance at 31 December 2018 ~ W=E-\E+=A=1-A
i3] 1172 7965788 (2,241,304)  (652,481) (1,621,654) 3,451,521 4,127 3,455,648

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SRS ER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE=—F—NF+=-A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in RMB) (JAA REEFI|7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FAARRRRES
Non-
Share Share  Treasury Capital ~ Translaion  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium shares  reserves reserves loss Total interests equity

Bx  BHER  BERR  EARE  ERER  RiER EE Sl .
Mot RMBOOO  RMBO  RMBO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBO0  RMB'0N  RMB'00
Mt ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARETR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARRTR

Balance at 1 January 2019 W-5-15-A-H

Hhg (M2 TeSTes - QM4 MY (GG St 40T 4666
Changes in equity for 2019: HoE-NENRESS:
Loss for the year EmEE - - - - - (493896 (493,89) (5 (404451)
Other comprefensive income EHEARA - - - - 40479 - W4 -
Total comprefensive income MHAEE - - - - 40479 (493896)  (453,417) (555)  (453,072)
Repurchase of rdinary shares LERER g - - (B3dmy - - - (B - (834
Cancelition of reastry shares BRI I T X £ -
Balance at 31 December 2019 RoE-1fE

TZR=T-BAHGE 1158 T84 (1045 241304 (612009 (2115550) 291461 3512 291808

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the  [{:F : AEB R FRLETT BB ERN —_ET—NE—F—

modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative HERERBRERELEANFE165E o BIEZ S
information is not restated. See note 2(c). R LERERYESY - FLRAKTFE2(C) °

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial Z$195& 3048 24K ZEMIEHE
statements. 2y e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

AHBEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=—F—NF+_A=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in RMB) (JAA REEFIITR)

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
hr=g AR¥T T ARETTT
Cash flows from operating activities K& EBHHMELENRESHRE
Net cash used in operations LTINS TR 24(b) (673,810) (226,941)
Income taxes paid B ATER 29(a) (13,144) (15,444)
Net cash used in operating activities &K&EBFFARSFEHE (686,954) (242,385)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFMELENRSHRE
Interest received B A2 33,877 10,387
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME  BERREN
plant and equipment FriS k18 2,122 -
Payments for the purchase of property, BEEWE - HENERER
plant and equipment (N (10,453) (20,651)
Proceeds from sale of short-term & R AR E TS 3R
investments 936,907 3,717,042
Purchases of short-term investments BEEHRE (699,758) (4,010,852)
Purchases of long-term investments BERAKE (42,702) =
Proceeds from long-term investments RAPIGE R FTB IR 536 -
Proceeds from sale of an associate S & D R FTS RIA 250 -
Acquisition of equity securities W iE R 35 5 (160,740) (17,100)
Acquisition of associates i3 NG (50,228) (5,400)
Payments for acquisition of a company  UgE& A BIHY 15K (44,096) =
Net proceeds from sale of HEREMTEEER
structured deposits EET NS RIEFE
in other current assets - 1,252
Received from related parties B Uk A 75 HFRI8 1,338 152,573
Net cash used in investing activities R&EEFEFTANEESFE (32,947) (172,749)

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

AHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=F—NF+_A=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in RMB) (JAA REFITR)

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
BT ARBT R ARBTIT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEBHMELENRSRE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHENERT D 24(c) (28,470) =
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENAEHES R EE D 24(c) (2,124) =
Purchase of own shares BEARFRGN 30(e) (83,473) -
Capital injection from owners RABHEBENEE
of the Company - 12
Proceeds from issue of financial BITMEELENSR I AR
instruments with preferred rights 1S3IE 24(c) - 3,535,584
Repayment to the holders of financial AT AR —KME R EH
instruments with preferred rights BEENERIAREA
in a subsidiary EnpEgeN 24(c) - (2,718,541)
Capital injection from owners REEETAGHEEANEE
of companies comprising the Group 30(d) - 6,493
Proceeds from investment deposit EBEREENREER
of potential investor FT{S 708 24(c) - 49,000
Repayment for investment deposit EEBEREENRERN
of potential investor 24(c) - (49,018)
Proceeds from issuance of BTHERXAREEFEDN
ordinary shares relating to the initial TR ATISSRIA -
public offering, net of issuance costs HMBREITER - 1,590,276
Capital injection from IEIE SRR EE
non-controlling interests - 4,200
Amounts from/(repayment to) related kB (EE) @5 rzRIE
parties 24(c) 1,841 (25,922)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTA), B
financing activities REFHE . (112,226) 2,392,084
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HERBEELZEY CHL)
cash equivalents R 5 (832,127) 1,976,950
Cash and cash equivalents at the FINRERBESEEY
beginning of the year 2,229,907 204,783
Effect of exchange rate ERREBHMBFEREZEE
fluctuations on cash held 25,075 48,174
Cash and cash equivalents at the end EXHNRERBESEEY
of the year 24(a) 1,422,855 2,229,907

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the  Hff&F
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 195 to 304 form part of these financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ORGANIZATION 1 FEXERAS

BabyTree Group (the “Company”) was incorporated in Cayman ZEEHREER([AAR)D)RZZT—N\F
Islands on 9 February 2018 as an exempted company with ZANAREBERSEERAREARHASE
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman EaEME AEREERAR °
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The ARRABBIEEERAT o AA7E REHK
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are BRal(ABIASE]) EZRHPEA
principally engaged in the advertising, e-commerce and REME ([RE])REES EFK
content monetization (the “Business”) in the People’s Republic MBS E ([%1%]) -

of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The RAalRORZE—N\EF+—A=++t
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 27 November 2018 AEEABERIMBRARIERLET
(the “Listing”). (FrEm]) e

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 FESHBX

(a) Statement of compliance (a) &#HBH

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

ZEVBRRIDIZBAEER 2BER
MmEER (BERMBHRELER ]
ZaEEEEReEEEE ([E
REtEREEE ) BHNAEER
18 51 B B 75 o 5 2 Al - BIFR 2 52 R
([EFREE 2R k) URBER
AGRPIZEBERERE - REMBHRE
NHEBEEMARSIAARRARES L
MARAZEREEGRX - AEERAZ
TESTBREELT -

BERgt ZAEESCHEME TH R
RIEEFTBIRM B RS EL - ZFEAS
RAEE ARG HEERERKATZE
Ry MRAERZEEAEEER
PR B 75 3R 5 2 A P 5| BB AT ALA T @ 5
HEZEMNSARRED  CRBR
ZEPBRERA - BRER S EHRHE
2(c) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR R EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

- Financial instruments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL) (see note 2(f));

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on these financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a new IFRS, IFRS 16, Leases, and
a number of amendments to IFRSs that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group.

Except for IFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

IFRS 16, Leases

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, IFRIC 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, SIC 15, Operating leases
— incentives, and SIC 27, Evaluating the substance
of transactions involving the legal form of a lease. It
introduces a single accounting model for lessees, which
requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) and leases of low value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward from IAS
17 substantially unchanged.

IFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect
that leases have on the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 as from 1
January 2019. The Group has elected to use the
modified retrospective approach and has therefore
recognized the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1
January 2019. Comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17.

FESE R (#)

(c)

SRBREH

BRest Rl EER@CBMH— R
AT BIFR B 75 9 5 22 R (BB B 7%
BELEF16HEE) REKY
BRELEVWZHER - 2895
RAEEEMEtHAAREEL
B e

BB R SRR E 16 R A
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EET L OIOEY Vet g 2
ROERRERFAELTAY
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58 R 79 1 5Kt 2 40 £ 1 37 3T o B
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BT ERELEFE16RER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied
are set out below:

a. New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. IFRS 16 defines a lease
on the basis of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in
IFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered into or
changed on or after 1 January 2019. For contracts
entered into before 1 January 2019, the Group has used
the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements
are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that were
previously assessed as leases under IAS 17 continue to
be accounted for as leases under IFRS 16 and contracts
previously assessed as non-lease service arrangements
continue to be accounted for as executory contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

IFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by IAS 17. Instead,
the Group is required to capitalize all leases when it
is the lessee, including leases previously classified
as operating leases under IAS 17, other than those
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets which
are exempt. As far as the Group is concerned, these
newly capitalized leases are primarily in relation to
property, plant and equipment as disclosed in note 32.
For an explanation of how the Group applies lessee
accounting, see note 2(j).

At the date of transition to IFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019),
the Group determined the length of the remaining lease
terms and measured the lease liabilities for the leases
previously classified as operating leases at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1
January 2019. The weighted average of the incremental
borrowing rates used for determination of the present
value of the remaining lease payments was 4.75%.

To ease the transition to IFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients
at the date of initial application of IFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of IFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for
which the remaining lease term ends within 12
months from the date of initial application of IFRS
16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 31
December 2019;

(i) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of
initial application of IFRS 16, the Group applied a
single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics (such as leases
with a similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar economic
environment); and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as disclosed in note 32 as at 31 December
2018 to the opening balance for lease liabilities

FESTEHE (&)

AR EENBEHS &
(#8)

TRIWRARZZE—NF+ZA=
+—BRELEEAE (0K
B2FWE) BN —T—NL&E— A
—HRERANBEABEFNEHE

recognized as at 1 January 2019:

TTHYEER -
1 January 2019
—E-NEF
—A—H
RMB’ 000
AREFT
Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 RZZE-\G+=-HA=+—H
RS T S A 85,538
Less: commitments relating to leases exempt A BREETEMEMEE
from capitalization: BRREE
— short-term leases and other leases with remaining lease —HBHEBRA - NF+=A
term ending on or before 31 December 2019 =+—HZ AR
HEREMEE 10,558
— leases of low-value assets —KEEEENMEE 35
Less: commitments relating to termination of lease contracts ¥ : B4R IFFAE A 41 B e AL 7,501
67,444
Less: total future interest expenses B BEFERTAE 3,433
Present value of remaining lease payments, FpHENZNAE
discounted using the benchmark interest rate (RAZZ—NE—A—H
at 1 January 2019 MR KA ) 64,011
Add: finance lease liabilities recognized m: R=F-NF+=A8
as at 31 December 2018 —t+—HEANREHESRE -
Total lease liabilities recognized at 1 January 2019 RZZ—NE— A — AR
HE&EESR 64,011

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognized
at an amount equal to the amount recognized for the
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognized in the statement of financial position at 31
December 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

(Continued)

b.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ZEE:BE @)
Lessee accounting and transitional impact b. REAASTEENBEMSE
(Continued) (&)
The following table summarizes the impacts of the T 2R B A B B B s o R A
adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated F16REAREEE OB B AR
statement of financial position: &
Carrying  Capitalization Carrying
amount at of operating amount at
31 December lease 1 January
2018 contracts 2019
RZE-N\F RZZ—NE
+ZA=+—08 KEHELHW —A—HB#/
FRE(E -¥N(d RAEE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARET T AREBTT
Line items in the BHRERR TP ZRR
consolidated statement B R B 7 3 o5 2 B
of financial position F165E S EMIER !
impacted by the adoption
of IFRS 16:
Property, plant and equipment M - BE &K 29,627 64,011 93,638
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 134,616 64,011 198,627
Prepayments and other receivables — TBf$ 38 R H L EIKFIA 96,650 (2,954) 93,696
Total current assets TEEEHALE 3,526,320 (2,954) 3,523,366
Accruals and other payables TEURBR R N Eo A B 15 3R 0R 171,529 (625) 170,904
Lease liabilities (current) HEEE(RE) - 26,808 26,808
Current liabilities nEEE 205,227 26,183 231,410
Net current assets REEEFE 3,321,093 (29,137) 3,291,956
Total assets less current liabilities #EERRBHEE 3,455,709 34,874 3,490,583
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEEE (ERE) - 34,874 34,874
Total non-current liabilities B EEEE 61 34,874 34,935
Net assets EEFHE 3,455,648 - 3,455,648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR R EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result, segment results
and cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a
lessee is required to recognize interest expense accrued
on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of
the previous policy of recognizing rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. This results in a positive impact
on the reported profit from operations in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss, as compared to
the results if IAS 17 had been applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalized leases
into their capital element and interest element (see note
24(c)). These elements are classified as financing cash
outflows, similar to how leases previously classified as
finance leases under IAS 17 were treated, rather than as
operating cash outflows, as was the case for operating
leases under IAS 17. Although total cash flows are
unaffected, the adoption of IFRS 16 therefore results in
a significant change in presentation of cash flows within
the cash flow statement.

The following tables give an indication of the estimated
impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s
financial result and cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2019, by adjusting the amounts reported
under IFRS 16 in these consolidated financial statements
to compute estimates of the hypothetical amounts
that would have been recognized under IAS 17 if this
superseded standard had continued to apply in 2019
instead of IFRS 16, and by comparing these hypothetical
amounts for 2019 with the actual 2018 corresponding
amounts which were prepared under IAS 17.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B R R AR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

c. Impact on the financial result, segment results
and cash flows of the Group (Continued)

FESEER (@)
c. HAEEHBESE -

2 EBEE

RESRENTE (&)

2019 2018
“E-NE —EN\E
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
Add back: related to  Hypothetical Compared
Amounts IFRS 16 operating amounts to amounts
reported depreciation  leases as if for 2019 reported for
under and interest underAS 17 as if under 2018 under
IFRS 16 expense (Note 1) 1AS 17 IAS 17
(A) (B) (C)  (D=A+B-C)
AR :
BRERE
BENGE ZZ-NEN BREReH
o 8 EN  BREE  RAEUR
REEREYE BERNBRE REEREH EORE H-B-N\F
BERAE6S RAE6E AR BRESHEY Bl
EHMeH MERANSMEX (1) 2178 TRAL
(A) (B) (C)  (D=A+B-C)
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AR®Tr ARETR  AR¥TR  ARET:
Financial result for year ended ~ SRABMRHERE
31 December 2019 impacted ~ EBIE16%KTEMH
by the adoption of IFRS 16: HE-_Z-NF1+ZHR
St-HLEEM
BRE:
(Loss)/profit from operations % (§#) /&7l (467,692) 28,915 30,264 (469,041) 150,988
Finance costs BT Ep A (2,124) 2,124 - - (18)
(Loss)/profit before taxation ~ BREiAT (58) /%Al (473,754) 31,039 30,264 (472,979) 523,555
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(FR)/&H (494,451) 24,103 23,466 (493,814) 526,227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 FES:HEX @)
(Continued)
c. Impact on the financial result, segment results c. HAEBEUMKEE  IHEE

and cash flows of the Group (Continued) RREERENEE ()

2019 2018
“E-NE —ZT-N\E
Estimated
amounts
related  Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts to operating amounts amounts
reported leases as if for 2019 reported
under  under IAS 17 as if under for 2018
IFRS 16  (Notes 1 &2) IAS 17 under IAS 17
(A) (B) (C=A+B)
REEHERR
ikt o8 “E-NEH REEReH
REERGE  BEORBER HBREH BN BRIZETH
RERAFE6E SHENEITE  REEReR HIT-N\&
Lk (HraE1Rk2) ERHETH EHROSTAL
(A) (B) (C=A+B)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AR®TR ARETL AREFT
Line items in the condensed BZ-E-AE+t=R=1-H
consolidated cash flow LEENERAHRERER
statement for the year ended RS FRERT RS ER
31 December 2019 impacted F16%FEMNER
by the adoption of IFRS 16:
Net cash used in operations LERMRBRSTE (673,810) (30,594) (704,404) (226,941)
Net cash used in operating "eIHRARERE
activities (686,954) (30,594) (717,548) (242,385)
Capital element of lease rentals paid 2 AHEREHERHH (28,470) 28,470 - =
Interest element of lease rentals paid B A& £ HF 255 (2,124) 2,124 - =
Net cash (used in)/generated REEH (FTA),/ FEM
from financing activities ReFE (112,226) 30,594 (81,632) 2,392,084
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

c. Impact on the financial result, segment results
and cash flows of the Group (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is
an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in 2019
that relate to leases which would have been classified
as operating leases, if IAS 17 had still applied in 2019.
This estimate assumes that there were no differences
between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2019 would have been classified as
operating leases under IAS 17, if IAS 17 had still applied in

2019. Any potential net tax effect is ignored.

In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified
from financing to operating in order to compute hypothetical
amounts of net cash generated from operating activities and

net cash used in financing activities as if IAS 17 still applied.

FESHEE (&)

c. HBEAKHEMBEE I2WER
RESRENTE (F)
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FizE2 :
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealized profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealized loss
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealized gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with notes 2(n) or (p)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognized
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognized
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements

The Company and the companies comprising
the Group entered several batches of contractual
agreements.

The Business included certain business operated
by Beijing Zhongming Century Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhongming”), say provision
of internet content services where foreign
investment is subject to restrictions under PRC
laws and regulations (“Restricted Business”), and
the rest of the Business are unrestricted to foreign
investment under PRC laws and regulations.

BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology
Co., Ltd. (“BabyTree Information”) entered a series
contractual arrangements (collectively, “Contractual
Arrangements” effective since May 2018) with
Zhongming and its registered owners to control the
Restricted Business.

Zhongming in these contractual arrangements is
called “VIE” and BabyTree Information is called
“WFOE”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements (Continued)

The equity interests of VIE are legally held by
individuals who act as nominee equity holders
of the VIE one behalf of WFOE. The contractual
agreements including powers of attorney, exclusive
business cooperation agreement, share pledge
agreement and loan agreement. Pursuant to the
Contractual Agreements, WFOE have the power to
direct activities that most significantly impact the
VIE, including appointing key management, setting
up operating policies, exerting financial controls
and transferring profit or assets out of the VIE at its
discretion. WFOE consider that they also have the
right to substantially all of the economic benefits of
VIE and have an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in VIE when and to the
extent permitted by PRC law at the minimum price
possible.

The Group has determined that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with PRC laws
and are legally enforceable. However, uncertainties
in the PRC legal system could limit the Group’s
ability to enforce the Contractual Arrangements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)
o Business combinations

a)

b)

Business combinations not under common
control

The Group accounts for business
combinations not under common control
using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group. The consideration
transferred in the acquisition is generally
measured at fair value, as are the identifiable
net assets acquired. Any gain on a bargain
purchase is recognized in profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed
as incurred, except if related to the issue of
debt or equity securities.

Business combinations under common
control

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statement items of
the combining entities of businesses in which
the common control combination occurs as
if they had been consolidated from the date
when the combining entities or businesses
first came under the control of same
shareholder.

The assets and liabilities of the combining
entities or businesses are consolidated at
the carrying amount previously recognized.
The consolidated statements of profit or
loss, the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statements of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement
include the results of each of the combining
entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented or since the date when combining
entities or businesses first came under
common control, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common
control combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR R EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(e)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price,
other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into the associate
that forms part of the Group’s equity investment.
Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment loss
for the year are recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

When the Group’s share of loss exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further loss is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate. (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note 2(j)(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealized profits and loss resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealized loss provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when significant influence or joint control is lost is
recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see
note 2(f)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognized/
derecognized on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction
costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 31(d). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

— amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 2(u)(v)).

— fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual
cash flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognized
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit loss, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognized, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the

investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Investments in wealth management
products of the Group are classified as fair
value at profit or loss. Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are
recognized in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(it

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(u)(iv).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including right-of-use
assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss (see note 2(j)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labor, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs.

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognized in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Electronic equipment 3 - 5 years
- Office equipment 5 years
- Leasehold improvements 5 years
- Right-of-use assets 1 -5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalized if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. Other development expenditure
is recognized as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred. No expenditure on development activities
is capitalized in the current or comparative accounting
periods.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortization (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment loss (see
note 2(j)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands is recognized as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Software held by the Group is
mainly consisted of warehouse management system,
office administrative software such as Email system and
OA system, ERP System and others.

Amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. The Group estimated
useful lives based on the shorter of licensing period
and the period over which the software is expected to
generate net cash inflows for the Group. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:
- Software 3 - 10 years
Both the period and method of amortization are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(i)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalized are recognized as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(i)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(g) and 2(j)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property in
property, plant and equipment and presents lease
liabilities separately in the statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(i)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

(B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group. Leases which did not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group were classified as
operating leases, with the following exceptions:

- property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property was classified
as investment property on a property-
by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, was accounted for as if
held under a finance lease.

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets were recognized as property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, were recorded as obligations
under finance leases. Depreciation was provided at
rates which wrote off the cost or valuation of the
assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it was likely the Group would obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in
note 2(g). Impairment losses were accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 2(j). Finance charges implicit in the
lease payments were charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge
on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period. Contingent rentals were
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they were incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives
received were recognized in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they were
incurred.

() Credit loss and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments

The Group recognize a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (ECLs) on financial assets measured
at amortized cost (including cash and cash
equivalents and trade receivables).

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities and investments in
wealth management products measured at FVPL,
are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
loss. Credit loss are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- trade receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments (including
structured deposits in other current assets),
the Group recognizes a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realizing security
(if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days
past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

= failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

= existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognized as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognizes an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with note
2(u)(v) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortized cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

= it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(J) Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit loss from financial instruments
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognized as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognized no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;

- prepayment for non-current assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available
for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ZEE:BE @)
(Continued)
(i) Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued) (i) GEFEREERNE (&
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (i) HMIERSEEDRE
(Continued) (#8)
—  Calculation of recoverable amount -  AREEEMNFEAE
The recoverable amount of an asset is the EEMAKEEBERE
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal AR EEREE KK
and value in use. In assessing value in SFERAEEBECHNR

use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from

2% EBEEREE
B Bt ARAKRERE
RIRFR B AT RAIR K5t &
BBE UWRKRMIEE
Al ¥t 5 B O B [ E A
ZEEMNRERRONF
fl o 2R IR E 2 P R EX

other assets, the recoverable amount is IR e M IERE LB
determined for the smallest group of assets YREMEEMNR S

that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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Recognition of impairment loss -  BESENER
An impairment loss is recognized in profit or HEEREMBHRESE
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or EEMMEAEBERSHE

the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
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loss recognized in respect of cash-generating IR & 4 B AL R A
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying REBE - HEERN
amount of any goodwill allocated to the WO o BE T 23R & £ E

cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i

(il

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized in prior years. Reversals
of impairment loss are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognized.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see note 2(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognized in an interim period
in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognized
had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period
relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(k)

U]

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises costs of purchase after deducting
rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognized as a cost of revenue in the
period in which the related revenue is recognized.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realizable value and all losses of inventories are
recognized as a cost of revenue in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognized as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as
a cost of revenue in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue (see note 2(u)). A
contract liability would also be recognized if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognized (see note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(u)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

(o)

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognized before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortized cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 2(j)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognized in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs

Financial instruments with preferred rights

Ordinary shares with preferred rights (“Preferred
Securities”), which are designated as financial
instruments with preferred rights, issued by the Group
are redeemable upon occurrence of certain future events
and at the option of the holders. Financial instruments
with preferred rights is classified as a liability and the
Group designated them as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. These financial liabilities are
initially recognized at fair value. Any directly attributable
transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred. The financial instruments with preferred
rights are subsequently remeasured at the end of each
reporting period. The gain or loss on remeasurement
to fair value is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Upon completion of IPO, all preferred rights entitled to
the holders of Preferred Securities are terminated. The
fair value of financial instruments with preferred rights at
the date of IPO is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortized cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(j)(i).

Employee benefits

()  Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognizes restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(s)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax loss and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized, are recognized.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax loss and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilized.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured
based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realize
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realize and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

t)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods or the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognized under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. The Group takes advantage of
the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and
does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing
is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

Advertising

The Group offers different formats of on-line
advertisements, such as banners, rectangles,
picture-in-picture, text links, images and topics,
throughout the Group’s Apps or websites. The
Group generates revenue when the Group displays
the advertisement (“display-based revenue”) in the
contracted period or when a user carries out a
specified action (‘performance-based revenue”) as

stipulated the contract.

Display-based advertisements services are
provided in a subscribed impressions for cost per
thousand impressions advertising arrangements.
Revenue is recognized on a pro-rata basis as the
advertisement is displayed in accordance with the
terms of the advertising contracts.

Performance-based advertisements services are
provided based on performance criteria such as
number of click of links directly to the advertiser’s
website or number of applications for advertising
products. Revenue is recognized at the time when
a user clicks on the advertisement or when the
user views the advertisement for a specific period
of time based on the specific terms of the contract.

Sales rebates are estimated based on the Group’s
best estimation on historical experiences and
deduct from revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i

E-commerce

The Group conducts e-commerce operations on
the Group’s Apps or websites in two models: direct
sales and marketplace.

Under the direct sales model, the Group purchases
products from suppliers and sells to customers as
principal. Under such model, the Group controls
over the products as by sourcing, pricing, taking
inventory, arranging for delivery, providing customer
service and responding to return requests directly.
Revenue from direct sales is recognized at a point
in time when the customer takes possession of
and accepts the goods. Revenue is determined
based on the gross amount of sales excluding
value added tax, and after deduction of any trade
discounts and sales return. Sales returns are
estimated based on the Group’s best estimation on
historical experiences.

Under the marketplace model, third-party vendors
offer merchandise to customers on the Group’s
e-commerce platform, and the Group provides
display, transaction and billing services for all
orders in their online marketplace. The Group as
the owner and operator of the platform charges
commissions on the sales to these third-party
vendors. Revenue of commissions is recognized
at a point in time when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Content Monetization

The Group provides premium content and charges
a fee to customers. The Group cooperates with
institutes who have qualified expert resources or
individual qualified experts to provide knowledge
sharing or online consultation by the functions in
the Group’s platform.

Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the
customer pays for and obtains the access to the
premium content.

The Group considers whether it is acting as
principal or agent in the provision of premium
content. When the Group is primarily responsible
for fulfilling the contract, has the power to control
the process of content generation, the right to use
the content and has discretion to establish pricing,
revenue is determined based on the gross amount
of sales excluding value added tax, and after
deduction of any trade discounts and sales return.
Otherwise, the Group performs as a channel for
the customers and the service providers, revenue
is determined based on the net amount of sales
excluding value added tax and after deduction of
the payments to institutes and experts.

Dividends

= Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognized when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

= Dividend income from listed investments
is recognized when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortized cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortized cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(j)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognized as
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are recognized as deferred income and
consequently are effectively recognized in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset as other
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entities operate (“the functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is USD. As the major
operations of the Group are within mainland China, the
consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gain and loss are recognized in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Company initially recognizes such
non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

FESE R (#)

(v)

S ]E

AEERERVYBRRABEN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(w) Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(x)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viij The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3
AND ESTIMATES

(@) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

Principal versus agent consideration

- Revenue from e-commerce via the Group’s
platform

The Group conducts e-commerce operations on
the Group’s platform in two models: marketplace
and direct sales.

Determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the sales of goods
on the Group’s platform requires judgement
and consideration of all relevant facts and
circumstances. In evaluation of the Group acting
as a principal or an agent, the Group considers,
individually or in combination whether the Group
is primarily responsible for fulflment the contract,
is subject to the inventory risk, has discretion to
establish prices. Having considered the relevant
facts and circumstances, management considers
that the Group obtains control of those goods
sold through direct sales while the Group does
not obtain control of those goods sold through
marketplace before the goods are transferred to
the customers. Accordingly, the Group is acting
as a principal for the direct sales and the related
revenue is presented on a gross basis, while the
Group is acting as an agent for the marketplace
and the related revenue is presented on a net
basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

EZgtHE R (&)

(b) & EAEAE & B RIR
et THBAEENEZREN

Credit loss of trade receivables

The Group recognize a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (ECLs) financial assets measured at
amortized cost. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting date.
If the financial condition of the debtors and the
general economic conditions were to deteriorate,
actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilized. In
assessing whether such temporary differences can
be utilized in the future, the Group needs to make
judgements and estimates on the ability of each of
its subsidiaries to generate taxable income in the
future years. The Group believes it has recorded
adequate deferred taxes based on the prevailing
tax rules and regulations and its current best
estimates and assumptions. In the event that future
tax rules and regulations or related circumstances
change, adjustments to deferred taxation may be
necessary which would impact the Group’s results
or financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are providing
advertising, e-commerce and other content monetization
services to customers.

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue of the Group are all from contracts
with customers within the scope of IFRS 15. The
amount of each significant category of revenue is
as follows:

4

WmE o EB®E

(a)

iy &

AEENEIREYRATPEH]
EERY  EBEEMANEBNE
AR %5 o

LON B

AR EZ WA KB BB
BmEERF155EE R E
EFHMAHKRA - EEEZHK
sERINEEAT :

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-)N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR® TR AREET T

Advertising R 320,040 596,215
E-commerce E5]

— Direct sales - BH 13,967 69,820

— Marketplace -¥a 8,247 65,481

Content monetization B 14,574 28,587

356,828 760,103

The Group’s customer base is diversified and
includes only one customer with whom transactions
has exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues
during the reporting period. In 2019, revenues
from advertising to this customer amounted
to approximately RMB41.7 million. Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from this
customer are set out in note 31(a).

Revenue expected to be recognized in the
future arising from contracts with customers in
existence at the reporting date

Contracts with advertising customers always have
an original expected duration of less than one
year. And contracts with individual customers for
e-commerce and content monetization are always
satisfied within one month.

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and therefore
the information about remaining performance
obligations is not disclosed for contracts that have
an original expected duration of one year or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organized by business lines (products and services).
In a manner consistent with the way in the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three reportable
segments. No operating segments have been

aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

- Advertising

- E-commerce, which includes direct sales and
marketplace

- Content monetization

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
revenue and gross profit attributable to each reportable
segment. Other items in profit or loss are not allocated
to reportable segments.

Revenue and cost are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the cost incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortization of assets attributable to those segments.
Other information, together with the segment
information, provided to the Group’s senior executive
management, is measured in a manner consistent with
that applied in these financial statements. There were
no separate segment assets and segment liabilities
information provided to the Group’s senior executive
management, as they do not use this information to
allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the
operating segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued)
The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognized during the reporting period is as follows:

W K 7 #B ¥R & (#)

BE®R iﬁﬁf‘ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁxigﬂiﬂﬁﬁﬂ
BT :

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-ZE-NFtZA=T—-HLEFE
Content
Advertising E-commerce monetization Total
B Ef ABNE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Segment revenue o EiEs 320,040 22,214 14,574 356,828
Segment costs D EBRKA (103,665) (28,190) (2,340) (134,195)
Gross profit EH 216,375 (5,976) 12,234 222,633
For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z-\FT-A=t—HILEE
Content
Advertising ~ E-commerce ~ monetization Total
B ) HBANE CEl
RMB'’000 RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Segment revenue o EUk 596,215 135,301 28,587 760,103
Segment costs D E AR A (91,150) (67,069) (2,434) (160,653)
Gross profit EM 505,065 68,232 26,153 599,450

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while
the Group mainly operates its businesses in the PRC
and earns substantially all of the revenues from external
customers attributed to the PRC.

As at 31 December 2019, substantially all of the
non-current assets of the Group other than certain
interests in associates and equity securities were located
in PRC.

The reconciliation of segment gross profit to profit before
income tax for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
presented in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSS 5 HtRWAREMEIEEEE

(a) Other revenue (a) HEMwA
2019 2018
—E-RE —ZT—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®FR ARETT

Investment income of ARG E IR E W
short-term investments 5,223 14,886
Interest income from structured deposits ~ RIREE AR AT ERK)
in other current assets measured Hi B EEZEN
at amortized cost R TR SR RS HA - 1,252
Investment income from RAIGE IR E W
long-term investments 536 =
Disposal of an associate k=3 kNS 51 -
Government grants BT b 15,088 4,346
20,898 20,484
(b) Other net loss (b) HbEEFEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTIT
Net loss on disposal of property, LEYE - BER
plant and equipment RIEREIR R 13,058 22
Net foreign exchange loss HNIE 518 F 58 3,921 4,155
Others Hh 3,492 564

20,471 4,741
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

(@) Net finance income

6 BRBiAT(EE) ER

TH SRR E

(a) MBUYAFE

BRAAT (B518) R MR (GEA)

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT
Interest income from deposits with FHRER=EAN
maturity less than three months B A BUA 34,354 10,387
Interest expense on interest-bearing loans  5HE & & H 25 - (18)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENHFE (2,124) -
Net finance income U N2 32,230 10,369
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRAE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB’ 000
fizE ARET T ARET T

Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITARHM
B 286,177 247,234

Contributions to defined contribution REHRFRIKRGE
retirement plan R () 25,240 27,085
Termination benefits RERRA 23,412 3,482
334,829 277,801

(i) Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are (i)
required to participate in a defined contribution retirement

scheme administered and operated by the local municipal

AEEETENMEARNERA
EEMTHRFER R EENRE
WFRARFHE] - AR5 B £ B A9 Y

B R RIRE TR R B8R

government. The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute

funds which are calculated on certain percentages of the

BHEZ —ELLAIFEETHEIH

average employee salary as agreed by the local municipal % o

government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of

the employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6
(Continued)

(c)

BREiA (B518),HER (@)

Other items (c) HiEHE
The following expenses are included in cost of NTHAIFAZEERDS - HER
revenue, selling and marketing expenses, general and AT —MERITBEAIAR
administration expenses and research and development e A o
expenses:
2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B & ARBT T ARBTIT
Cost of inventories FERA 25,709 62,845
Short-term lease FEHIHE 3,835 -
Depreciation charge (Note 12) FESE (E12)
— owned property, plant and - BEDE  BER
equipment B 13,780 10,689
- right-of-use assets - EREEE (i) 28,916 -
Total minimum lease payments for RIE BB & 5T 22 R
leases previously classified as FATHRBED AR
operating leases under IAS 17 KEHEMHER
RIEBERMRERE 0] - 31,382
Amortization cost of intangible & EESHAA
assets (Note 13) (Mt3E13) 2,405 2,371
Loss allowance for trade and B 5 I E fth f& W sk IE
other receivables EERE 82,601 15,185
Auditors’ remuneration ZE RN &
— audit services - BT RS (ii) 5,548 4,974

Notes:

)

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognize right-of-use assets relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under IAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets
at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognize the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of
the previous policy of recognizing rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not
restated. See note 2(c).

The amounts include annual audit fee and other statutory
audit fee for subsidiaries.

BYEE

() AKRESERKETEREERE
BRI ERELERFE165 - I
RZF—NF—A—BFABRHVER
BNEREHEAHENERES
E G ZEHELNERERERES
ERIF1THRAEREEHE - N
T-NF—A-BERERERE
BER  ARE (ERFEBEAN) B
REREEENE - MEALABER
RAEREREEHNEREEEE
HATEAMBEERX - ®EENZA
T TEILRES ° RHE2(0) °

(i) ZEScHEEBEFERTEARNE
RAMEMEEETER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 &f6ERXANAEHR

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Income tax expense/(credit) in the consolidated (a) &HEBZRAMNFAEHRE X (K

statements of profit or loss represents: ®)iE:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARET T
Current tax - PRC BIEABiE —
Enterprise Income Tax EFEH
Provision for the year FEEE 1,010 21,887
Over provision in respect of prior years BAFERERE (1,067) =
Deferred tax expense IEFERIER X
Origination and reversal of ETREAENEELERED
temporary differences 20,754 (24,559)
20,697 (2,672)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT EF IS SRR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between income tax expense/ (b)
(credit) and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable

tax rates:

EHEZRAWFBH (&)

RERBEAENTERBAX (K
%) BB (BER) FEBNYE :

2019 2018
—B-NF —T-N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB’ 000
BisE ARETR ARETFT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT (E518), & (473,754) 523,555
Tax calculated at statutory tax rates RIBRAN S RAE
applicable to profits in the & EREE TR
respective jurisdictions STERTRIE 0] (102,333) 137,254
Tax effect of: T EBRBGHE
Non-deductible expenses and loss AR A > R B 1E (ii 4,214 7,371
Fair value change of WA BETE
financial liabilities at fair value BRETAZH
through profit or loss BENSHAaE
AR BER - (91,409)
Preferential tax rate applicable HARKBRRN
to subsidiary BERE 0] (347) (12,663)
Additional deductible allowance FH 2 B SCRRSMY
for research and development BB
expenses (10,093) (16,714)
Tax loss and temporary differences RERIEELER IR
not recognized as deferred tax BEMNTIEBER
assets ERnER 130,323 7,691
Over provision in respect BAEFEBERE
of prior years (1,067) -
Utilization and recognition FERI AR TR
of previously tax loss and FiaEE R
temporary differences TRUEER 2GR
unrecognized KR - 612)
Others HA (i) - (33,596)
Actual tax expense/(credit) ERHERY /(ER) 20,697 (2,672)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between income tax expense/
(credit) and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable
tax rates: (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(i)

Income tax rate applies to the Company and subsidiaries

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands.

The Group has no assessable profit in Hong Kong during the
reporting period and is not subject to any Hong Kong profits
tax. The Hong Kong profits tax rate during the reporting
period is 16.5%.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law (‘Income
Tax Law”) of the PRC, enterprise income tax rate for the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries during the reporting period is 25%.

According to the relevant PRC income tax law, the
Company'’s subsidiary, BabyTree Information was certified as
a New and High Technology Enterprise in Beijing since 2016,
and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.The
current certification of New and High Technology Enterprise
held by BabyTree Information will expire on 1 December
2022.

Non-deductible expenses and loss mainly represent
non-deductible other expenses or losses that exceed the
deductible limitation such as entertainment, donation and
others.

It represents an additional deductible investment loss within
the Group during the reorganization in preparation for the
Listing.
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(b)

EHEZRAWFBH (&)

RERBEAENTERBAX (K
%) EEH (BR) FEHNEEK:
&)

Mtk
i) BRARAR B RHERA R K FTSH R

REFEHSRABERARFSERRE
B AEERASEENEABEARES
BRBMERMAEH -

REBEMA - ALBEREE L EERTE
A R BABMEFB NG - N8
EHA - BEMNEHER16.5%

REBCHBEDEMBHE) ([KAEH
EN])  AREMHEMEARRNRE S
A EMSHER25%

RBEETREMAEIE  ARFNMER
AIEEAEE A ST - NFRERE R
REFEMEE  ARZHE15%NEEFR
BHE - BEHEERBARAENDHK
MEXRBER T -_—F+-"A—0E
o

(ii) AABEAZ RERBEZRBOINR L
PR ) A1~ A 050 L 4t B =2 sk S 48 (151 20 R R

(i) WAREFELMEHAPBAEBRHEIN
ANRIEE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

8 EEEM

RIZE B R AMRDIZE383(1) 1RIA R A 7]
BROIFE2H (REEZNEZER) REW
EFFHBMT -

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE-E-NE+-R=t-HLEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
1% 2R
Yok BNEAN MiETA  BHRGHEMRT &t
RMB'000 RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥ETn AR¥TR AR%Tz AR%TR
Executive directors HTES
WANG Huainan (Note (i) T (FiEE() - 3,568 460 50 4,078
XU Chong (Note (i) R (R3E() - 1,900 195 50 2,145
Non-executive directors FATES
Christian Franz REITERMANN Christian Franz
REITERMANN 300 - - - 300
CHEN Qiyu REF - - - - -
WANG Changying TR - - - - -
SHAQ Yibo (Note (ii) BRI (B (i) - - - - -
LUO Rong (Note (i) 7 (F3E () - - - - -
JING Jie (Note (i) g1 (Rt (i) - - - - -
MA Jiangwei (Note (ii) BT (zk(i) - - - - -
HU Weixiong (Note (i) A (Fiak(i) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTEES
CHEN Guanglei REE 300 - - - 300
CHEN Danxia RAE 300 - - - 300
De-chao Michael YU fifEiE 300 - - - 300
ZHANG Hongjiang ZHANG Hongjiang 300 - - - 300
1,500 5,468 655 100 7,123
Notes: BiaE -

i All the executive directors are key management personnel of
the Group during the reporting period and their remuneration
disclosed above include those for services rendered by them as key

management personnel.

ii Mr. SHAO Yibo and Mr. LUO Rong resigned as non-executive
directors of the Company on 7 March 2019. Mr. MA Jiangwei was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 7 March
2019. Mr. JING Jie resigned as non-executive directors of the
Company on 31 October 2019. Mr HU Weixiong was appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company on 31 October 2019.

ERATEFTHALEEANRE MR T
REEAR  ERBEZHFMEEREE
REZEEABRERBEHOFH -

ARINREEREREER _E—NF=H
TRBEARFERITES - HITERLE
RZT-NF=ALRAEZEHARRAF
HITES - BREER_F-NFTA=
T—BBREARRSEAITES - HEML
ER-E-AFTA=+—HEZERSE
RAGEHITES °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 8 EEHFM

Year ended 31 December 2018
HE-ZT-\E+-A=1—-BIEE

256

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
I& 2R
% ¥k EWiEh METEA RIRGTEIfR At
RMB'000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%TR
Executive directors HITES
WANG Huainan Tz - 2,602 200 55 2,857
XU Chong =W - 1,659 130 55 1,844
Non-executive directors FHTES
Christian Franz REITERMANN Christian Franz
REITERMANN 25 - - - 25
CHEN Qiyu REF = = = = =
WANG Changying TRA - - - - -
SHAO Yibo L) - - - - -
LUO Rong BN - - - - -
JING Jie -7 - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors B FHTES
CHEN Guanglei BES 25 = = - 25
CHEN Danxia RAE 25 - - - 25
De-chao Michael YU ffEia 25 - - - 25
ZHANG Hongjiang ZHANG Hongjiang 25 - - - 25
125 4,261 330 110 4,826
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2018:
two) are directors whose emolument is disclosed in note 8.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three
(2018: three) individuals are as follows:

REHMAL

REEZESHFMALED  ARE (=
E-N\F MB)REF  WEZH
M BERHES - Bt =& (ZF—N
F=R) ALZFBM@BENT ¢

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-)N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR® T ARBFIT

Salaries and other emoluments T & N E i 357 B 4,309 3,223
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 482 320
Retirement scheme contributions RORGETEIE R 149 151
4,940 3,694

The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest

tidmESFMALTOFMER AT E

emoluments are within the following bands: :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARETT
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %72 1,500,000/ 7T - 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

1,500,001/ 7C £ 2,000,00078 7T 2
2,000,001 7L 22,500,000/ 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

10

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Tax effects relating to each component of other

comprehensive income

10 Hit2EKA

Ht2HBRAZRIEB2HBLE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE_Z-NF+-A=t—-HLEE

Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount Tax benefit amount
BREBLAT S EE BIEAZE HNBRHESE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETr AR%¥Tn AR%®Tx
Exchange differences on translation — #2E &N B QA 78175
of financial statements of overseas WMERZIEH 5
subsidiaries 40,479 - 40,479
Other comprehensive income Efb2mmBA 40,479 - 40,479
For the year ended 31 December 2018
Bz \F+_A=1+—HILFE
Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount Tax benefit amount
BRELRT &R HIEFz= HRHIESE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AREBFT ARETT ARETT
Exchange differences on translation & GINITE A R 75
of financial statements of overseas Wk 2 MEH ZRE
subsidiaries (652,612) - (652,612)
Other comprehensive income HEh2mERA (652,612) - (652,612)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a)
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based

on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders

of the Company of RMB493.9 million (2018: profit

of RMB144.7 million) and the weighted average of
1,686,664,000 ordinary shares (2018: 494,053,000

shares), calculated as follows:

(i)  (Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company

11 B8R (B8 EF

BREX (FE) &EF
FRERGF TR R A TR
EREABGEBEBARYK493.9
BELT(ZE—NF : 5MAR
144 7BET) REBRINETF
9 %01,686,664,000% (ZZ— )\
F : 494,053,000 5T & « 5T &
T

(i) ARREBKRERBEAR

i (EB8R),/ = F
2019 2018
—2-hE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR ARETT

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary RAFIERREREA
equity shareholders of the Company  F&fh (E518) % F

Less: profit attributable to ordinary B B ELAENEBR
shares with preferred rights JE {3 7

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary MA@ EEH @M
shares without preferred rights el (B518) &

(493,896) 526,300
- (381,634)
(493,896) 144,666

FEHE 2019 | HEHKE

259



260

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (Continued)
(i)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares
without preferred rights

11 SR (E8) BF (®@)

(a)

BRER (FE) 8RN (&)
(i) THAEELENTAERDN
DnHE 5 &

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
000 000
TR F %
Issued ordinary shares without n—A—AEEITTKE
preferred rights at 1 January BT REr T mAk 1,688,488 369,249
Effect of repurchase and cancellation TR Ol s i e R 2
of ordinary shares (1,824) -
Effect of shares issued R EITHRE - 24,273
Effect of termination of preferred RILBERENTE
rights - 100,531
Weighted average number of R+=ZA=+—HTHKHE
ordinary shares without preferred B EmARe
rights at 31 December INHEF 585 1,686,664 494,053
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) SREE (FE)H%F

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the Company has two categories
of dilutive potential ordinary shares: ordinary shares
with preferred rights and potential ordinary shares
over-allotment option from global offering. The dilutive
potential ordinary shares were not included in the
calculation of earnings per share as their inclusion would
be anti-dilution. Accordingly, diluted earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was the same as
basic earnings per share of the year 2018.

There was no difference between the basic and diluted
earnings per share during the year 2019 as there were
no dilutive potential shares outstanding for the year
2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12 Y%  BERRE

Electronic Office Leasehold
equipment  equipment  improvements Vehicles  ROU asset Total
ETdE  BARE HExE 5 FRELE At
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 R=F-N\E—A-R 40,508 2,607 8,641 - - 51,756
Additions TE 11,004 76 1,198 - - 18,178
Disposals i (432) - - - - (432)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=1-A sl 2683 989 = = 64,502
Impact on initial application of IFRS 16 (Note) B XEREEEARLERZ16%
wEehs) 00 - - - - 77@‘},0117 77777 %QU
A1 January 2019 R=2-NF-A-H %0 2683 98% T b 128513
Additions TE 4,109 1,115 11,168 3,675 4208 24,295
Disposals if= (35,049) (809) - (3,675) - (39527)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-A Came 208 a00m - B89 113281
Accumulated depreciation: ZitHE:
At 1 January 2018 R=E-N\E-A-R (18,932) (1,687) (3,977) - - (2459)
Charge for the year ik (9,029) (588) (1,072) - - (10689
Written back on disposals HEHE 40 - - - - 40
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=1-H s s b9 - - (34879
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-N5-A-R (27,551) (2,275) (5,049) - - (3487
Charge for the year ik (8,047) (520) (4,631) (582) (28916  (42,69)
Written back on disposals HEHE 22,995 770 - 582 = 24,347
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-H (12609 | Q05 (0680 - (8916 (53.224)
Net book value: BEFE.
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\E+-A=1-H 24,429 408 4,790 - - 29,627
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1-H 8,443 964 11,327 = 39,323 60,057

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognize right-of-use assets relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17.

See note 2(c).

M AEREC EAEERTENEE R ERBK
MR EERE165 AN _T—hF—

H— BRRERER - DAE

7 g

VS

HEGH

MEREEE  ZFHELMSREBER
B EAFITROBRECLEHE - RifsE

2(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13 BEE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\&F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBFIT
Cost: RS :
At 1 January n—A—H 10,696 9,469
Additions NE 1,397 1,227
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—-8 12,003 10,696
Accumulated amortization: 2oty -
At 1 January w—A—A (6,202) (3,831)
Charge for the year FWHkR (2,405) (2,371)
At 31 December n+-_A=t—81 (8,607) (6,202)
Net book value: BRMEFE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 3,486 4,494

Intangible assets represent computer software during the
reporting period.

The amortization charge for the year is included in “cost of
revenue”, “selling and marketing expenses”, “general and
administrative expenses” and “research and development
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT EF IS SRR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RMTEARNKRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries TREFHIWAZZE—HNLhE+=_B=1+—
as at 31 December 2019 which principally affected the results, ATrEYAEEyLs  SEXEES
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is B s M B A RSt - B B A IS8R
ordinary unless otherwise stated. BN BT YRR KA B A X AR o

Proportion of ownership interest

frEgREGY
Place and date of  Particulars of  Group's Held Held
incorporation/ issued and  effective by the bythe  Type of Principal
Name of company establishment paid-up capital ~ interest Company subsidiary  business activities
dfEY/ ERARME  AREN kAR AKELT
AR5 RUBHRAS kawts  ERER i BE EBER IEEH
BabyTree Holdings Limited BVl 1 ordinary share 100% 100% = BVICo Investing holding
9 February 2018 company
BabyTree Holdings Limited EBERREE 1REER 100% 100% - ZBERAR  REBRAF
“E2-\% LN
ZAhA
BabyTree Group Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share = = 100% HK Co  Investing holding
5 March 2018 HK$1 company
FRHEEREARAR Bk IREERIAT - - 100% FERE  REBRAA
I\
=AnA
BabyTree (Beiing) Information and Technology Co., Ltd. Beiing, PRC  RMB97,772,300 = = 100% WOFE Technology
8 August 2007 information
service
BEH (IR) ERRITARAR mELR AEE - - 100% HEBELE  ERHRE
ZERLE 977728001
NANAR
BabyTree (Tianjin) technology Co., Ltd. Beijing, PRC  RMB3,000,000 = = 100% LLC Advertising
2 July 2019
BEH (X2 HBERAA hER N - - 100%  BRAT B
Z2-AF 30000007
tAZR
Meitun Mama (Shanghai) E-Commerce Co., Ltd. Shanghai, PRC  RMB5,000,000 - - 100% LLC E-commerce
11 October 2014
XEGE (L8 STEBARAA hE AE® = - 100%  ARAF Ei
2 5,000,0007
tA+-A
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

14

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

14 RHBRATINERE (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

frEgREGY
Place and date of  Particulars of  Group's Held Held
incorporation/ issued and  effective by the bythe  Type of Principal
Name of company establishment paid-up capital ~ interest Company subsidiary  business activities
dfEY/ EERARME  AREN  AR0R AKELF
ARER RUBSRAH kawts  ERER 2] BE EBER IEXH
Ningbo Meitun Mama E-Commerce Co., Ltd. Ningbo, PRC  RMB5,000,000 - - 100% LLC E-commerce
23 September 2015
EREBEETARARAA HEER AEE = - 100% ERAT Bl
“E-1f% 5,000,00070
AB=t=H
Meitun Meiwu (Shanghal) Information Technology Co., Ltd. Shanghai, PRC  RMB64,801,000 = = 100% LLC Technology
5 November 2014 information
service
FEEN (L) GERWARAR hE L AEE - - 100% ERAR  GERERE
ZE-WE 64,801,000
t-RzA
Shanghai Xiaojia Finance Technology Service Co., Ltd. Shanghai, PRC  RMB15,000,000 = = 86% LLC  Finance Service
3 September 2018
HEIEeRMRREERAT hE g AEE - - 6% ARAT SRk
Z2-\E 15,000,000
NA=R
Beijing Zhongming Century Science and Beijing, PRC  RMB53,498,360 = = 100%" OpCo  Advertising and
Technology Co., Ltd. 1 March 2006 content
monetization
FRREH AR REERAR RELR AEE - - 0% EEAR  BERAENE
ZEERE 53,498,360
=A-A

* The company is held by BabyTree (Beijing) Information and

Technology Co., Ltd. through contractual agreements.

There is no individually material non-controlling interest of the

Group during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT EF IS SRR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

15 PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT

ASSETS

15 FRBEEFANKE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Prepayments for non-current assets JEMBNVE ETET FRIE
- Prepayments for acquisition - WEE—R A RN FEN A
of a company 44,096 -
— Prepayments for property, plant and - M - BB KEED
equipment TEfT IR 713 11,685
16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16 REEE QAN ER
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually & #fBI % REF ERIZEEA
immaterial associates in the consolidated — F& A7) 2 BREE4EXE
financial statements 49,468 14,617
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share ~ ANEE B ZSH S N F)
of those associates’ loss from operations & & ¥/ E 184258 (12,412) (3,412)
Total comprehensive income EHERABEE (12,412) (3,412)

There is no individually material interests in associates during

the reporting period.

isie
=l
o UF’.
&
In
Lo

Bk

B R F) B B E A
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

17 EQUITY SECURITIES 17 E@EEF
2019 2018
S s
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR ARBET T

Equity securities TR 5
— Unlisted o il 163,008 25,432
As at 31 December 2019, equity securities held by the Group RZZE—NAF+-_A=+—8 K&
are equity instruments invested in third parties with less BERENEZZESFRBIEENFR LA
than 20% of shareholding and the Group has no significant 20% A TEAEETBERNTLE NN
influence. Foh2iEETHE -
18 LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 18 REIKRE
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARE T AREET T
Long-term investments RHEIIRE
— Wealth management products - B0 Em 42,825 -
Long-term investments is bond portfolios which is purchased RHKRERTSRKBEBEEN —F UL
from financial institution with variable interest rate due over FHM B EREHTEHESE °
one year.
19 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 19 HitRB&EE
2019 2018
—E-NE —T)N\&F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARET T
Deductible input VAT I E RIS AR 11,408 5,707
Others HAth 4 249

11,412 5,956
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B R R AR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

20 INVENTORIES 20 78
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of (a) BB RARANEERE :
financial position comprise:
2019 2018
—E-hF —FE-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT
Finished goods EERX fh 12,741 20,133
Less: Provision for inventory B EERE (9,524) (5,476)
Inventories, net FEF8 3,217 14,657
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) BEERIZIVLFTAEZNEE
recognized as an expense and included in profit SEIWMWT :
or loss is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT
Carrying amount of inventories sold B &EFE&EREE 21,635 57,008
Write down of inventories FE MR 4,074 5,837
25,709 62,845
21 TRADE RECEIVABLES 21 ESEWNKIE
2019 2018
—e-hE  —P-NE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTIT
Amounts due from third parties JEW S = 7 FIA 239,132 386,139
Amounts due from related parties JiE U B ES: 75 w0 B (B #E 33 () ii))
(Note 33(b)(ii) 31,054 -
Less: Loss allowance e =t (66,889) (16,419)
203,297 369,720
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

21 EZEWARE (&)

AR 2 #T
BERSHR  HHRUFREENER
BEY IR EBERBEHENRES TN -

2019 2018
—B-hE —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR® T ARBT T

Within 6 months 7~ B A BAA

6 months to 1 year NERAE—F
1 to 2 years —EMFE

2 to 3 years WME=F
Over 3 years =FPE

The credit terms agreed with customers are normally 30 — 90
days from the date of billing or 60-120 days from the date the
advertisement posts. No interests are charged on the trade
receivables. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are
set out in note 31 (a).

22 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

94,414 318,248
80,044 39,832
28,839 6,310
- 5,330
203,297 369,720

HEFHBEMNEES —HKAEREZAH
FET30ZE 90K B E S H Hi#B 560
F120K - BLETLE 5 fE WG IBE U ERF)
B - BRASENEERRE—FFHEB
H A FES31(a) °

22 ERNFREREMERFIE

2019 2018
—E-hF AN
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
hr=g AR¥T T ARBTIT
Amounts due from related parties JiE Uiz B BGe 75 IR 33(b)(i) 3,405 4,744
Prepayments to suppliers ) £ JE P O TR SRR 5,467 10,692

Receivables due from third party JEWRE=H X RE
payment channels TRIA 3,779 1,384
Others, net of loss allowance HAh o IR BB A [0) 423,667 79,830
436,318 96,650

Note: BT

(i) Included in the balance there are amounts due from third parties,
deposit, staff advance and other miscellaneous items. Among of
others, RMB358.5 million are due from third parties with no interest
and will be repaid within one year.
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BRI ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

23 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 23 EHRE
2019 2018
—®2-nE  —B-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR ARBET T

Short-term investments FHARE

— Wealth management products - B0 EmM 585,342 809,430
Wealth management products is issued by banks in the PRC B O E M B BIE NIRRT R E & Bl
and other financial institution with variable interest rate due BET - OSBRI EGFE - R —F A
within one year. EH] o

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24 HEeRBRLEEYUREME

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RERBELEEYERE -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥TR ARETTT

Cash on hand BE - 1
Cash at bank RITIRE 454,728 617,342
Deposits with banks RITER 968,127 1,612,564
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 1,422,855 2,229,907
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

2

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24 R RBSZEYUREMER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER ()
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to (b) BRFEAT (FE) A BHELET
cash used in operations: BAAREZHER :

2019 2018

ZE-RF —E-N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥TR ARETTT

(Loss)/profit before income taxation BRETSELAT (B518), F1E (473,754) 523,555
Adjustments for: AT EEEL A
Depreciation e 42,696 10,689
Amortization of intangible assets BT A B 2,405 2,371
Net finance income BTSN F 58 (32,230) (10,369)
Share of loss of associates JEAG B N B B 1A 12,412 3,412
Net loss on disposal of property, LEWE BEK
plant and equipment R BB 13,058 22
Investment income from short-term HHRENRE W
investments (5,223) (14,886)
Investment income from structured RIZEE R AT 2R
deposits in other current assets HEMmEEEZER
measured at amortized cost BT
B Wz - (1,252)
Disposal of an associate /NG| (51) -
Investment income from long-term REEE IR E K
investments (536) =
Impairment of trade and B 5 R EAEWFIA 2
other receivables B 82,601 15,185
Provision of inventories GEREE 4,048 (3,524)
Fair value changes on investments AARnEEZ B8
measured at fair value through AR BEENEE
profit or loss AR EEEES 25,880 =
Fair value change of financial liabilities NAREBEFEEEY
at fair value through profit or loss FFAE BEEA 2R
BEAREBEEY - (365,610)
Changes in working capital: EBENEE :
Decrease in inventories FERL 7,392 25,164
Decrease/(increase) in trade B S EWHRIERLD
receivables (3 hn) 115,953 (229,246)
Increase in prepayments and TR 5R78 & H b UL
other receivables FIRE N (373,758) (43,098)
Decrease in trade payables B 5 s IE R A (2,672) (7,074)
Decrease in accruals and T s AR 3R B EL A E A
other payables SRIE R (86,575) (134,955)
(Increase)/decrease in other current HitmengeE (38m),/
assets Vo (5,456) 2,675
Net cash used in operations KERTAIRE F R (673,810) (226,941)
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24 BEeRHRLSEEYURHEME

OTHER CASH FLOW

(Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities:

INFORMATION

ERE

¢3¢ )

(c) METHELANEBZHER:

Financial
instruments Accruals
with preferred  and other Lease
rights payables liability Total
WEELEYN FARERR
SRMIA HMEARE HEERE a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR®TR AR¥TR AR%Tx
At 1 January 2018 R=B-N\§-A—-8H 5,252,332 47,764 - 5,300,096
Changes from financing cash MERESRERE
flows:
Proceeds from investment deposit ~ EEREE ZREFR
of potential investor PR 50E - 49,000 - 49,000
Payment for investment deposit BIEREE ZRERR
of potential investor SR - (49,018) = (49,018)
Amounts due from related parties FEI B 5 3 IE - (25,922) - (25,922)
Proceeds from issue of financial BORARIMBELEN
instruments with preferred rights SRMIAZFERE
in the Company 3,535,584 - - 3,535,584
Repayment to the holders of financial  [FRIEH A ELENS &
instruments with preferred rights in =~ TEFAAEX
Zhongming (2,718,541) - - (2,718,541)
Change in fair value AREEEE (365,610) - = (365,610)
Other changes: Hitn#5
Termination of preferred rights upon R E R AR E Tk
completion of IPO KB (6,396,393) - - (6,396,393
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations ~ EXRE 2z 2 692,628 - - 692,628
Interest expense on interest-bearing st EER ZFIBHY
loans (Note 6(a)) (Pi5E6(a)) - 18 - 18
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24 B4 RESEEYURHME

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER (#)
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) RMMEETHELENEBZHIER
activities: (Continued) (%)
Financial
instruments Accruals
with preferred  and other Lease
rights payables liability Total
WEELEYN BRERK
SRMIE HttEFFKE HESE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR¥TR AR¥Tn ARET:
At 31 December 2018 RZZB-N\F+=A
=t-8 Tl S AL/
Impact on initial application of MREAA BT BRE
IFRS 16 (Note) ERE16%MTE (i) - - 61,682 61,682
At 1 January 2019 R=-%-n%¥-A-B - 21842 61682 83524
Changes from financing cash BMERSHESLE .
flows:
Amounts due from related parties JE U B 5 IR - 1,841 - 1,841
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 NAEHALMF 2 HH - = (2,124) (2,124)
Capital element of lease rentals paid AR ERLHNEARLD - - (28,470) (28,470)
Other changes: Hir 25
Increase in lease liabilities from AR IHHEEER
entering into new lease during HEGEZM
the period = = 4,228 4,228
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FERZ (MEE6() - - 2,124 2,124
At 31 December 2019 R-Z-hE+=A
Sqr=|g - 23,683 37,440 61,123

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognize lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
IAS 17. See note 2(c).
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BRI ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

25 TRADE PAYABLES

25 EZRNRE

2019 2018

—E-hF —FE-N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®T T ARET T

Amounts due to third parties B = FIE 12,493 13,682
Amounts due to related parties JE < B RS 75 5B (B 7E 33 (o) ii))

(Note 33(b)(ii)) 1,167 793

13,660 14,475

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

BEREHR  BHRNRAERER

trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BHIRRR T T :
2019 2018
—E-NF ZE—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT
Within 6 months NEA AR 10,047 9,055
6 months to 1 year ANEAZE—F 2,920 4,672
1 to 2 years —EWF 326 730
Over 2 years R LA | 367 18
13,660 14,475
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

26

27

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

26

TE WU R B L At B A3 7RO

2019 2018
S e
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥FR ARETTT

Amounts due to merchants ANEES S
Amounts due to related parties
(Note 33(b)(i)

Payroll payables JERTE
Taxes and levies payables FERTRIE R E
Other payables E e 5RIE

All of the accruals and other payables are expected to be
settled or recognized as profit or loss within one year or are
repayable on demand.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

27

& 1~ BR RS 75 5008 (B FE33(b)(i))

7,165 40,178
23,683 21,842
8,789 25,746
4,556 12,991
37,323 70,772
81,516 171,529

TR BR R B B Al PR AN R IR FE AT R —
NEEXERIERERIRBERERE -

BREE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®FR ARETT

Contract liabilities EHNER
Advertising E&
E-commerce B

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognized are as follows:

The Group keeps deposits before the satisfaction of online
self-ordered advertisement. This deposit is recognized as
contract liability until the Group satisfied the display of the
advertisement.

The Group receives total consideration of the goods from
customers before the Group deliver the goods to customers.
Contract liability is recognized until the customer takes
possession of and accept the goods.

All the contract liability balance as at the beginning of the year
were recognized as revenue during the respective year.

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019

1,385 2,773
826 2,239
2,211 5,012

TEOERANAES BB R
AT

AEERERBFTESF KRG RE
T ZRECHER/ENEE EEX
SEEIRTESSL -

RAKEREZERXNEMZA - A&HE
BEEFPURMEVNKRERLR - ANAR
REFPIEALZRXEMRHER -

FUNNAMERNABERRIERFERE
R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

28 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and
previous reporting periods and at the date of transition to

28 HEAE

TRETRER MBERSHRIALB

BEE

R BHREERF165E AA

SEHERENFBREOIHA

IFRS 16:
At 31 December 2019 At 1 January 2019
R=ZEB-NE+=-A=t-8 RZE—NFE—HA—H
Present Present

value of the Total  value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE BEHE ®EHEE HEHE
NRAE FRe%E RFEE e
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT ARETT ARET:
Within 1 year —Fm 25184 26469 26808 27,431
After 1 year but within 2 years —ERBERRER 12,167 12,344 25,014 26,765
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBEREER 89 94 9,860 10,919
12256 @ 12438 | s4874 87684
37,440 38,907 61,682 65,115
Less: total future interest expenses B RIRF B B 1,467 3,433
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 37,440 61,682
Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified MisE - AEEBBFEALISITRPER &R ER

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognize lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17.
These liabilities have been aggregated with the brought forward
balances relating to leases previously classified as finance leases.
Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 has not been
restated and relates solely to leases previously classified as finance
leases. Further details on the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 are
set out in note 2(c).

BB REEAE165  WAER-Z
—NF— A — BRI R AL ST RIAR R
B R E17T R BAKERENE
HEERRAEERE ZEFREEELA
SEAREREN B RSN AEARIN
#woR—ZTE—N\F+ZA=+—HALR
AR &S BEELRSHELAREM
ENEEHEMA - BRABEZRRMBRE
ERIE165R MR 2 i — SRHIB R T
2(c) ©
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29 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29 &#fHBMRRERPHFAEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement (a) 6O BRREZPAHENEHE
of financial position represents: ig

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®FR ARETT

At 1 January Wn—H—H 14,211 7,768
Provision for PRC Income Tax for the year 7N & 1 B priS i & & 1,010 21,887
Over provision in respect of prior years BEFERERE (1,067) =
PRC Income Tax paid during the year FREFHEEH (13,144) (15,444)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 1,010 14,211

Representing: K& :

Current taxation BNHEAR I8 1,010 14,211
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29

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%)

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:

()  Movement of each component of deferred tax

assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the movements during the

year are as follows:

(i)

RS 2 8
KA G IR R AR
BEREAE /(BH) AR
BHRERNBHERWT :

20 EHMBRRRPOFED

(b) ERBEEBREERER :
) EERBEEENRABESHE

Other
Deductible deducible
accumulative Impairment temporary
loss loss differences Total
Aty AT 8
AN R ER HERE TREER Fok]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥TR AR%Tn AR%T:
Deferred tax arising from: UM REEEZERE
BE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—A—H 17,361 6,066 714 24,141
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss ~ F A /(308 ) $B28 23,931 9 619 24,559
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NFE+=H
=+-A 41,292 6,075 1,333 48,700
At 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—H—R 41,292 6,075 1,333 48,700
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss st A /(&) Bz (29,801) 9,770 (723) (20,754)
At 31 December 2019 R=E-NF+=A
Sr=F 11,491 15,845 610 27,946
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29

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:

(Continued)

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position

20 EHMBRRRPOFED

(%)

(b)

CRAEEHBEEREE

(%)

(i) BAHMBAREKZHIR

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%T R ARBTIT
Net deferred tax asset recognized A B SRR R
in the consolidated statement of FREYERE R I8
financial position BEFE 28,061 48,761
Net deferred tax liability recognized RE P RR R
in the consolidated statement of FREYIERE R I8
financial position BEFE (115) (61)
At the end of year RER 27,946 48,700
Deferred tax assets not recognized (c) RERZELEHREBEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(s), the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax loss of RMB454.2 million
(2018: RMB71.5 million) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the loss can be utilized will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The
tax loss does not expire under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

At 31 December 2018, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries is RMB157.9
million. In 2018, deferred tax liabilities of RMB15.8 million
have been recognized in respect of the tax that would
be payable on the distribution of these retained profits it
has been determined that it is probable that these profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. No
deferred tax liabilities were recognized in this regard in
2019 as there was no distributed profits of subsidiaries
at 31 December 2019.
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BT EF IS SRR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

Movements in components of equity

The changes of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity during the reporting period is
set out in the consolidated statements of changes in
equity. Details of changes in the Company’s individual

30 EX - RBERKRE

(a) EZARBD 2LE
RBEHA > AEESHEDRE
MO 2 BBFNE fiEm
BE - FUEFARARAE (@
Bl 48 BK BB 0 2z B B FF 1F B I 40

components of equity between the beginning and the ™
end of the year are set out below:
Share Share Treasury  Capital Translation Retained
capital premium  shares  reserve  reserves profit Total
kx  RHEE ERRG EXRE  EIRE RENE st
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi ARETn ARETR ARETRn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 9 February 2018 RZF-NEZANA
(date of incorporation) (ERmLR®wEs - - - - - - -
Changes in equity for 2018: REB-NEHRESS .
Profit for the period Bl - - - - - 2652121 2,652,121
Qther comprehensive income EEERA - - - - (648,029 - (648,029
Total comprehensive income PENAEE - - - - (p48,023) 252,121 2,004,098
Capital injection from owners AAAEENTE
of the Company 30() 12 - - - - - 12
Exemption of subsidiaries' iabilties ~ #&HBATER - - - (4,831,055) - - (4,831,055)
Group reorganization SEE4 - - - (2,505,872) = - (2,505,872
Capitalization issue AR 30(c) 244 (244) - - - - -
Termination of prefered rights upon ~ RERAHRERR %
completion of [PO RIS 30(c) 729 6,395,664 - - - - 6,396,393
Issuance of ordinary shares relating BB EEENE (LT
to intial public offering, net of RANERAREE
underwriting commissions and AR EBRET
other issuance costs ) 187 157088 - - = - 1,570,685
Balance at 1 January 2019 R=F-nE-B-BHER 172 7965788 - (1,336927)  (648,023) 252,121 2,634,131
Changes in equity for 2019: RIB-NENRESS
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (56,630)  (56,630)
Other comprehensive income Efp2EMA - - - - 42,011 - 42,01
Total comprehensive income 2EHNER - - - - 42011 (56,630)  (14,619)
Repurchase of ordinary shares LARED 30) - - (83473) - - - (83473
Canclation of treasury shares iHEERRG e (14 (13314) 7338 - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2019 R-B-NEtZR=1-H
iFS 1,158 7,802474  (10,145) (7,336,927) (606,012 2,595,491 2,536,039
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 30 &4 - ##EKRE (&)

(Continued)

(b) Dividends (b) BE
During the year of 2019, no dividends were declared by RZZTE—NnF
the entities comprising the Group to its owners (2018: BYERHEEEAS
Nil). — N\ fm) .

(c) Share capital and premium (c) BAFKEE

Number of ordinary shares

MRAEEZE

EEE (=&

EERYE
Without With Share Share
preferred preferred capital premium
rights rights Total in equity in equity
THEELE  WBEELE gt ERRA RERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE#T T AEET T
As at 9 February 2018 R=E-NF=BAA
(date of the Company incorporation) (RARFMALAS) R . . -
Issue of ordinary shares BILER 19,478,750 - 19,478,750 12 -
Issue of ordinary shares with FARLEN SRR
preferred rights - 55,178,861 55,178,861 - -
Issue of ordinary shares by BRARENMENLAR
Capitalization Issue 350,617,500 993,219,498  1,343,836,998 244 (244)
Termination of preferred rights upon RERDARRETHARLELE
completion of IPO 1,048,398,359  (1,048,398,359) - 729 6,395,664
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to BB EEENEHETRA
initial public offering, net of underwriting MERAREERBNERR
commissions and other issuance costs 3] 269,993,500 - 269,998,500 187 1,670,368
As at 31 December 2018 R=B-NFTZA=T-B 1683488000 - 1688488000 172 7,965,788
As at 1 January 2019 R=B-hE-B-A 1,688,488,109 - 1,688,488,109 1172 7,965,788
Repurchase and cancelation of LERBE R
ordinary shares (19,577,500) - (19,577,500) (14) (73,314)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+ZA=1-A 1,668,910,609 - 1,668,910,609 1,158 7,892,474
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 30 ¥4 - REEKKRE (&)
(Continued)

(c)

Share capital and premium (Continued)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands
on 9 February 2018 with an initial authorized share
capital of US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares
with a par value of US$0.0001 each. Immediately after
its incorporation, one share was allotted and issued.

In May 2018, Mr. WANG Huainan, through Wang Family
Limited Partnership, subscribed 19,478,750 ordinary
shares of the Company at a consideration of RMB12,424
(US$1,948). Other shareholders subscribed 55,178,861
ordinary shares of the Company with aggregated
consideration of RMB3,535,584,443. The ordinary
shares issued to other shareholders are attached
with preferred rights pursuant to the Shareholders’
Agreement dated 28 May 2018 and are designated as
financial instruments with preferred rights.

On 1 November 2018, the authorized share capital of the
Company was increased to US$960,000, divided into
9,600,000,000 shares with par value of US$0.0001 each.

Pursuant to written resolutions of the Company’s
shareholders passed on 1 November 2018, capitalize an
amount of US$134,383.6998 standing to the crediting of
the share premium account of the Company by applying
such sum in paying up in full at par a total of 1,343,836,998
share for allotment and issue to the persons whose names
appear on the register of shareholders of the Company on
the date of the written resolutions in accordance with their
respective shareholding in the Company(the “Capitalization
Issue”). The Capitalization Issue was completed on 27
November 2018.

(c)

BARRE (&)
AARRZZTE—-—NE=ZANBAB
EHREBESFEMAL - MHE
EBRANAE50,000E%7T ' D5
500,000,000 0% & f& F1E0.0001
ETHRG o BREHFMEK L
% —IRROER S RET -

RZZE—-—N\FRHA ETEBT
AFE®Wang Family Limited
Partnership A E AR ¥ 12,424
7L (1,948% L) REAXRQ A
19,478,750 L i@AX - EAbARER
NEHE AR 3,535,584,443
TR AARES55,178,861 K L i@
e BiERBEA-_T—N\NEHA
ZHNBHRERZE - REAmR
RETHTET BRI EELE B
WHEERMBELENERIE -

RZZE-—N\F+—H—H K
NAVEERAIEIMNZEI60,0003E
JC 9 /49,600,000,000 % &%
M{E0.0001 ETTH XD °

BEARARDBRER=-_Z—N\F+
—A—HBBANEERAZE B
AR ARG = ERER S
134,383.6998E THFTERN * 75
FAEBARSEREEARA &
1,343,836,998 &Ik 1p » IRIEM
EXERARAMNFBRS R XA
BETEZEERAERBHRIA
ARERREMOBRDIFIAEA([E
NEEIT]) c EREETERZ
T-NEFE+—A=-t++tAEK-
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 30 ¥4 - REEKKRE (&)
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Share capital and premium (Continued)

On 27 November 2018, the Company issued
250,323,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
US$0.0001, at a price of HK$6.8 per share by way of
public offering to Hong Kong and overseas investors. On
20 December 2018, the over-allotment option granted
to underwriters was exercised and the Company issued
19,670,500 shares with a par value of US$0.0001, at
a price of HK$6.8 per share. Net proceeds from these
issues amounted to RMB1,570.6 million (after offsetting
expenses directly attributable to the issue of shares of
RMB58.9 million), out of which RMBO0.19 million and
RMB1,570.4 million were recorded in share capital and
share premium accounts, respectively.

On 28 November 2019, the Company cancelled
19,577,500 ordinary shares which were repurchased
during the year 2019.

Capital Reserves

On 23 May 2018, Lingheng Investment, an affiliate
of Xinxin Xiangrong, subscribed for equity interest
in Zhongming in the amount of RMB6,493,053,
representing 10.82% of the total registered share
capital of Zhongming, and became one of the registered
shareholders of Zhongming.
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BRI ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 30 &4 - ##EKRE (&)
(Continued)

(e)

Repurchase of ordinary shares (e) ZTERED
Number of

shares Amounts
R EE &5
RMB’ 000
AR® T

Treasury shares EFRG
As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hF—HA—H - -
Shares repurchased to be cancelled # TR B BB D i (D 25,616,500 83,473
Cancellation of treasury shares I E AR (19,577,500) (73,328)
As at 31 December 2019 R=-Z—-—hFE+=A=+—H 6,039,000 10,145

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
repurchased its own ordinary shares on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows:

RBEE-_FT—NEF+_A=+—
HIEFE  RXRARRBEBAR
SMBERAGDEBER 5 LRERK

LU

Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/year repurchased per share per share price paid

BRESR BRESR
£/8 EEBRAHE RaER REER BAERLE
HK$ HK$ HK$’ 000
BT BT BT
May 2019 “T-NFTRA 7,450,000 5.34 4.41 36,740
June 2019 ZE-NERA 7,292,500 4.90 4,65 35,054
September 2019 ZE-NENA 4,774,500 2.42 2.13 11,104
October 2019 ZE-NETA 60,500 2.21 217 133
November 2019 “E-NET-A 5,020,000 1.97 1.79 9,469
December 2019 “E-NETZA 1,019,000 1.88 1.75 1,841
94,341
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 30 ¥4 - REEKKRE (&)
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Repurchase of ordinary shares (Continued)

The repurchase was governed by Chapter 10 of the
Listing Rules. The total amount paid on the repurchased
shares of HK$94.3 million (approximately RMB83.5
million equivalent) was paid wholly out of capital.
19,577,500 shares out of the total repurchased shares
were cancelled and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by US$1,958
(approximately RMB13,599 equivalent).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in the

normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and structured deposits is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions
with a minimum credit rating, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 52.8% (2018: 47.1%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
five largest customers. These customers were mainly
4A advertisement agent companies with diversified
end-customers.

31

TREREEREMIAND
REE

AEBRARXEHBRETEBEER A
PEShEERAR -

S 3O At S 5 T P D B O R S L B A K
AEERANEEZERBRN S RERE
BRI IED

(a) FHRER
ERRARERASFHITETEAR
MEBMERAKREAITTE
BrER - AEENERARRE
EMEZEWFASIE - AEE
mENERRR (ARERREF
EYRERETRGIE) BR -
BFTEAEKEERFTRANIR
ThReERERE AKERREE
EEEERAR -

AEERY M RHEEMEEREH
AXEREROER -

B 5 W RIE
AEERHNEARBREERS
EEFHERNFEMTE - Mk
BEEREEMEMNTERBRRA
Z A ERXEVERARRE
ERAEBEHEANBZEFPAEEAXN
RBRESE -RBERR - #£58
SRR KEFRHE52.8% (=T —
NE 47.1%) EKRAEB A KR
BEFERE - ZERFXEZAME
ZHBRmEPHIABSRER
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 30-90 days from the date
of billing or within 60-120 days from the date the
advertisement posts. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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BRI ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31 £¢REREERSMITANA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE (&)
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EHAEE (&)

Trade receivables (Continued) B S EWEIE (&)
The following table provides information about the RZE—-—NAFE+ZA=+—8"
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade RNEEE S EWRIERNERARR
receivables as at 31 December 2019: MO RBHEEBENHEBGER

MR
2019

—E-NF

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

BEHERE REAE - BERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTRT AR®WTRT

Current (not past due) BRER (R ER) 1% 154,235 1,542
1 — 90 days past due #HI1 290K 23% 43,911 10,100
91 - 180 days past due #HI91 = 180K 42% 8,813 3,701
181 — 270 days past due #HI181 £ 270K 53% 16,537 8,765
271 — 365 days past due BHEA271 365K 85% 26,061 22,152
More than 365 days past due B HA R B 365K 100% 20,629 20,629

270,186 66,889
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31 £HiEREEREHITAMND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE#E)
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) AR (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) 2 P rEWHRIE (8

2018

—E—N\F

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TE B e X REE E R
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
% ARETT ARBTT

Current (not past due) BRER (R ER) 0.4% 337,700 1,351
1 — 90 days past due HE1 90K 5% 18,094 905
91 — 180 days past due #HI91 = 180K 12% 17,402 2,088
181 - 270 days past due #HEI181E270K 45% 1,172 527
271 - 365 days past due #2712 365K 85% 1,488 1,265
More than 365 days past due 1 HA R 1B 365K 100% 10,283 10,283
386,139 16,419
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience EHEEERENIE L3656 AN E
over the past 365 days. These rates are adjusted to reflect REELESATE  WRERTS
differences between economic conditions during the UL HARS M & AR B ATk
period over which the historic data has been collected, MERAEBR AN EWRIEN
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic EHGEEHRHNRKERL=22
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. RHHy = BETRHE o
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FERNESHEWGEEIEREREDN
trade receivables during the year is as follows: SEWMRN :
2019 2018
—EB-hE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’ 000

ARBTT ARBT T

Balance at 1 January R—A—BR#&EsH 16,419 10,988
Amounts written off during the year FAME R - (3,096)
Impairment loss recognized during the year R (EE 1B 50,470 8,527
Balance at end of the year FREEH 66,889 16,419
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

31

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investments of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. As at 31
December 2019, the Group has unutilized banking
facilities of USD50,000,000 (2018: Nil).

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay:

THEREERESMIAND
SfEE @)

(b)

REE SR
AEEETEECEEREEH
BEERESEE  2ERSAHKN
RER A R S B SR A E ¥ 78 A
BEFTK - AEBBHBKATEH
ERERHESTRRKRBEE
CHMEBNAECESCRERE -
UWmRERHAREHENARBSE &
ERK - RZE-—NF+=_A=+
— B AEEHEBARAHHBITH
%50,000,000F L (=& — N
Foam) o

TRETRBEHRAEENFE
MESREENERT S K S B
M- DIREBEEQORTRRS R (2
BERBEHNMEFENMNE A
o MRARFEANE - BIRIE N R
EMRORTNE) AREKEH
AHEREERENKTE B HsH
=

As at December 31, 2019

RZB-NE+ZA=1-A
contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ERRTRRLR

Carrying
More than ~ More than amounts in the
Within 1yearbut 2 years but consolidated
1 year or less than less than More than statement of
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total financial position
-Ehg BB-F B AHRERRR
EEX  BIRWE  BIREF BRLE Ch) KfE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  ARBTn  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR ARET T
Trade payables BHEAZE 13,660 - - - 13,660 13,660
Accruals and other payables  BUGRFREMERFE 81,516 - - - 81,516 81,516
Lease liabiliies (Note) REAE (W) 26,469 12,344 94 - 38,907 37,440
121,645 12,344 94 - 134,083 132,616
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

TRHEAREEREBMIAND
REE (#)

(b)

RBEEER (&)

As at December 31, 2018
RZE-\E+-A=+-A
contractual undiscounted cash outflow

SHATRASRIL
Carying
More than More than amounts in the
Within Tyearbut 2 yearsbut consolidated
1 year or less than less than More than statement of
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total financial position
—FRF i i HEmE aftaBRn R
B2k EOREE  ESRDE HERLEF st BEE
RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR ARBTT
Trade payables BARERFE 14,475 - - - 14,475 14,475
Accruals and other payables  BUERH R EtENZE 171,529 = = = 171,529 171,529
186,004 - - - 186,004 186,004
Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified MizE - REEBBFEALETEBEERE

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognize lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
IAS 17. Lease liabilities include amounts recognized at the
date of transition to IFRS 16 in respect of leases previously
classified as operating leases under IAS 17 and amounts
relating to new leases entered into during the year. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c)

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through

sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,

payables and cash balances that are denominated in a

foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional

currency of the operations to which the transactions

relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily

Japanese Yen, United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars

and Chinese Yuan. The Group manages this risk as

follows:

(i)

Recognized assets and liabilities

In respect of other trade receivables and payables
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances.

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognized assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposure are shown in Renminbi, translated using
the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

31 cRHiEREERSMIAEND
REE @)

(c)

B AR
AEBETERETES AN (B
HERXZBEBNR LT AN
ME) ST EMNEWFIR - BAR
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(i) HEREENIEE
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PE B8 A s B HMNE DA B2
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7o
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B HRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

AEE #)

(c) EMEB (&)
(i) EXRERR#HO (&)

TRHEAREEREBMIAND

2019 2018

“E-NF “E-)\E
Us$ RMB HKS US$ RMB HKS
i ARK B Xt ARE BT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETR
Prepayments and other receivables BT FUBREMENZE 16 - - 722 2,230 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREZEY 2421 28,890 2,524 3245 15090 123,145
Accruals and other payables AR RE RN TS (2,306) - - (2,837) = =
Short-term investments EERE - - - - - 68,343
Net exposure BhEE 197 880 254 110 1730 191488
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BT EF IS SRR EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31 £¢REREERSMITANA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE (&)
(Continued)

(c) Currency risk (Continued) (c) E¥Ek (&)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BRM DT
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRIT  WASERE®E
change in the Group’s (loss)/profit after tax and HIR B B KR B A S0 IE B =
accumulated loss that would arise if foreign RZBERES  REFME
exchange rates to which the Group has significant HiwEmE2RFETE - B
exposure at the end of the reporting period had REEFRZ (BB FBER
changed at that date, assuming all other risk 2EBEEENARES -

variables remained constant.

2019 2018
—E-0F —F-N\F
Effect on
Increase/ loss after Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) tax and (decrease) profit after tax
in foreign  accumulated in foreign and retained
exchange rates loss  exchange rates earnings
SHEER HEBER IMERE X BiigrER
g/ (Rd) RABEZ¥E EN/(HP) REENzYE
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBT T AREFT
usD e 5% 7 5% 57
(5%) (7 (5%) (57)
RMB ARE 5% 1,445 5% 866
(5%) (1,445) (5%) (866)
HKD BT 5% 126 5% 9,574
(5%) (126) (5%) (9,574)
JPY HIE 5% (126) 5% =
(5%) 126 (5%) =
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Currency risk (Continued)

i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit
after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into Renminbi at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting
period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
inter-company payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2018.
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorized into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

31

TRHEAREEREBMIAND
REE @

(d)

TREJNNHERRELES
MEEFEZAKESRT
EMAREER  »BERBERE
MBRELERFEIBRAAE
B EMREN=ZRAAE
EEHK - RABEFESFR
Ty 2 2 {h{E B0 P P A 8K
BEHNAUERMEREZEME
E o RBEmT

- F-REE:EERF
—BBABIBTEZR
nEBE ARFEAH
HRAEEXREELRE
M52 REHBERE -

- F-RHE:ERFZ
DRBABBAEZRR
BE  BIANEE R
ZABRBABEAR
BEREANABEH
ABUE - THBEHA
BBEEZNBMEE
EPA PN ¢

- F=AMHE:EREKX

TR BRE ABIETE
ZARfEE-
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The fair value measurements of the Group’s
available-for-sale financial assets (investments in
wealth management products), available-for-sale
equity securities and financial instruments with
preferred rights are categorized into the following
level in the fair value hierarchy:

31 SEMA
8

«
C.
il

(d)

Fair value at

31 December

2
B (&

e EENRETHMTANA
(&)

NREEE (&)

(i

) BRARBEAEZEME
ErBE(E)
DAEEER (E)
AEEMNAHEESEE
(REMEMRHNIKZE) « Al#
LEERES R EELE
MeEMmTAEZAREBEE
BARBEEBEHDEUNTE
& -

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2019

2019 categories into
R=EB-N%F
+=A=+-A R=ZB-N%F
ZDNERE T-R=t-HZAREEFESE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£—R £ E=R
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRT AR%TR AR®TR AR¥TR
Assets EE

Short-term Investments ~ EHIEE 585,342 13,944 571,398 -
Long-term Investments RERE 42,825 42,825 - -
Equity securities BaHH 163,008 - - 163,008

Fair value at Fair value measurement

31 December as at 31 December 2018

2018 categories into
RZT—-N\F
+-A=+—-H R=ZT—\F
ZRABEE TZAZT-RZARBENESNE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— E-H E=R
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
Assets EE

Short-term Investments ~ BHKE 809,430 - 809,430 -
Equity securities ERES 25,432 - - 25,432
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(d)
(i)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and
2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into nor out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognize transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2
fair value measurement

Investments in wealth management products
are measured at fair values in the consolidated
statements of financial position. The Group
benchmarks the costs against fair values of
comparable investments as of the end of each
reporting period, and categorized all fair value
measures of bank financial products as Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy because they are valued
using directly or indirectly observable inputs in the
market place.

31

TRHEAREEREBMIAND

REE @
(d) AAREEE(HE)
i) RAREBEFEZZRE
ENAE (&)
AR BEER(E)

BE_Z-N\ER-_Z—-A
F+-—A=+—BLEE"
F-RAE_FrEATEE
BRUEEALELSE =
o AKRENBRR/ERN
BEERZAHRBELNHR
SHEAEREBEES -

E_RIEBETERH
HIIGEF MR A B
REVERNRER G G
BRARDT UL A BER
B ARERZREPRRE
AHLBREEN AR BEFE
PO - IR ERTTIE B E MR
EAABEFERERR
AEBESENE R RE
EHEAMSERXEEA
BRBAE-
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31 £t
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7

(Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurement

= Equity securities

The carrying amount of equity securities are
measured at fair values in the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31
December 2018 and 2019. The Group’s
equity securities are mainly investments in
unlisted companies. The Group determine
the fair value by reference to the recent
transaction pricing for the entities or similar
transactions in similar entities in same
industry.

As at 31 December 2019, it is estimated
that with all other variables held constant, an
increase/decrease in the fair values of equity
securities by 1% would have decreased/
increased the Group’s loss before tax by
RMB1.63 million (2018: RMBO0.25 million).

The movements of equity securities during the
reporting period in the balance of these Level
3 fair value measurements are as follows:

i
¥

3 S 1k

TR 1]

Dy
B ST N, T i 0
B SN N
i ;iﬁ@’ Rl
Sm m
o~
Eﬁ*Hﬂllm
o
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il —+ 4

o

3% o & Bk A | |
2SR
SE 9K
5 %
S
=
S
>
=

N

ko
I
|_H,
e
il
14
M S

bt
3

W i

o Z

%E%Mﬁ%x%
& AR R TTZE A AL
VEURSETERA

D i DD B SR W o R
) :
13
I 535
B I

mﬁmi«t

o

.
=

—h&E+=-A=
HETEFIEE
REFTE  ER
AR EEEN,S
@5@29/1
SEBRBATBEA
i 63@%%( =z
—N\F: AR¥0.25
AEL) °
RBEIR - EREH

HRERE=ZRAAEE
AAEMEHNT

Mm% ﬁﬁ

Serd | [
o M

g o

= 1%

HE
FHE\
=

2019 2018

—E-hF —FE-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARBET T

Equity securities: REmFSF

At 1 January R—H—H
Addition 0

Changes in fair value recognized HAR R B e R

in profit or loss during the period ZAREEE

At 31 December Rt+—A=+—H

Any gain or loss arising from the
remeasurement of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities held for strategic purposes are
recognized to profit or loss.
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

31

32

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortized cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2018 and 2019.

COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable

31

32

TRHEAREEREBMIAND
REE @

(d) AAEEE (E)

(i) WREARBEAERNS
BHEERBENAAEE
RZB—-NER=ZZ—NF
+-B=+—8 " A%£@E%
AR SEBRK AT RN S 5
TAMEEEBEERSAAE
BEWESERAEE -

I

RZZBE—NEFE+_A=+—H  BFA
BEKEHEB TENMNARKERE

as follows: BN
Properties
S
RMB’ 000
AREET T
Within 1 year —FR 40,596
After 1 year but within 5 years —FERERAEFRA 44,942
Total HaET 85,538

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties
held under leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under IAS 17. The Group has initially applied
IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under
this approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognize lease liabilities relating to these
leases (see note 2(c)). From 1 January 2019 onwards, future
lease payments are recognized as lease liabilities in the
statement of financial position in accordance with the policies
set out in note 2(i), and the details regarding the Group’s
future lease payments are disclosed in note 28.

AEBABRBHERENE TYHENK
BA - ZEHELABERERE %R
FI7THRPBEREENRE - XEEBHA
KIERT B EZE N IRME R % ®RE
ERFE165 c REBEZFE  ~AEEH
BR-_ZE—NEF—A—BZHNE
WREREZEHEsENEEEE (R
fi3r2(c)) s RZEBE—AE—HA—RAZ
&« RRFBEENFKBREBEM E2() FFE K
ENRMBRARANERAHERRE A
BAEBARBAENKOFBRME
28 FE o
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

33 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as
follows:

33 EXBEBAIRS

(a)

TEEEASHMH
AEETZEEAENTH 2
B FARRESZRE (KK
HBWE) AXNTETREHIE
B FRIR (R FEIWE) BT ¢

2019 2018

—E-NF —F-N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARET T ARBTT

Short-term employee benefits =R BB F 15,274 10,723
Post-employment benefits RINEF 384 437
15,658 11,160

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
6(b)).

FaEHE N B ITRA (R
FT6(b)) °

Related party balances and transactions (b) BEARERRS
Related party balances R 5 BRRE
() Non-trade balance with related parties: (i) ERIEE R A IEE SEAEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —FE-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T R ARBTIT
Amounts due to entities ENEZERABKE
controlled by members of key 2 8 E BRI SR
management personnel (23,683) (21,842)
Amounts due from entities JEWEZEREABKE
controlled by members of key 25 B BB R SRIE
management personnel 3,405 4,744

The outstanding balances with these related
parties are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed repayment terms. The amounts due to
related parties are included in “Accruals and other
payables” (Note 26) and the amounts due from
related parties are included in “Prepayments and
other receivables” (Note 22).

BabyTree Group | Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

33 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 33 EXBEARXS (@)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Related party balances and transactions (b)

(Continued)

Related party balances (Continued)

(i) Trade balances with related parties:

BELIBRERRXS (H)

AR 77 e EE ()

(i) FEEFEET B ZEA AT

2019 2018

—E2-hE —T-N\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARET T ARBTIT

Trade receivables 5 IE 31,054 =

Trade payables B SN RIE (1,167) (793)
Related party transactions Rl X 5

UTREABEBIRZINE - &
ERR - ZERFINRBEERR
BRI

The following is a summary of material related party
transactions. In the directors’ opinion, these transactions
were carried out in the ordinary course of business.

2019 2018
—B-hE  —P-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT

Commission paid for international SN ERFTERE
orders - 1,350
Video production (Note) RAABIE (FT ) 2,253 2,427
Advertising service revenue & & BRSO 23,333 23,347
Advertising service cost & & RIS A AR 243 =
Marketplace revenue FaUA - 4,217
Loan from and repaid to related party R HE MEEBE HHNER - 49,000
Service revenue AR AU A 234 3,202

M - RBMEHRA - ARERE R
RAISHERLSE -

Note: The Group engaged an associate to produce videos during
the reporting period.
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

34 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 34 AREHEMBEMRRE

FINANCIAL POSITION

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5 ARET ARBFIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiary KRB RMIRE 201,578 198,313
Equity securities HEES 143,410 =
,,,,,,,, 344,988 198,313
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A mIH kT8 540,083 121,746
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT FRIA B H b FE U R IR 141,647 36,444
Short-term investments R E 488,334 480,424
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeEEY 1,021,875 1,831,462
,,,,,, 2,191,939 2,470,076
Current liability piE =R
Accruals and other payables T UK AR 3R B H A E < RRIR 888 34,258
,,,,,,,,,,,,, 888 34288
Net current assets n@pEE®F®E 0000000000 2,191,051 2,435,818
Total assets less current liability HEERRBAE 2,536,039 2,634,131
Net assets EFE 2,536,039 = 2,634,131
Equity =
Share capital [N 30 1,158 1,172
Reserves 1 2,534,881 2,632,959
Total equity SR 2,536,039 2,634,131

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors

on 30 March 2020.

R BHRRER—_E-_EE=A=+H
EE=gdb -

WANG Huainan XU Chong
EX ] S
Director Director
EE Ex

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See note 2(c).
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BRI SRR M 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F3EREIERA - AAREFIR)

35

36

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

The Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Outbreak (the “NCP
Outbreak”) since early 2020 has brought about additional
uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and may
impact the Group’s operations and financial position.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact from the
NCP Outbreak on the Group’s businesses and has put in
place contingency measures. The directors of the Company
confirm that these contingency measures includes but not
limited to reassessing fluctuation (if any) to the advertising
transactions and improving the Group’s cash management by
expediting debtor settlements and negotiating with suppliers
on payment extensions. The Group will keep the contingency
measures under review as the NCP Outbreak situation
evolves.

As far as the Group’s businesses are concerned, the NCP
Outbreak may cause decrease of advertising transactions but
the directors of the Group consider that such impact could be
temporarily. In addition, the NCP Outbreak may also impact
the repayment abilities of the Group’s debtors, which in turn
may result in additional impairment losses on trade and other
receivables in the future periods. These possible impacts
have not been reflected in these financial statements, and the
actual impacts may differ from estimates adopted in these
financial statements as the NCP Outbreak situation continues
to evolve and when further information may become available.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. Further
details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in
note 2(c).

35

36

WREMEFFAREEE
BE_ZE_ZSFYBREENNATRRS
fAEB([FEMAES]) HEAEER

MR EIRIBE KRB MEEN - WA AL
TERAKENRERTBIRR -

AEE-EEVNERHEMRRIEY
AEEXBNEE  LOHRRESE
I ARBEFHR  ZEFERIBHEE
BRETRREMNFEHEEEXZ KD (1
B) ARBBEREBAEREEAMR]
& 78 195 P T = Y SRR SR 2 = AR B
ReEE AKEBEENEHLARE
BN ERNESIEE -

MARBERME » HEMARBAEE
E?ﬁl)"“‘i“%ﬁ’]ﬂ* AMAKREES

AT ETRREREN o 1t
57| %ﬁ I ARRBERAGEERNEEE
BARERED  KEMAREHEZE
Yo SR TR e Ho A R U R IR AR R SR A EE
BINREER - ZFAREFEL KRR
REFMBHRERF - MEBEBHEIHAR
FRESLCLMIESE-—FPENK B

S BTRZEHMHRETARAN
st B3 -

BT
ARAFTR-FE—NF—A—BRAEE

.:TE’JL/?E/%%MAFEH% [ R Bt 75 ¥ o5 E |
F165% - RIEZENE  ARBATE

ERLRER - @t BRREBSNE—F

FHBERME2(c) P RE -
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BRI SRR I 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B3EREIER - A REFIR)

37 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

37

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS H JJ:EJEEﬁ}Eﬁ‘ﬁ@r'ﬁEEx&E’J
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE 5] - HERZENBER
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 &

Up to the date of these financial statement, the IASB has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard, IFRS
17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

BEZSUBHRERAY  BEERESEL
BEECBHBE-_T-NAFT-A=
T—BLEFERRER  TARRZEY
BWMERFAHE TIERT R ER - BER
MBEmEEMNEI7HR  RREH - B
BUATRBEAEAEEEBNER %
& o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
FEUTBHARZERBHN
BHBEN

Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a business

1 January 2020

BRI SR EERE ISR 2 185] - EHHEE —ZT-FTF—H—H
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020
Bt A FE 1R R BB ST ERIE SR 2 18F] - EAMEE —ZE-TF—H—H

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2021
BIRR B ISR SR RIFE AT - RER S 4V —E_—F—H—H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between To be determined
an investor and its associate or joint venture
BIRR AL 7 88 2 BRI 10595 R BISR & 51 BRI E 2852 167] » IREE BRI &1\ 72 5 7E
B &N A2 i EEL EELRA
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what NEEF (2B RA B N EREM
ZTEEZE  c BEFBAIAL  RWZE

4H¥

the impact of these developments is expected to be in the

period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the BETTEB A S YHEAMBRRELET X
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the E o

consolidated financial statements.
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“AGM”
[BRRBFAE]

“Alibaba”

[ 2 EE |

“Articles of Association”

[AARERAA

“associate(s)

[BFZ A

“Audit Committee”

[BZEEE]

“Auditor”

K23 Gl

“BabyTree BVI”

[BabyTree BVI]

“BabyTree Hong Kong”

[EEHEE]

“BabyTree Information”

[BEHEER]

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on June 11, 2020;
RRBBER_ZB_ZFAT-BHRTHRRAEFAS :

Alibaba Group Holding Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands, with its American depositary shares, each representing eight ordinary
shares, listed on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: BABA) and its
ordinary shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
9988), including, where the context requires, any of its subsidiaries;

Alibaba Group Holding Limited (FIEEEEEERERAR)  —KNRHSEHS
AR AR - HEBEFFERS (BRAKN\REBR) REQIZHFRZ A (K
AR5E - BABA) RH LA BT E R (RHRSE - 9988) £ - B (FX
EATE) AERIME AR

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time;
RACIEBERMBA - & TRHERT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;

BA ETRAE TR ANRE

the audit committee of the Company;

ARRIEZRES

KPMG, the auditor of the Company;
EF MRV EIERT - ANA RIAZEED

BabyTree Holdings Limited, a business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on February 9, 2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company;

BabyTree Holdings Limited * —RXR=ZZE—N\F_ANLBREBELBER AHE X
FAMKINEERR - REARFNEZENBAR]

BabyTree Group Hong Kong Limited, a company incorporated under the laws
of Hong Kong on March 5, 2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BabyTree
BVI;
EEREETEERAR  — KR \F=ZA R ARBEEEMIFMA S
A7) > ABabyTree BVIFNZ EHB AR

BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology Co., Ltd. (B (b R) 85
flrBBR A 7)), a company established under the laws of the PRC on August 8,
2007 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BabyTree Hong Kong;

BEH (R EERMAERAR  —RRZZZLFN\AN\BREFRBAEZKIL
WA REERBENE2ERBAR
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“Beijing Lujin”

[HERESE ]

“Board”

[E=E

“BVI”
[REAERAES]

“CG Code”
[{bEEEETA

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

“close associate(s)”

[ETHEA

“Companies Law”

NGV

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNGIIESEN

» o«

“Company”, “our Company”,

» o«

“the Company”,

“connected transaction”

[BERS ]

Beijing Lujin Technology Development Co., Ltd. (At REE&FHRER AR R A)), a
company established under the laws of the PRC on May 28, 20183;

TFRESRBERARAR  — TR _Z—=FRA-_+/N\BREFBREEKTL
COUNGIlE

the board of Directors;

EFg:

the British Virgin Islands;
RBHERRES

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules;

LR AT SR+ A B R E AT

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and
only for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan. “Chinese” shall be construed
accordingly;

REARHENE - ERXBEFEREREIRSHE - TEESE - PEIRPIF
THERREE o [P E | EIELBRERE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules;
BB FHRAIE T2 ARE

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman lIslands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

REMSEMNE2ERANE (—NAR—FRIFEN - KiFa RIER]) - KBTRE
7] FFTSAEM T B

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

CRBUEB) (BBEDIF622F) - ENRER] ~ FFTIAEMIT B

BabyTree Group (EZ % @), a company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands on February 9, 2018. The term “BabyTree” used by itself shall
have the same meaning unless the context requires otherwise;

EERE I(BabyTree Group) ' " KRR -_ZE—N\EFE-_ANHBHRERSHEAET
MEKZATR - RXESZEFAEI EANEEN | —FAABHERRE ;

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules;

BB ETRARE TZANRE
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“Consolidated Affiliated Entity”

[EHEEE R

“Contractual Arrangements”
[&R%HE]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Dragon Cloud”

[ Dragon Cloud ]

“Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement”
(CBREBKEEWHE))

KBREBEEHZE)

“Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement”
(BEREERRRETEWZE))

[CEREEENRRETE )

“FIL”
[HNEREIED]

“Fosun”

[1E2 ]

“Fosun Health”

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, being Zhongming;
BFPRBENRHEHIMNER - BRI

a series of contractual agreements reached to consolidate our interest in
Zhongming entered into among BabyTree Information, Zhongming and its
Registered Shareholders during Pre-IPO Reorganization;

BEHES FELRHEEERERERARBENEARMITLN/EHRMAR
ISR 2 M ERCH) — R P& K1

the director(s) of the Company;

RABES:

Dragon Cloud Investment LLC, a company incorporated in Delaware and
wholly-owned by Ms. TANG Yu, who is the spouse of Mr. WANG Huainan;
Dragon Cloud Investment LLC - —RERWEMFMAZE A A - BTANG Yu
Z+2EHRAE - MTANG YuRT AT EMEEMNES

an exclusive business cooperation agreement dated May 23, 2018, entered
into by and among BabyTree Information, the Registered Shareholders and

Zhongming;
BENGER  BRBRREARBZEIINBARAR-_T-N\FAA-T=B8KAE
REBEIERZE)

an exclusive option and equity entrustment agreement dated May 23, 2018,
entered into among BabyTree Information, the Registered Shareholders and
Zhongming;

BEGGER  BERBREAZRBZEIINBERAR-_T-N\FAA-T=B8(KAE
XEERLRERERZ)

the Foreign Investment Law (#ZE A R MBI HHEE));
(hEE AR EFBIINEIRE LK) |

Fosun International Limited and its affiliates, including Startree (BVI) Limited;
EEBERERAR MEEE AL © BiEStartree (BVI) Limited :

Shanghai Fosun Health Industrial Holdings Limited (\E/&18 2 f2FEE£1%EA
[R’A7\]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Fosun International;
LB ERREERIERBRAR
BE2EWBAF

—HKRPBEFEMKIZNAT - BEEBEKM
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“Fosun International”

[18 2 B |

“Fosun Pharma”

i
D
o
$

“Global Offering”
[ RIREE]

“Group”

[R&H ]

“Haitun International

[ 75 [l B

“Hong Kong”
[&7E ]

“IFRS”
[ BB B 75 3R 5 £ A1)

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ R ERRAITTH A

Fosun International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00656);

EEEBRAERAR  —RREBTMAZHAF] - EROARBERAER M (&
A HR5% - 006856) :

Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd., a healthcare company
incorporated in the PRC, the shares of which are listed both on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02196), and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600196);

FPEEEBE(RE)RHARAR  —KPOPBEEMAZOBERT - ARHR
B 32 P E AR (BRAD AR : 02196) K E/BREHF X H M (BRFEAH - 600196) £

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares;

BOHBEEARABEENBREE

our Company and all of our subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity or, where the context so requires, in respect of the period before our
Company became the holding company of its present subsidiaries and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries
and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity or their predecessors (as the case may
be);

AR RBEMHFAEMBAR LG HEEE BRI EMERETR IR ARRE
MEARRAHHBERBNERARMNNBENS - BlfsEENE R R RE O
BERNHA ST GBARBAME) KL%

Haitun (Shanghai) International Trading Co., Ltd. (8@ L/E8REE SER A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company;

BE EEBRESERAT  —KPPETMEZHAR  REARRINEEE2E
MEAE :

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
hEARAMBEFBRFRTEHRR ;

International Financial Reporting Standards;
BUBR B 75 S R

April 16, 2020, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and
publication of this annual report;
“E_TFMOA+RAE  BAFERERENR R TIEMNNREERIITES
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“Lingheng Investment”

[EERE

“Listing Rules”
[ Em#R A
“Loan Agreement” (“{f&

[{fE ) |

“Main Board”

[E1R]

“Meitun Mama”

[ 55 4545 |

“National People’s Congress”

[2BARKEARE]

“Ningbo Baoshu”

[ZR B ]

“Ningbo Honghu”

[ 255 5%

%))

Lingheng Investment Holdings (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ZE& &M (IbR) BER
A]), a company established under the laws of the PRC on October 29, 2015;
] &éﬁ% BUUER)BRAT  —RKR-ZZE—AF+ A -+ hBRERBIAEMK
SR A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time;
(BAEBMAERSMARRRRZS ETRAD (BIRETHMR)

a loan agreement dated May 23, 2018, provided by BabyTree Information to
Mr. WANG Huainan in the amount of RMB2,718,5638,767.21;
BEENEEMTERtERESEARK?2,718,538,767.21 THBMA T —N\F
AAZ+=AMERHE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock

Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the Growth

Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange;

EEH?*“Fﬁ ENRFRZM(TRERETS) RFTGEM - {EEE
EE

Meitun Mama (Shanghai) E-commerce Co., Ltd. (@151 ( L&) EFEEA
[R/A7]), a company established under the laws of the PRC on October 11,
2014, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BabyTree Information;
EEEGE (L8 EFABERAR - —KRZE—HFE+A+—BREPEDEE
RYBATF - REBEBEENEZENRBAR

the National People’s Congress of People Republic of China (% A K £ F1E
2ERARRERS);
FEARANMBZ2EARKREARS ;

Ningbo Baoshu Investment and Management LLP (BN BHREEEAB ¥
(BRA%)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on December
16, 2015, our employee shareholding platform;
EREHREEBEEEEX (BRERE)  —XR_E—AF+-_A+ < BETH
AMBOEREERE  REMANEIBKRTS

Ningbo Honghu Investment and Management LLP (iGN EEE A B
(BRA&%)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on December
16, 2015, our employee shareholding platform;
ERRBRETEABRECE (ARAR)  ~ZXR_Z—AFt+t A+ BEH
AMNEREEEER  REMANEIHKRTS
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“Ningbo Yimengweima”
[ERANERSE ]

“Ningbo Zhishan”
[EREE ]

“Nomination Committee”
[fR2&Eg]

“Powers of Attorney”

EEA

“Pre-IPO Reorganization”
[BERAFREEREA]
“Prospectus”

[ B =2

“Registered Shareholder(s)”

[ B REAR

“Remuneration Committee”

[HEZES

Ningbo Yimengweima Enterprise Management Center LLP (2§ A& &K
2E1Eh0 (BRAE)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on
January 5, 2017;
ERASZABELEEEFTL(ARER)  —FR_ZE—tF—AhBEHEEM
WEREGREE

Ningbo Zhishan Zhizhen Investment and Management LLP (B)F == 25%KE
BERAENE (BRAHE)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC
on December 16, 2015, our employee shareholding platform;
EREEERERETEESREE (AREY)  —RRE—RF+=-A+B&E
REEMNEREREE  AERMNEIFBRTS

the nomination committee of the Company;

ARRRERES

an irrevocable powers of attorney dated May 23, 2018 entered into between
each of the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information;

EERBRREBENERIUNEAR - /\FHEA T = HNTARIEE
= .

the corporate reorganization of our Group in preparation for the Listing,
particulars of which are set out in the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus;
AEBREREETMETHNARER  FRFBEHNERERIES  EERA
AR —86

the prospectus of the Company dated November 15, 2018;
ARARBHAZT-N\FE+—-—ATHBENBRER

the shareholders of Zhongming upon completion of the Pre-IPO
Reorganization, being Mr. WANG Huainan, Lingheng Investment, Mr. SHAO
Zhenping (AF&F), Ningbo Zhishan, Beijing Lujin, Mr. WANG Yawei (E3p
&), Ningbo Honghu, Ningbo Baoshu, Ningbo Yimengweima and Mr. WANG
Changying (E&&);

BXAAHESHBEATKNERGORR - BIEEELEE  RERE - #RFx
EBREEZ - IRES  ETRELE  ERRE  EREH  ERUAZRER
ERALLE

the remuneration committee of the Company;

ARRFMEEE :
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“RMB”
AR

“SFO”

&5 RS D]
“Share(s)”

[ Bxtn

“Shareholder(s)”
[ P& ER

“Share Pledge Agreement”

(CBRREE M%)
(B E ) |

“Stardoctor”

“State Council”
[ B75Pr |

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 By

“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

(M AA ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FZ/RER

“TAL”

[4F R

the lawful currency of the PRC;
REDEEEHS

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
(BHERAGEGEO) (FEEPESTIE) @ KIRHER] - MRSARM T DL

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0001 each;
RRARRAHGAREE0.0001 ETHERAR

holder(s) of the Share(s);
AP FER A

a share pledge agreement dated May 23, 2018, entered into among
Zhongming, the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information;

BIE BERRRBEEGHEECETVNBHRA—T—\FRA-T=AKE
B

Shanghai Qinmiao Technology Company Limited (/&S ERBAR AT, a
joint venture company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, shares of
which are held by Haitun International as to 50%, Fosun Pharma as to 10%,
and Fosun Health as to 40%;

FEBERMBRERAF  —KPRPEFMKIHEERF  HRlH/EEERER - 18
EREREEREFAES0%  10% X40% K17

the State Council of People Republic of China (1 # A R 2L F1 Bl H s A RIEA);
hEE AR MBS

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
EBMAERGAERRAR

has the meaning ascribed to it thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance;
BB R EEDIFE 1516 Tz R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
BB AR FZARRE

TAL Education Group, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(ticker symbol: TAL);
HARRAEEE  —RRANBHR G EMHAR (ROHRE : TAL)
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

“U.S.” or “United States”
E3E

“U.S. dollars” or “US$”
=

“Wanbang Cloud Health”

[EHEREE]

“« ” o«

we,” “us” or “our”

[ 243

“Zhongming”

[R5 ]

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction;
EHEERE - HELT KB EZEANAEBENMEHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;

XBAEE®ET

Jiangsu Wanbang Cloud Health Technology Limited ((T#f& FE@EERIE AR
/A7d]), a company incorporated in the PRC and indirectly held as to 74% by
Fosun Pharma;

THBEARERERFRERAT  —XPRFPBEEMKZHAR - BEEEERER
BT4%HER

the Company or the Group, as the context requires;

ARRIHAKE (IMXEMIE)

Beijing Zhongming Century Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (At R RS 4D
R ABR A E]), a company incorporated in the PRC and a subsidiary of the
Company.

ERBREHLERFERAR  —RRPBEEFMHINAR] - BARAFMBAF -
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

Board of Directors
EE®

Executive Directors

BITES

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Independent
non-executive Directors

BYFBITES

Joint Company Secretaries

BEARWE

Authorized Representatives

RERR

Audit Committee

BEREEE

Mr. WANG Huainan
EEEkE

Mr. XU Chong
mMEE

Mr. CHEN Qiyu

R T RE

Mr. WANG Changying

ERAEELE

Mr. WU Ying

RFExE

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN
Christian Franz REITERMANN %t 4

Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PRE R4

Ms. CHEN Danxia
BRAEZ L+

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
BIfERBSEE

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang %t &

Ms. CHEN Hongyou
PR 2T £

Ms. WU Miu Wah
YL

Mr. XU Chong
ERbis

Ms. CHEN Hongyou
BRSLMA 22 +

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman)
PREESRSA (EFE)

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang

ZHANG Hongjiang %t &=

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
AR L
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Definitions and Corporate Information
BEERATER

Remuneration Committee Ms. CHEN Danxia (Chairwoman)
FMESS BRAELZ L (EFF)

Mr. De-chao Michael YU

AR s

Mr. CHEN Guanglei

PREESSTE

Mr. WANG Huainan

TEmEE

Mr. XU Chong

ERbis

Nomination Committee Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
REZEES FTiEALALE (EF)
Mr. De-chao Michael YU
BIfERBSEE
Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang %t 4=

Independent Auditor KPMG
B B Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central
Hong Kong
BN g tREHA
P RS EE R B R 51 ) T EE A R A 25 B BB X BLAm
S
IR
EITHE105%R
AFRE8E

Compliance Adviser Haitong International Capital Limited
EREB 8/F Li Po Chun Chambers

189 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

BEEBRELERAT

E

BB 18958

FEBRKNESE
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

Hong Kong Legal Advisor
BREEER

Registered Office
EMPEE

Corporate Headquarters

NGIE S

Principal Place of Business
in Hong Kong
BETEEEMNE

Miao & Co. (in association with Han Kun Law Offices)
Room 3901-05, 39/F

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

BREMBHH CREREMBHIBE)

i

ERREP155R

EMESARBAE

39#23901-05=F

The Offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Maples Corporate Services Limited 93} =&
P.O.Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

6th Floor, Building A, Borui Plaza

No. 26 North Road of East Third Ring
Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

a2

i)

Gl 1

R=IRILEK265%

HEinKEAREGE

Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
o
SR AER1835

AR L541E
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERARER

Principal Share Registrar
in Cayman Islands

MEHBEROBFETAE

Hong Kong Share Registrar
ERESELE

Principal Bank

FEERET

Company’s Website
NGTE D

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong
EBPREBSBITERLA
E

i3

2RRER183%

B ALy
17181712-17165748

China Merchants Bank, Beijing Guanghua Road Branch
F2 Kerry Shopping Mall

No. 1 Guanghua Road

Beijing

PRC

BERTIE R DT RERIZT

H

PR

TR 57

ZEE52E

ir.babytree.com
ir.babytree.com
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